WAUKESHA COUNTY TECHNICAL COLLEGE

T X & & @

SHAPE THE FUTURE THRIVING ACADEMIC CULTIVATE INCLUSIVE VITAL COLLABORATIVE PREMIER SLEEK, SIMPLE,
OF HIGHER EDUCATION MISSION EXPERIENCES ALLIANCES REGIONAL HUB INTUITIVE

WCTC District Board
Regular Meeting

Tuesday October 14, 2025
Waukesha County Technical College
Richard T. Anderson Education Center (RTA), C051/C057

UPCOMING MEETINGS

Regular Board Meeting Tuesday November 11, 2025 5:00 pm RTA, C051/C057
Regular Board Meeting Tuesday December 9, 2025 5:00 pm RTA, C051/C057
Regular Board Meeting Tuesday January 13, 2025 5:00 pm RTA, C051/C057

The modern comprehensive regional college WAUKESHA F Hands-on
WCTC

) ) ) ) ) COUNTY TECHNICAL ;
that ignites people to thrive in a changing world. COLLEGE ( Higherkd
10365/23



Waukesha County Technical College
District Board Meeting
October 14, 2025 - 5:00 PM
Richard T. Anderson Education Center, C051/057

AGENDA
I Call to Order — Brian Baumgartner
A. Pledge of Allegiance

IL Public/Staff Remarks*

I11. President’s Report — Dr. Richard G. Barnhouse

IV. Approval of Consent Agenda Items

4-6 A. Minutes Dated September 9, 2025 Regular Board Meeting

7-9 B. Accounts Payable Summary September 2025

10-11 C. 38.14 Contract Report for September 2025

12-87 D. Annual Security Report

88-89 E. Resolution of Technical College Annual Board Officials Subject to State Code of Ethics
90-92 F. 2024/25 Vendor Volume Report

93-94 G. Approval of International Travel
V. Action Items

95-113  A. Resolution Awarding the Sale of $4,650,000 General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series

2025C, of Waukesha County Area Technical College District — Kristine Golz

114-115  B. Resolution to Approve 2025/26 Tax Levy — Kristine Golz

116-118  C. Resolution to Modify the 2024/25 Budget — Kristine Golz

119-120 D. Resolution to Modify the 2025/26 Budget — Kristine Golz

121 E. Bid Information and Approval — H Building H220 Virtual Reality Lab project — Rich Haen
VL Presentation/Discussion

A. Early College Opportunities Update — Becky Kurter

VIL Adjournment — Brian Baumgartner

>y e

Dr. Richard G. Barnhouse, President




Board Meeting Rules of Conduct

District Board meetings are to be conducted in accordance with the published agenda. Public remarks are
allowed but must be made during the “public/staff remarks” section of the agenda and are limited to three
(3) minutes per person and fifteen (15) minutes in total. This is not a public hearing. Persons who wish to
address the district Board may make a statement as long as it pertains to a specific current agenda item.
The District Board Chairperson may or may not respond to statements made.

Public/Staff Remarks Procedure:

1. Public Comments must pertain to a current agenda item.

2. Comment request forms must be completed and submitted to the District Board Executive Assistant
prior to the meeting.

3. The Board Chairperson will ask the requesting speaker to come forward to present their comments to
the District Board.

4. Speakers must adhere to the three (3) minute limit per individual.

Total time allotted for all public remarks shall not exceed fifteen (15) minutes.

6. The Board Chairperson reserves the right to stop unprofessional discussion or discussion targeted
toward a specific individual.

N

Unless requested by the Board Chairperson from the audience regarding a specific agenda topic, public
comments or dialogue are not allowed during other portions of the board meeting and/or discussion.
Interruptions or disruptive behavior may result in security being notified. Public comments or
communications may also be directed to the Board through the President’s office in Room C211.

Attention Individuals with Disabilities:

Every reasonable effort will be made for special accommodations for individuals with disabilities for
public board meetings. Please contact the District Board Executive Assistant at 262/691-5211 at least 72
hours prior to the meeting if you require special accommodations.



Waukesha County Technical College
District Board Meeting Minutes
September 9, 2025 - 5:00 PM
Richard T. Anderson Education Center, C051/057

Present:

Courtney Bauer, Board Vice Chairperson
Ryan Clark, Secretary/Treasurer
Amanda Busche, Board Member
Michael Cady, Board Member

Barb Dittrich, Board Member

Jamie Stahulak, Board Member

Absent:

Brian Baumgartner, Chairperson
Rob Ewing, Board Member
Stephanie Reisner, Board Member

Also Present:
Richard Barnhouse
Jennifer Hagen 27 guests

REGULAR MEETING

I. Call to Order — Courtney Bauer 5:00 pm
II. Public/Staff Remarks*
A. None
II1. Delegates to be Heard
A. Student Leadership Council — Cyril Sablich
e Cyril is the new Student Leadership Council President. He is a Marketing
program student. He was treasurer of the Student Government Association
(SGA) last year.
e SGA has rebranded itself to become the Student Leadership Council to focus
on leadership rather than government.
e Each School at the college has a student representative in SLC this year.
e The next big event SLC is hosting is the Taco ‘Bout Cars car show on Friday
September 19.
IV. President’s Report — Dr. Richard G. Barnhouse

A. Dr. Barnhouse welcomed everyone to the September WCTC District Board meeting.

B. Dr. Barnhouse shared that WCTC was invited to join the Northwestern Mutual Data
Science Institute. This group leads efforts to drive data science, robotics, and artificial
intelligence in our region.

C. Later in this meeting, Rich Haen will discuss the infrastructure projects on campus. The
goal is to set up the institution for the decades to come with updated and efficient
infrastructure.

D. The Applied Al lab started a podcast on campus. Dr. Barnhouse was the first guest. This
is another way to get the word out about what we are doing in Al



E. Dr. Barnhouse met with Herzing University recently. They are looking to partner with
WCTC.
F. Paul Davis Restoration supports a foundation each year with their annual golf outing.
This year, they supported WCTC Foundation with a gift of $52,000.
G. Dr. Barnhouse is heading to Eau Claire for the WTCS Board Meeting and President’s
Association meeting at Chippewa Valley Technical College this week.
H. Dr. Barnhouse and executives met with UW-Green Bay today to discuss how to partner in
areas like artificial intelligence and dual enrollment.
I. Dr. Barnhouse reports the college has had a great start to the fall semester.
V. Approval of Consent Agenda Items
Minutes dated August 12, 2025
Accounts Payable Summary August 2025
38.14 Contract Report August 2025
Approval to Hire Report
Approval of International Travel
Board Policies Review: Policy 1.5, Policy 1.6, Policy 1.6A, Policy 1.7

TEEORP

Mr. Clark motioned to approve the Consent Agenda Items, receiving a second from Mr. Stahulak.
Approved, carried unanimously.

VI. Action Items
A. Resolution Authorizing the Issuance of $4,650,000 General Obligation Promissory Notes,
Series 2025C, of Waukesha County Area Technical College District, Wisconsin, and
Setting the Sale of the Notes — Kristine Golz
e Ms. Golz reported this is the first of 3 planned issuances.
e  This will fund building improvements including the nursing virtual reality lab,
general site improvements, and equipment throughout the college.

Mr. Stahulak motioned to approve the issuance of $4.650,000 General Obligation Promissory
Notes, receiving a second from Mr. Clark. Approved, carried unanimously.

B. Construction Bid Information and Approval - WCTC S Building — AJN Conference
Center Exterior Improvements Project

e Mr. Haen discussed this minor renovation for replacement of deteriorated
concrete sidewalks, removal of existing steel portico, and creation of
designated drop-off lane.

e The objective is to create a more welcoming and functional environment where
students, visitors, and staff can gather and socialize before and after events in
the AJN.

Ms. Busche motioned to award the S Building Exterior Renovation project to Bear
Construction, receiving a second from Mr. Clark. Approved, carried unanimously.

C. Bid Information and Approval — Painting Services Contract — Rich Haen
e The college recently issued a request for proposals for interior and exterior
painting services for 830,000 gross square feet.
e The scope of this work includes paining metal window and door frames,
refinishing wooden doors, and drywall repair and replacement.



e Service contracts like this are typically awarded for a period of 5 years with
two optional 1-year extensions.

Dr. Clark motioned to approve awarding a service contract to Independence Painting
LLC, receiving a second from Ms. Busche. Approved, carried unanimously

Presentation/Discussion

A. Infrastructure Project and Status Updates — Rich Haen

e Mr. Haen presented on the nature and status of the Infrastructure Project.

e Mr. Haen reviewed the 2.5 miles of piping for cooling and heating for each of
the buildings on the Pewaukee campus. Since 2014 there have been multiple
breaks in the pipes.

e The objective was to create a standalone heating and cooling system with
redundancy to avoid shutting down a building.

e [t was decided to install high efficiency chillers and boilers for each building.
These can adjust to meet the demand to meet the load for what is needed in
each building.

e Expected estimate of $90,000 - $100,000 savings per year on energy use.

e By November 2025, building A, B, G, Q, W, L and C building atrium will have
standalone heating and chillers.

e Next steps are to do S and H with equipment in S. After that, will begin on [, K,
E, and C with substantial completion by November 2027.

e Mr. Haen discussed the loop distribution system for electrical to create
redundancy in electrical services.

e Mr. Haen shared the status of the replacement rooftop units at the Waukesha
Campus.

Mr. Ryan Clark motioned to convene into Closed Session pursuant to Section

§19.85(1) (g) Wisconsin State Statute at 5:46 pm:

VII.
VIII.
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.
F.

Ms. Busche seconded the motion

Unanimous roll call vote

Discussion was held to Confer With Legal Counsel Who is Rendering Legal Advice
Regarding Strategy to be Adopted by WCTC With Respect to Litigation in Which it is or
is Likely to Become Involved.

Mr. Clark motioned to reconvene in open session, receiving a second from Ms. Busche.
Unanimous roll call vote

The open meeting reconvened at 6:12 pm.

IX. Adjournment — Courtney Bauer

A. Ms. Dittrich motioned to adjourn the meeting, receiving a second from Mr. Stahulak.
Meeting adjourned at 6:13 pm.
Respectfully Submitted by Signed:

Jennifer Hagen

Ryan Clark, Board Secretary/Treasurer

Sr. Executive Assistant to the Board



Check Register Report
Accounts Payable account code "WA". Dated 9/30/25 Database instance PROD-Native

[ Number | Date | Payee Amount
C0804168 9/4/2025 Trane Company $ 432,235.90
C0804167 9/4/2025 Trane Company $ 403,630.11
10041564 9/23/2025 Bear Construction Company $ 309,143.69
C0804174 9/4/2025 Wil-Surge Electric $ 249,456.73
10041507 9/16/2025 Instructure $ 234,187.42
C0804169 9/4/2025 Trane Company $ 131,242.28
C0804155 9/4/2025 Lee Recreation $ 79,943.00
C0804269 9/11/2025 WE Energies $ 74,052.74
C0804749 9/23/2025 Virage Simulation Inc $ 65,000.00
C0804166 9/4/2025 Trane Company $ 64,355.36
C0804253 9/11/2025 ABM Industries Inc $ 61,437.02
C0804224 9/9/2025 Zimmerman Design Group $ 59,393.80
10041440 9/9/2025 Macco's Commercial Interiors Inc $ 52,381.00
C0804257 9/11/2025 CS4 Flooring $ 45,152.00
10041629 9/30/2025 Quarles & Brady LLP $ 41,065.00
10041461 9/11/2025 Dedicated Computing $ 37,560.00
10041463 9/11/2025 Ellucian Company LLC $ 36,052.00
10041442 9/9/2025 Paragon Development Systems (PDS) $ 28,574.10
C0804296 9/16/2025 Pivot Point International Inc $ 27,677.39
10041389 9/4/2025 Absolute Construction Enterprises Inc $ 27,253.19
C0804818 9/25/2025 Village of Pewaukee $ 25,281.68
10041572 9/23/2025 Symetra Life Insurance Company $ 24,992.08
10041419 9/4/2025 Symetra Life Insurance Company $ 24,301.51
10041526 9/18/2025 Blackhawk Technical College $ 21,181.00
C0804137 9/4/2025 Arch Virtual LLC $ 20,000.00
10041416 9/4/2025 Quarles & Brady LLP $ 19,651.00
C0804147 9/4/2025 ExamSoft Worldwide Inc $ 19,517.70
10041443 9/9/2025 Simons Electrical Systems $ 17,464.89
C0804354 9/18/2025 Cengage Learning $ 15,473.65
10041591 9/25/2025 PFM Asset Management LLC $ 15,348.08
10041566 9/23/2025 Dell Marketing L P $ 14,809.84
C0804352 9/18/2025 Bumper to Bumper $ 13,499.98
10041620 9/30/2025 Conference Technologies Inc $ 12,232.00
C0804144 9/4/2025 Circa $ 11,482.58
C0804759 9/23/2025 Zimmerman Design Group $ 11,192.50
C0804813 9/25/2025 Pearson Education $ 11,065.29
10041391 9/4/2025 Aladdin Food Management Services LLC $ 10,415.85
10041392 9/4/2025 Alertus Technologies $ 9,620.00
10041530 9/18/2025 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP (CLA) $ 9,611.70
10041394 9/4/2025 American Technical Publishers Inc $ 9,600.00
10041438 9/9/2025 Imperial Dade $ 9,318.65
10041538 9/18/2025 Madison National Life Insurance Co $ 9,277.29
C0804213 9/9/2025 TWM Corporation $ 8,905.78
10041570 9/23/2025 Multimedia Communications and Engineering Inc $ 8,797.50
10041622 9/30/2025 Design Build Fire Protection of Wisconsin Inc $ 8,650.00
C0804145 9/4/2025 Cordance Operations LLC $ 8,500.00
C0804164 9/4/2025 Sunbelt Rentals Inc $ 8,394.46
C0804256 9/11/2025 Bumper to Bumper $ 8,195.00
10041402 9/4/2025 Duet Resource Group $ 7,854.00




Check Register Report

Accounts Payable account code "WA". Dated 9/30/25 Database instance PROD-Native

[ Number | Date | Payee Amount
C0804254 9/11/2025 Avant Graphics $ 7,680.00
10041544 9/18/2025 Pixelbox Visual Design LTD $ 7,375.00
10041533 9/18/2025 Gannett Wisconsin LocaliQ $ 7,261.28
C0804272 9/11/2025 WE Energies $ 6,389.94
10041397 9/4/2025 CDW-G Computer Discount Warehouse $ 6,270.78
C0804140 9/4/2025 Bakemark-Milwaukee $ 6,228.02
C0804809 9/25/2025 TWM Corporation $ 6,166.03
C0804214 9/9/2025 Jefferson Fire & Safety Inc $ 6,097.11
10041504 9/16/2025 Field Training Solutions $ 6,000.00
10041400 9/4/2025 ConvergeOne Inc $ 5,995.00
C0804814 9/25/2025 Qualtrics LLC $ 5,788.13
C0804274 9/11/2025 D & H Distributing $ 5,436.95
10041413 9/4/2025 Mueller Communications LLC $ 5,375.00
10041537 9/18/2025 Macco's Commercial Interiors Inc $ 5,196.00
C0804366 9/18/2025 Pivot Point International Inc $ 5,122.66
10041409 9/4/2025 Kessenichs Ltd $ 5,089.85
C0804275 9/11/2025 Greater Milwaukee Committee $ 5,000.00

66]Payments TOTAL: [ $ 2,956,898.49




ACCOUNTS PAYABLE SUMMARY
September 2025

To the Secretary/Treasurer of the Waukesha County Area
Technical College District Board:

The Vice President of Finance and Administration submits for approval the
attached claims for payment, which include payroll deductions, of $2,956,898.49.

The Waukesha County Area Technical College
District Board and President have examined these claims
and approve their payment this 14" day of October, 2025

Chair

Secretary/Treasurer

President



WCTC CORPORATE TRAINING CENTER CONTRACT APPROVAL REPORT - SEPTEMBER, 2025

Contract Total Total Variance
# Start Date Customer Service Description Participants Revenue Direct Cost Variance (1) Full Cost (2)
Instructional Contracts
9153  9/3/2025 RBP Chemical Al for Productivity 979 240 739 304 675
9151 7/10/2025 Castalloy Corporation Foundational
Leadership 6,236 2,262 3,974 2,789 3,447
9166 8/19/2025 Eaton Corporation Blueprint & Press
Brake Training 2,970 1,192 1,778 1,596 1,374
9179 9/17/2025 D&H Industries GD&T 18 2,720 2,586 134 2,620 100
Technical Assistance Contracts (Non-instructional activities provided to a company, no enrollment #s are available)
9110 7/15/2025 Prolec - GE Waukesha Bootcamp N/A 28,883 10,538 18,345 13,974 14,909
CONTRACT TOTALS: 41,788 16,818 24,970 21,283 20,505
Definitions

Total Revenue: Contract Amount (Selling price based on Board's pricing structure) + any
related revenue from grants

Direct Cost: Salary and Benefits plus all Direct Expenses

Full Cost calculation: [Salary & Benefits + (Salary & Benefits x the appropriate State Indirect
Cost Factor)]

Variance: (1) The difference between Total Revenue and Direct Cost

Variance: (2) The difference between Total Revenue and Full Cost

10



WCTC CORPORATE TRAINING CENTER QUARTERLY OPEN ENROLLMENT WORKSHOP REPORT
JULY-SEPTEMBER 2025

Total # of
Total # of Workshops Participants Revenue Direct Cost Full Cost

Corporate Training Center Workshops

3 25 5,085 1,811 1,966

Criminal Justice Workshops

12 382 75,818 59,798 79,301

American Heart Association Workshops

14 100 8,042 4,437 5,157

School of Health Workshops

2 31 1,705 1,137 568

Total Q1 Revenue for all Workshops: $90,650

11



EEnm
T (.

) {7
| .
i
. |
=
i

College Safety and Security Resource Guide

2025 Annual Security Report

(for the 2024 calendar year & containing crime statistics for 2024, 2023 and 2022)

Student Standards of Conduct
Stop Campus Hazing Act
Drug Free Schools and Communities Act
Campus Security and Crime Awareness
Sexual Assault, Sexual Harassment, and Stalking
Crime Statistics

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)

www.wctc.edu

Equal Opportunity Affirmative Action Employer/Educator For WCTC information. 262.691.5566

12



This documentis compiled on an annual basis and contains all the 20 U.S.C. Sec. 1092(F)
Clery Act reporting requirements and the Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) 20 U.S.C. Sec.
1232(g) notification.

To: Waukesha County Technical College Students and Employees
This information is brought to you as part of Waukesha County Technical College’s commitment to safety
and security.

WCTC is a two-year district and state-supported institution of higher education. The College provides
services from the Main Campus located in Pewaukee, Wisconsin, and the Waukesha Campus located in
Waukesha, Wisconsin.

The Stop Campus Hazing Act went into effect on January 1, 2025, is a federal law that requires colleges
and universities that receive federal funding to increase transparency and prevention efforts for hazing
incidents. It mandates public disclosure of hazing incidents in Annual Security Reports, the publication of
a hazing transparency report, and the implementation of campus-wide, research-informed hazing
prevention training programs.

Under the Drug Free Schools and Communities Act of 1989, we are required to publish and distribute
information that the College has adopted and implemented a drug-prevention program for all students
and employees, which includes:

1. Standards of conduct that clearly prohibit, at a minimum, unlawful possession, use, or distribution
of illicit drugs and alcohol by students and employees on its property or as part of any of its
activities.

2. A description of the applicable legal sanctions under local, state or federal law for the unlawful

possession or distribution of illicit drugs and alcohol.

A description of health risks associated with the use of alcohol and other drugs.

4. A description of any drug or alcohol counseling, treatment or rehabilitation programs that is
available to students or employees.

5. Aclearstatementthatthe institution willimpose disciplinary sanctions on students and employees
(consistent with local, state, and federal law) and a description of those sanctions, up to and
including expulsion or termination of employment and referral for prosecution, for violations of the
standards of conduct.

w

Waukesha County Technical College is engaged in a continuing educational effort to raise awareness of
students, staff, and the community to the problems associated with alcohol and other drug
abuse/dependency. We all have a shared responsibility to comply with the Drug Free Schools and
Communities Act. Your cooperation will be greatly appreciated.

Sincerely,
Sherry Simmons Pete Latona

Manager, Employee Compliance Director, Campus Security & Risk

13



Table of Contents

STUDENT STANDARDS OF CONDUGCT ...citiitiitiiiieieeieteeeteteteteteteneeneenstnseetnseseasessnssnssnsensenennses 6
Behavioral MiSCONAUCT.....ieiiiii et e ettt et et et et e e e e et eaeaeasaeaesasassnenenanenenannnns 6
Behavioral Reporting-Campus Assessment, Response, & Education Team........cocvveviiiiiiiiinininininnnnns 7

Sanctions for Behavioral MiSCONAUCT ......cuiiiiiiiii et e e e e e e e e aaans 7
Academic Ethics Code Of CoONAUCT. . ..i it e e e e e et e e e e a e e eaeaeaeresesnsnsnenens 9
Guidelines for ACademIiC EtNiCS .o e e e e e e e e e e e e aaaaas 9
AcademicC EthiCS MiSCONAUCT ... et e et e et e e s e e e e st eaeaeaaaaaasasnnn 9
Sanctions for Academic EThics VIiolatioNs ... e e e e e 10
COllEEE LBV L PrOCESS .ttt ettt ettt ettt et te s e e s s et eaeseaeaeaesasassnenenenanenaens 10
Appeal Process for Academic Ethics Violations ....cv i 10
18] o] g alhudTaT=ir= a1 AV o] o 1=T- | AT 11

Y o] o1=T= 1 BT of 11 Lo o H PP PP 11
Complaint and Grievance Procedure for Waukesha County Technical College Students.................. 11
Complaint and GrievanCe ProCeaUIE StEPS ..t e e e e s ene e e aaaaaans 12
Wisconsin Technical College System (WTCS) Complaint ProCeSS ...cuveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieieeeeeeeeenen, 12
STOP CAMPUS HAZING ACT .. ettt ettt et et et et ettt e e et et s e et saneaeeneeanenensensensensanns 13
D=1 {1 TR ] o < IR OPP PP PP PR PRPPPPPR 13
[ F= 74 | o = S PP PP PR PPN 13
S0 Le =Y i A @] ¢=F-1 o 1741 1] o] o ISP 13
Hazing Prevention & AWarEnNesS PrOSIamS c..u.i it iieie e eieie et ee e et reeeneaeensaeanenetasnsaesnenernsanes 14
(o [0V VR (ol aT=T o Lol g il o F=V4 | - PPN 14
Process Used to Investigate Hazing RePOrtS . .c. i iiiiiiiiiiieei i rreree et teeenenenensnsnsasaneanannns 15
INTTIALREVIBW ..ttt e e ettt et e e e e et s e eaeeaeenenenensenennnes 15
INEEIIM ACTION ettt et et et et e e et ea et e e e e et saaeaeeneaanaenaeneenennnes 16
[NV T a T =21 o] o PO TP 16
Sanctions & REMEAIal MEASUIES. . ...ttt et et e e e e e e e e e e eanes 17
Information Regarding Applicable Local, State, and Local Laws on Hazing .........c.cceevevviviiiinininnennnne. 17
Campus Hazing TransparE€nCy RE PO ... u. ittt ee et ee e ee e e eae e saeeenaeaensaeneaernsnsanenns 17
DRUG FREE SCHOOLS AND COMMUNITY ACT ..eniiiiiiiie ettt ettt ettt st et et eaeen e e ensanseneens 17
P\ CoTo] aTo] R=Ta o I B (UT= o1 N o] 1= TR 17
Summary of the Health Effects of Drugs and ALCONOL .......cininiiiniiii e 18
7Y LoZo] o o ] B PP 19
D] (U= PP 19
Federal and State of Wisconsin Legal SanClioNS .....ouviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e e e e e e as 20
Yo [T = | PP 20

A S ToTo] 1 111 o T PP 20
YT Yo U] o1 F PP 20
(0] o EI 015 o] o 11 T PP PPNt 20
(01 B 0F-1 210 o U 1= J PPNt 21

[ (1Y A (o T = =] o T PP 22
A T a YT T ] =1 o - PP PP 22
Lol e T N 0= o W = 1= 11 o I PP 23
CAMPUS SECURITY AND CRIME AWARENESS ... ouiiiiiiiieie ettt et s e e e e e e eeee e eanes 23
(OF= a0 o ISR T Toa U L g 4 A NS L a 0] 41 4= 23
Campus Law Enforcement and SECUITY SEIVICES ..uuuiuiniiiiiiiiiiieieteeeeeii e eeeeeeeseseeneeeneneanans 23

14



Security and Access to Campus FaCIlities .o aas 24

Security Considerations Used in the Maintenance of Campus Facilities......ccccovvvviiiiiiiiiiiinininnnnans 24
Crime and Emergency RepOrting ProCEAUIES ... ..ttt et e e e e e e e e e e e eaaaans 25
RESPONSE 10 @ REP O . ittt ettt ettt e ettt et e e e e e e s s s enenenenananeaanatatesasasnsnsnees 25
Voluntary Confidential REPOIING ..u. i ettt e e e e e e e e aete e e sesnsnenens 26
e (0 =TT o] o= | M 0o T U] g F-1=] (o] £ PP 26
DT A @ ¢ 11 (=1 o T = PP 26
B LC LA A A L= L € g VL= PR 26
Notification of an Immediate Threat.. ... et e e s s rasas et tenanananens 27
CriSiS MaANAGEM ENT TaAM . ittt ettt ee et ae et e e et satueae s euaaaanasntnsaarnsnernsnsaesnenernsnsnnenns 29
EMeErgencCy RESPONSE GUIE. .. cuiuiiiiiiiiie et ee e r e e et e eas e e et ensa s enernensaaanennnns 30
Emergency EVaCUation PrOCEAUIES ...c.iuiiiiiiiieee e e e et te ettt e ensasasasnenesessnsnsnsnsnsnsanans 30
General Evacuation ProCEAUIES ....c.iie ittt et e et e e e e et e s e e eae s ensananeaassnaananns 31
Shelter-in-Place Procedures-What it means to “Shelter-in-Place” .......coeoviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiee e 31
BasicC “Shelter-in-PlaCce” GUIAANCE .. ...iuiiiieiiiie e et e et eae e eas e e et ensaeanenarnsnsaaenennens 31
How You Will KNOW 10 “Shelter-iN-PLaCe” .......cciuiiiiiiiii it e ettt ee et e s e eaate e s e e eanens 31
HOW 10 “Sheller-iN-PlaCe” .......cu ittt ettt e r et e et s e e e st e saeaneaatnensaaanannnns 31
Emergency Medical RESPONSE PrOCEAUIES .....iuiuiiiiiee it ee et ee e ee e ee it e s e e et e saaanennens 32
Fire Safety Report and Missing Student Notification Procedures ........ccoiuviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiine e, 33
Crime Prevention and SECUITY ProCEAUIES. ...ttt te e e eeee s s e e eeneneaans 33
SEXUAL ASSAULT AND HARASSMENT ..cu ittt ee et ee et et eae e eaeae e ea e sae s eaatsnsasnenesnsnssnenns 34
Policies and Procedures Related to Dating Violence, Domestic Violence, Sexual Assault, and
] 5= 1 1 V= PP 34
D EfiNITIONS-V AV A ot ettt ettt e et et et e et e et ensaaasatesnaansnsansnsaasnsnsrnsnsansnennens 34
DefinitionNs-State Of WIiSCONSIN ....iniiii it e e et et e et e s e e ea e saaanenarensasnennens 35
Definition-Waukesha County TEChNICAl COWEEE ....uvniniiniiiii i e ens 37
HOW 10 BE AN ACTIVE By STaNO el ..ttt e et ee e e e s e e e e eaeaesesasasasnsnsnanens 38
{11 1 2 1T [ o1 4 o] o TS PP 38
Programs to Prevent Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking .................. 39
Primary Prevention and AWareness PrOgramiS i i iiiiieiererereeeeeetnenenenenensasesesesrarorssssssnsnses 40
Ongoing Prevention and AWwareness CampPaiSns c.oueuiueeeiiieiieeiiieieeireeeieteteaeeeeeteesaesnenerasennenns 41
Procedures Reporting Party(s) Should Follow if a Crime of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual
AXET-10] L= TaTe BS) = 1] o T = @ Tt o] U] o SO PSPPI 42
Reporting Incidents of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking................ 44
Involvement of Law Enforcement and Campus AUthOrTieS ....i.ivieviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiceeeeeeeeeeeeee e, 45
(01 1 0F-T 0] o JU L 2{=T o To] ¢ 11 o V=Pt 45
(O] o B @810 o o 1N T a1=] 1] a4 [ V= ST PPRE 45
Procedures the College Will Follow When a Crime of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual
Assault, and Stalking 1S REPOITEd. . ..uu i e e et e et e e e e e aeaeterasasassnanens 46
Assistance for Reporting Party(s): Rights and Options ....ccceiiiiiiiiiiiiccccrr e 48
Restraining Orders/Orders Of ProteCHION ..ot e e e e e te e e s e eeaens 48

Rights of Reporting Party(s) and the Institution’s Responsibilities for Orders of Protection, “No
Contact” Orders, Restraining Orders, or Similar Lawful Orders Issued by a Criminal, Civil, or Tribal

07e]U] g doT gl o) VA g L= L 1=1 41 (U L o] o PSPt 48
Accommodations and Protective Measures Available for Reporting Party(s) ....ccooovvviiiiiiininininenan.n. 49
On and Off Campus Services for Reporting Party(S) coueueieiiiiiiiiiiiiiin e ee e 50
1070] o1 Lo [=Y s L =1 UL 4 V2 PP PRSP 51
Adjudication Of Violations ... ettt et e te e e e e e e e e e e aaaaaaaan 51



Investigation Process for Dating Violence, Domestic Violence, Sexual Assault, & Stalking................ 52

O 1= VT PPNt 53
GV D L= T4 o] o F- PP 53
Reporting Actual or Suspected Sex Discrimination or Sexual Harassment Informal Reporting....... 55
Discussion and Implementation of SUPPOIIVE MEASUIES c...iuiviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiier e e e e 55
o g an =10 2 T=T oTo] ¢ 1 o V= PP 56
Formal Grievance Process: Preliminary INQUITY ..o eeeeee e e e e e e 57
(DT E] 1 111 | PP 57
B gt o Lol €= 1 VA0 £y 0 1= o 111 o I 57
EMErgenCY REMOVAL ..uuiiiiieiiiiiiii e e ettt et e s e rasaeae et tenenensnsnsnsasasasnsrsrsnsnsnenens 58
Further Pursuance of the Grievance Process and NOtICE .....cevviuiiiiiniiiiiiiiiiiiiiic e 58
JAXe VYo ] £ T PSPPI 58
INFOrMAal RESOLULION ...t ettt et e e et e e e e enen e eneeneaneennes 59
Formal Grievance Process: INVESTIZAtioN .....ci. it e et e e e e e e e e e e ens 60
Withdrawal or Resignation While Charges PENding ......c.ciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e ee 61
0 Lo (=] 0| € S PP OTP P PPPPPP PPN 61
=] g 0] o] (o ) V= T=T S PPN 61
Formal Grievance ProCess: LIVE HEAING ..c.iuininiiiii et e et e e e e e e e e eas 61
(7o) aTe [UTo1 Ao} il o 1=T- 1 1] oV = S PP PSPPI 62
Additional Rights and Authority of the DecisSion Maker(s) ...ccovueeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e, 62
Formal Grievance Process: Determination Regarding Responsibility......ccccveviviiiiiiniiiiininininnnn.n. 63
S F L1 {01 1< SO PP PT PR PRPPPPPPRPRR 63
Examples of StUAENT SANCHIONS. .. it e e e e aete e e e e e enens 64
Examples of EMpPLlOyEe SAnCLIONS ..ottt e ettt e e e e e e e tete s e e e enenens 64
Formal GrievanCe ProCesS: APPEALS ..uiuiuiiiiiiiiie ettt r e e ee e te e e e e e e eaeaaaetesesesnsnsnsnens 65
LY = | L= L o] I PP 66
T T o7 0] {o < PP 66
LYY 11T o] o [P PTPR 66
Preparation of the Annual Disclosure of Crime StatiStiCS...ccviviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicr e, 67
T O (=] ale LY gl 2 U=y ={ ] d = L (o] o TP PPNt 67
HIGHER EDUCATION OPPORTUNITY ACT (HEOA) NOTIFICATION TO VICTIMS OF CRIMES OF VIOLENCE
...................................................................................................................................................... 67
SEPARATE CAMPUSES. ... ettt et et et ettt et ea et au e e et eeneaasansaneanannsnesnsensanennnes 68
Crime Statistics-WCTC Main Campus (PEWAUKEE)......c.iuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccc e aas 69
Criminal Offenses Reporting Table .o.ouiuiniiiiii e e et e e e e e e eaeaaans 69
VAWA Offenses RePOrtinNg Table ... ettt e e e e e e aeaeae s e e e enens 69
Arrests & Disciplinary Referrals Reporting Table .....veeuieiiiiiiiiii e e 70
[ 1O O] 10 a 1= S TP P PP PP PPN 70
UNfoUNAEd STatiSTiCS ceuiniiiiiii ettt et et et e e e e e e e e e e e eneens 70
Crime StatisticS-WCTC WaUKESNa CamPUS ...uuiiiiiiiiiieieeeeieteteeeteeeeeeeeaeteteseseserasasasnsnenensneanens 71
Criminal Offenses RePOorting Table ..o et e e e e e e e e e eaa e 71
VAWA Offenses RepPOrting Table ....uin ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e aanens 71
Arrests & Disciplinary Referrals Reporting Table .....oueiuieiiiiiiiii e e 72
[ 1O O 10 d 1= S PSP PP PP PR PPRIN 72
UNfoUNAEd STatiSTiCS ceuiniiiiiii ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e e seneees 72
WiscoNSIin SEXUAl ASSAULE Data......cuiuiiiiiiiiiiii ettt et et et eee e e ene e e e eensanes 72
PRIVACY OF RECORDS — RELEASE OF WRITTEN INFORMATION ... .uttuiiiiiiiiiieieeeiei e e 73
[\ [o] 11 1 e2=1 (o] o IO PP PP PP 73



StUdent Rights UNAEr FERP A ... oottt e ettt e e e e e e e et et s e e e eaeaesesesasnenenenananaens 73

EXCEPLIONS UNAEI FERP A ...ttt ettt ettt e et e e e s st e enenenenaaananataresasasnsnsnees 73
D] =Yoxdo] o YA 19} (o] g aF=14L0] o VPP 73
L0 ST\ 1] = o VPP 74
Authorized Federal, State, and LoCal AUThOITiES. ..o eaes 74
Other EAUCational INStitULIONS ..o e ettt e s aete s e s e et e e anaaaans 74
o e [T oY [V A L F= L 4 o] o F- PP 74
Legitimate EAUCatioNal INtere St ... i e et e e e e aete e e e e e enens 74
B8 Lo ITeT =1 @ o =1 SO PO PPN 75
GiEVANCE HEBAINE e ittt ettt et e e et e e e et ensaeaneatnsassnsnsansnsaasnsnsrnsnseasnsensnsenes 75
(DTl 1 o] g = o YA o [=T- 1 1 o T S PP PR 75
UL S, PatriOl ACT. ettt et et et e et et e et et e e et e b e e ea e e e e e eans 75
WIHITEEN RELEASE. .. ettt et ettt ettt et e e et s e e e eaeneneeneneanennnes 75

17



STUDENT STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

Waukesha County Technical College (WCTC), as acommunity dedicated to learning, personal growth, and
the advancement of knowledge, expects and requires the behavior of all WCTC students to be compatible
with its standards of scholarship and conduct. Acceptance of admission to WCTC carries with it an
obligation for the welfare of its community. All individuals and/or groups of the WCTC community are
expected to speak and act with respect for the human dignity of others, both in and outside the classroom
and during social, recreational, and academic activities. WCTC encourages the free exchange of ideas and
opinions but expects that the free expression of views will be made with respect for the human dignity and
freedom of others. WCTC expects the highest standards of conduct for its students. While many standards
of conduct parallel the laws of society in general, WCTC standards may be more stringent and set higher
than the expectations of the law.

The Student Code of Conduct sets forth the conduct standards expected of all WCTC students.
WCTC is an institution of higher education dedicated to preparing students to meet regional
employment demands. The WCTC Code of Conduct is guided by the College values of Integrity,
Community, Social Justice, Respect, and Responsibility. The purpose of this Code is to encourage
and promote a positive and inclusive learning environment. The Student Code of Conduct lists
procedures to respond to behaviors that violate the Code of Conduct, and it provides for sanctions that
are intended to educate and safeguard members of the College community.

Students at WCTC are responsible for knowing the information, policies, and procedures outlined in the
Student Code of Conduct and acknowledge the right of WCTC to take action when a violation of the
Student Code of Conduct occurs. The College applies the preponderance of evidence (information
showing that it is more likely than not that a policy violation occurred) standard in determining if a violation
has occurred and provides consequential action/sanctions up to, and including, behavioral warning,
probation, suspension, expulsion, or withdrawal. WCTC reserves the right to make changes to this Code
as necessary, and once those changes are posted online, they are immediately in effect. Students are
encouraged to check online on the WCTC website for the updated versions of all policies and procedures.
By accepting admission to WCTC, a student accepts responsibility to adhere to the Code of Conduct and
acknowledges the right of WCTC to take conduct action, up to and including suspension or expulsion.

The full Student Code of Conduct can be found on the College Website and on the College Portal.

Behavioral Misconduct
In order to maintain high standards of instruction and to permit all who attend WCTC to obtain the most
from their educational experience, students will:

a) conduct themselves in a manner as to comply with all civil and criminal laws and College policies
and regulations while on WCTC properties or off-site school-sponsored events including but not
limited to clinicals, class and club field trips etc.;

b) notinterfere with the educational process of the College in any manner; and

c) conductthemselves both on-campus and off-site in a manner that does not endanger the safety or
well-being of other students, staff or faculty.

The student conduct process at WCTC is not intended to punish students; rather, it exists to protect the
interests of the community and to challenge those whose behavior is not in accordance with our policies.
Sanctions are intended to challenge students’ moral and ethical decision-making and to help them bring
their behaviorinto accord with WCTC community expectations. When a student is unable to conform their

18


https://www.wctc.edu/Files/_site-pdfs/student-code-of-conduct.pdf

behaviorto community expectations, the student conduct process may determine that the student should
no longer share in the privilege of participating in this community.

Students should be aware that the student conduct process is quite different from criminal and civil court
proceedings. Procedures and rights in student conduct procedures are conducted with fairness to all, but
do notinclude the same protections of due process afforded by the courts. Due process, as defined within
these procedures, assures written notice and a hearing before an objective decision-maker. No student will
be found in violation of WCTC policy without information showing that it is more likely than not that a policy
violation occurred, and any sanctions will be proportionate to the severity of the violation and to the cumulative
conduct history of the student.

The student conduct process may occur simultaneously, prior to, or following any criminal, employment,
or other proceeding. A student charged with violating the Code of Conduct may not avoid the conduct
process by withdrawing from the College. Student conduct proceedings may continue without the
student’s participation, and a student may not be permitted to acquire records or make registration
changes until the matter is resolved. A student may be sanctioned regardless of enrollment status. The
student will be notified through their WCTC email account or via certified letter.

If students have any questions about this Code, please contact Student Life at 262.691.5302.

Behavioral Reporting-Campus Assessment, Response, & Education Team

The Campus Assessment, Response & Education (CARE) Team is concerned with the care, welfare, safety,
and security of all College students, faculty, and staff, and is committed to providing an environment
where individuals are free to work, learn, and teach, unencumbered and uninhibited by threats of
intimidation and harm. The Dean of Students chairs the CARE Team.

The CARE Team receives all reports of behavioral concerns. The CARE Team provides a collaborative,
cross-functional approach to assessing and responding to individuals who might pose a threat to
themselves or others. Any behaviors of concern such as individuals who are making inappropriate
comments or threats, or exhibiting disruptive behavior should be reported. To submit a report, use the
following link: Student Conduct Violation Report.

Members of the Campus Assessment, Response, & Education (CARE) Team are:
e Director of Campus Security & Risk
o Assistant Director of Student Life
e Student Support Coordinator
e Manager, Employee Compliance
e Director of Student Accessibility
e Director of Mental Health Counseling Services
e Academic Liaison

Sanctions for Behavioral Misconduct:

One or more of the following sanctions may be imposed upon any student for any single violation of the
Student Code of Conduct. Any sanction imposed under the conduct violations will be in effect at all
campuses/sites or functions sponsored by or under the supervision of WCTC. Sanctions may be imposed
upon groups or organizations found to have violated the Code of Conduct.

19


https://cm.maxient.com/reportingform.php?WaukeshaCTC

10.

11.

12.

. Warning: An official written notice that the student has violated WCTC policies and/or rules and

that more severe conduct action will result should the student be involvedin other violations while
the studentis enrolled at WCTC.

Fines: Reasonable monetary fines may be imposed.

Restitution: Compensation for damage caused to WCTC or any person’s property. This could also
include situations such as failure to return a reserved space to the proper condition-labor costs
and expenses. Thisis not a fine but, rather, a repayment for labor costs and/or the value of property
destroyed, damaged, consumed, orstolen.

Community/WCTC Service Requirements: For a student or organization to complete a specific
supervised WCTC service.

Loss of Privileges: The student will be denied specified privileges for a designated period of time.
This may include facility suspension. The student no longer has the privilege of entering and/or
residing in a particular facility or building for a specified period of time or until a specific condition
is met.

Confiscation of Prohibited Property: [tems whose presence is in violation of WCTCpolicy will be
confiscated and will become the property of WCTC. Prohibited items may be returned to the owner
at the discretion of the Dean of Students and/or Campus Police.

Behavioral Requirement: This includes required activities including, but not limited to, substance
abuse screening, writing a letter ofapology, etc.

Educational Program: Requirement to attend, present and/or participate in aprogram related to
the violation. [t may also be arequirement to sponsor or assist with a program for others on campus
to aid them in learning about a specific topic or issue related to the violation for which the student
or organization was found responsible. The audience may be restricted.

Disciplinary Probation: The student is not in good standing for a designated period of time and is
sent a letter of warning that further acts of misconduct will be subject to further conduct action and
may result in suspension or expulsion from WCTC particularly if the incident occurs during the
probationary period.

Eligibility Restriction: The student is deemed “not in good standing” with WCTC for a specified
period of time. Specific limitations or exceptions will be determined by the Dean of Students, and
terms of this conduct sanction may include but are not limited to the following:

a. Ineligibility to hold any office in any student organization recognized by WCTC or hold an
elected or appointed office at WCTC;

b. Ineligibility to represent WCTC to anyone outside the WCTC community in any way including
participating in a study abroad program, attending meetings, or representing WCTC at an
official function, or event etc.; and

c. Removal from class — student is barred from attending a particular class or may be
reassigned to a different section of the same class. Specifics will be coordinated between
the Dean of Students or designee and the appropriate academic administrator.

WCTC Suspension: Separation from WCTC for a specified minimum period of time, after which the
student is eligible for possible re-enrollment. Eligibility to return may be contingent upon
satisfaction of specific conditions noted at the time of suspension. During the suspension period,
the student is banned from WCTC property, functions, events, and activities without prior written
approval from the Dean of Students or designee. This sanction may be enforced with a trespass
action, as necessary. A student returning from a disciplinary suspension will be placed on
disciplinary probation for one (1) year.

WCTC Expulsion: Permanent separation from WCTC. The student is banned from WCTC property,
and the student’s presence at any WCTC-sponsored activity or event is prohibited. This action may
be enforced with a trespass action, as necessary.

20



a. If astudentis suspended, expelled, or removed as a part of a withdrawal agreement, they will
be subject to the same refund policy as if they had voluntarily withdrawn from the College. For
more information and the current refund timeline, please contact the Registration Department.

13. Other Sanctions: Additional or alternate sanctions may be created and desighed as deemed
appropriate to the offense with the approval of the Dean of Students, or designee. Examplesinclude
work assignments or service, essays, administrative referrals, or other related discretionary
assignments.

Academic Ethics Code of Conduct

The purpose of this code is to encourage and promote positive learning and ethical student behavior,
define behavior violating academic ethics, specify procedures for the determination of the facts of the
alleged misconduct, and to define sanctions. Itis the responsibility of the student to maintain the highest
ethical standards in academic achievement within the positive learning environment provided by the
College.

Guidelines for Academic Ethics
Students assume full responsibility for the content and integrity of the course work they submit. The
following is a guide to assist students in observing positive behavior in academic ethics:

e Students must do their own work and submit only their own work on examinations, reports and
projects, unless otherwise permitted by the instructor.

e Students can benefit from working in groups. They may collaborate or cooperate with other
students during take-home or open-book exams, only if specifically authorized by the instructor in
the class syllabus or at the time of the exam.

o Students must follow all written and/or verbal instructions given by instructors or designated
College representatives prior to taking exams, placement assessments, tests, quizzes and
evaluations.

e Students are responsible for adhering to course requirements, including conduct and attendance
in the course, as specified by the instructor and/or department.

e Students must always demonstrate professional and civil behavior toward their instructor and
fellow students. This includes interactions in and out of the classroom and electronic
communication.

e A student that suspects another student of academic misconduct is encouraged to report the
incident to the instructor.

Academic Ethics Misconduct
Students enrolled in the College assume the obligation of conducting themselves in accordance with the
highest ethical standards. Actions constituting violation of the Academic Ethics Code of Conductinclude,
but are not limited to, the following:
e Plagiarism (turning in work of another person and not giving them credit)
e Stealing an exam or course materials
e Copying another student's homework, paper or exam
e Cheating on an exam (copying from another student, turning in an exam for re-grading after making
changes or working on an exam after the designated time allowance)
e Cheating, which is intentional deceit or an attempt to deceive, during the pursuit of academic
course work.
e Collusionis obtaining or giving a student unauthorized assistance on materialin any course work.
e Theft of instructional and test materials is the unauthorized acquisition of instructional and/or
testing materials.

21



e Falsifying academic documents

Sanctions for Academic Ethics Violations

When an instructor suspects academic ethics violations have occurred, he/she shall inform the student
via their WCTC email of the general facts or conduct upon which the allegation is based, including (as
appropriate) the assignment and the date of when alleged conduct took place. A meeting will take place
to allow the student to state their case. If the instructor determines that aviolation did not occur, no further
action is necessary.

If the instructor determines the violation did occur, the instructor will apprise the Associate Dean of the
situation and the chosen course of action.

One or more of the disciplinary sanctions listed may be imposed.
1. Theinstructor may choose to:
¢ Warn the student of unacceptable behavior;
e Issue an alternative assignment, project or examination;
e Reduce the grade, or assign a failing grade for the assignment, project or
examination;
o Assign afailing grade for the course; (with prior approval from the Associate Dean)

The instructor will communicate the sanction to the student via WCTC email.

2. In addition to the sanctions described above, the Academic Dean may impose one or more of
the following:
e Academic suspension from the College
e Academic expulsion from the College

The Academic Dean will communicate the sanction to the student via WCTC email.

Prior to possible re-enrollment, the student will be required to meet with Student Life and Academic Dean
and/or designee of the program. Any further Academic Ethics Code violations after re-entry may result in
permanent expulsion from the College.

College Level Process

Repeat academic integrity violations and/or allegations that include possible violations of other Student
Code of Conduct standards may be referred to Student Life to be addressed through the Student Code of
Conduct procedure.

Allegations referred to Student Life may include, but is not limited to, one or more of the following:
e Verbal or written warning
¢ Non-academic probation
e Suspension or dismissal from the College

Appeal Process for Academic Ethics Violations

A student who disagrees with the findings of responsibility or the sanctions levied may choose to request
an appeal, which is only allowed in cases where the sanction is a failing grade, suspension or expulsion.
(Sanctions for Academic Ethicsviolations thatresultin afailing course grade can only be appealed through
this appeal process, not a Final Grade Appeal).

22



Appeals requests are limited to the following grounds and are only allowed in a case where the sanction
was a failing grade, suspension or expulsion:

1. A procedural error occurred that significantly impacted the outcome of the hearing (e.g.,
substantiated bias, material deviation from established procedures, etc.).

2. New evidence that was unavailable during the original meeting or investigation and could
substantially impact the original finding or sanction may be considered, provided that a summary
of this new evidence and its potential impact is included.

3. The sanctions imposed are substantially outside the parameters or guidelines set by WCTC for this
type of offense or the cumulative conduct record of the responding student.

Submitting an Appeal
Appeals are not intended to be full re-hearings of the complaint. In most cases, appeals are confined to a
review of the written documentation or record of the original meeting and pertinent documentation
regarding the grounds for appeal; witnesses may be called if necessary. Appeals are not an opportunity to
second-guess the judgment of the original decision-maker merely because the student disagrees with the
finding and/or sanctions. Appeals decisions are to be deferential to the original decisionmaker, making
changes to the finding only when at least one of the three criteria that create grounds for an appeal are
met, and to the sanction only if there is a compelling justification to do so.
An appeal must contain the following information:

1. Reason for the appeal request.

2. The name, address, telephone number, and WCTC email of the party.

3. Aclear statement explaining the nature and circumstances of the appeal, citing the new evidence

and/or the explanation with specifics of the alleged lack of fairness in the prior hearing.

All appeals requests should be made within ten calendar days of the student receiving notification of the
violation's outcome. A final decision will be made after full review and consideration of the process and
related information. All student communication will be sent through their WCTC email account or via
certified letter.

Appeal Decision
e Appeals foran academic suspension or expulsion will be addressed by the Associate Vice Provost
of Academic Affairs or designee. The decision of the Associate Vice Provost of Academic Affairs or
designee is final.
e Ifyouhave questions onthe appeal process or need further assistance, please contact Student Life
at 262-691-5302.

Complaint and Grievance Procedure for Waukesha County Technical College Students

Whenever possible, the student should attempt to resolve the issue directly with the staff member
involved, as described in step one. However, if a student is not comfortable doing so, they should discuss
the matter with the staff member's supervisor, thereby proceeding directly to step two. All members of the
WCTC community are expected to interact with civility and respect throughout the complaint process.
Whenever possible, the student should attempt to resolve the issue directly with the staff member
involved, as described in step 1. However, if a student is not comfortable doing so, they should discuss
the matter with the staff member's supervisor, thereby proceeding directly to step 2. All members of the
WCTC community are expected to interact with civility and respect throughout the complaint process. If
you are uncertain who to direct your complaint to, please contact Student Life at 262.691.5302 or stop by
the Student Life Office, C-121.

23



Complaint and Grievance Procedure Steps

1. The student should attempt to resolve the issue through an informal discussion with the
appropriate staff member within thirty (30) business days of the alleged incident or most recent
occurrence. However, as noted above, if a studentis not comfortable doing so, they should discuss
the matter with the staff member's supervisor, thereby proceeding directly to step two.

2. Ifthe complaintremains unresolved, the student should submit, in writing, the nature and cause of
the complaint to the immediate supervisor. The immediate supervisor will meet with the student
and the staff member and respond to both in writing.

3. Ifthe complaintremains unresolved, the student should submit, in writing, the nature and cause of
the complaint and desired outcome(s) to the department/unit supervisor. The department/unit
supervisor or other appropriate staff person will meet with the student and the staff member and
respond to both in writing within seven (7) calendar days. A copy will be forwarded to Student Life,
or designee.

4. Ifthe issue remains unresolved after such meeting, the student may, within ten (10) calendar days
after receiving the department/unit supervisor or other staff members' written response, submit an
official General Complaint Form. The Student Life Office will reach out to reporter for additional
information and next steps.

If you feel that you have been treated differently, harassed, or retaliated against on the basis of your race,
color, national origin, religion, sex, sexual orientation, disability, age, status as a veteran or special
disabled veteran, gender identity and expression, and/or other characteristic prohibited by law, you
should contact Student Life at 262.691.5302.

Wisconsin Technical College System (WTCS) Complaint Process

If a student believes there has been misinterpretation or misapplication of WCTC policy or procedure, and
that such misinterpretation or misapplication falls into one of the three categories listed below, he or she
may file a complaint with the Wisconsin Technical College System office.

Students who attend a college that is part of the WTCS can file complaints at the state level in three
categories defined by the United States Department of Education:
e Complaints that allege violations of Wisconsin consumer protection laws, including but not limited
to false advertising;
e Complaints that allege violations of Wisconsin laws related to the licensure of postsecondary
institutions; or
e Complaints relating to the quality of education or other State or accreditation requirements. A
student who reasonably believes that a violation has occurred in one or more of these categories
may file a written complaint. Complaints must be signed by the student and submitted on the
official Student Complaint Form, available at: WTCS Student Complaint Form.

Complaints must be filed within one year from the date of the alleged violation or the last recorded date of
attendance, whichever is later. The WTCS will review complaints only after students attempt to resolve the
matter through applicable College appeals or complaint processes.

By signing and submitting a complaint form, the student consents to disclosure by Waukesha County
Technical College or the WTCS of any protected or confidential information that may be needed to review,
investigate, and/or resolve the complaint; this includes referring complaints to another organization with
jurisdiction and authority over the issue. The student also agrees to provide requested information and/or

24


https://cm.maxient.com/reportingform.php?WaukeshaCTC&layout_id=1
https://wtcsystem.edu/student-complaints/

respond to questions about the complaint. Failure to provide requested information or respond to
questions about the complaint may result in the WTCS dismissing the complaint.

Notice: Under the Wisconsin Public Records Law, Ch. 19, Wis. Stats., any record or document that is part of the complaint
review may be subject to disclosure upon request by a member of the public upon conclusion of WTCS action on the complaint,
unless specifically exempt under law.

STOP CAMPUS HAZING ACT

The College prohibits students, employees, officers, contractors, and volunteers from engaging in, or
attempting to engage in, hazing.

DEFINITIONS
Hazing: The term “hazing” means any intentional, knowing, or reckless act committed by a person
(whether individually or in concert with other persons) against another person or persons, regardless of
the willingness of such other person or persons to participate, that:
e |Is committed in the course of an initiation into, an affiliation with, or the maintenance of
membership in, a student organization; and
e (Causes or creates a risk, above the reasonable risk encountered in the course of participation in
the institution of higher education or the organization (such as the physical preparation necessary
for participation in an athletic team), of physical or psychological injury, including:
= Whipping, beating, striking, electronic shocking, placing of a harmful substance on
someone’s body, or similar activity;
= Causing, coercing, or otherwise inducing sleep deprivation, exposure to the elements,
confinement in a small space, extreme calisthenics, or other similar activity;
= Causing, coercing, or otherwise inducing another person to consume food, liquid, alcohol,
drugs, or other substances;
= Causing, coercing, or otherwise inducing another person to perform sexual acts;
= Any activity that places another person in reasonable fear of bodily harm through the use of
threatening words or conduct;
= Any activity against another person that includes a criminal violation of local, State, Tribal,
or Federal law; and
= Any activity that induces, causes, or requires another person to perform a duty or task that
involves a criminal violation of local, State, Tribal, or Federal law.

Hazing also involves any other activity not addressed by this definition that is expected of someone joining
or participating in a student organization that humiliates, degrades, abuses, or endangers them,
regardless of a person’s willingness to participate.

Student Organization: The phrase “student organization” means an organization at the College (such as
a club, society, association, or student government) in which two or more of the members are students
enrolled at the College, whether or not the organization is established or recognized by the College.

Regardless of whether a student organization is recognized or established by the College, itis not subject
to the College’s disciplinary jurisdiction. Individuals who violate the standards of conduct outlined in this
policy will be held accountable. In addition, any student organization recognized or established by the
College that is found to be responsible for violating the College’s Hazing policy will be recorded in the
Campus Hazing Transparency Report. Further, all reports of hazing involving student organizations—

25



regardless of whether the organization is established or recognized by the College—that occur in the
College’s Clery Geography will be included in the College’s Clery Crime Statistics report.

The College reserves the right to hold a sub-group of an organization accountable for Hazing policy
violations, rather than the entire student organization, when circumstances reasonably indicate a sub-
group, not the whole student organization, committed the policy violation.

HAZING PREVENTION AND AWARENESS PROGRAMS

In furtherance of its commitment to maintaining a safe and respectful environment, the College offers a
range of hazing prevention and awareness programs informed by research, campus-wide in scope, and
designed to equip students, faculty, and staff to recognize, report, and prevent hazing behaviors.

These prevention and awareness programs address a variety of topics, including:
e the College’s definition of hazing and student organization,
e the College’s prohibition against hazing;
e how to report hazing and the process the College will use to investigate and respond to reports of
hazing;
e information on applicable local, State, and Tribal laws regarding hazing; and
e primary prevention strategies intended to stop hazing before it occurs.

Among the prevention and awareness strategies the College has implemented are the following:

e Mandatory Annual Club Advisor Training, including bystander intervention education;

e Promotion of ethical leadership and non-hazing group cohesion, including through strategy-
building workshops offered by Student Life;

e Educational awareness on campus-wide club marketing bulletin boards and Student Life display
cases;

e Bi-annual campus-wide anti-hazing education sent to all credited enrolled students via official
College email; and

e Staff presentations to all students attending New Student Orientation, which covers hazing
prevention.

The College intends to periodically review these programs for effectiveness and make adjustments as
necessary, based on its review, feedback, and any trends in incident reports.

HOW TO REPORT HAZING

Hazing is prohibited at the College. Any individual who experiences or witnesses hazing is strongly
encouraged to report the incident immediately. Incidents involving an in-progress crime or emergency
should be reported immediately to the local law enforcement agency with jurisdiction by dialing 911.

Reports of hazing can be made to the College via its reporting system, in person, by phone, or by email
using the contact information below.
e WCTC students, employees, and community members may submit all hazing reports and concerns
via the WCTC reporting system by using the following links:
= Students and Staff - Report
=  Community Members — Report

26


https://experience.elluciancloud.com/wctc/page/concerns
https://cm.maxient.com/reportingform.php?WaukeshaCTC&layout_id=11

Reporters may submit their reports anonymously, but please note that doing so may impede
the college’s ability to address the incident effectively.

In addition, incidents of Hazing involving students can be reported to any of the following offices and/or
individuals:
e The Student Life Office — studentlife@wctc.edu or 262.691.5302
The Dean of Students - 262.691.5295
Director of Campus Security and Risk - 262.691.5225
WCTC Campus Police - 262.691.5582

Incidents of Hazing involving employees can be reported to any of the following offices and/or individuals:
e Manager, Employee Compliance-compliance@wctc.edu or 262.695.3481
e Vice President, Human Resources and Legal Affairs-hrservices@wctc.edu or 262.691.5565
e Director of Campus Security and Risk - 262.691.5225
e WCTC Campus Police —-262.691.5582

PROCESS USED TO INVESTIGATE HAZING REPORTS

All reports of hazing involving a student and/or student organization respondent will be reviewed by the
Dean of Students ortheir designee. All reports of hazing involving an employee respondent will be reviewed
by the Manager, Employee Compliance, or their designhee. In relation to the College’s Hazing policy, the
term “respondent” refers to a student, a recognized or registered student organization, or an employee
who is alleged to have engaged in hazing.

Initial Review

Upon receipt of a report alleging hazing, the Dean of Students or their designee will conduct an initial
review of the report and determine if the alleged behavior, as described in the report, would constitute
hazing as defined by the College. The Dean of Students, or designee, is empowered to take reasonable
steps to obtain additional information that may be necessary to determine if a policy violation has been
alleged or to determine if an investigation is warranted.

The Dean of Students or their designee will also determine which College official(s) or office(s) have
jurisdiction over the respondent(s). The Dean of Students may consult with applicable College officials
when determining which individual(s) or office(s) have jurisdiction over the respondent(s). When
determining jurisdiction, the Dean of Students, or designee, will consider:

e the nature of the alleged conduct,

e the circumstances of the report, and

e whether the respondent is a person or a student organization subject to the College’s conduct

standards.

These factors will also inform whether the procedures outlined in the Student Code of Conduct will be
utilized to resolve the alleged misconduct. Allegations of Hazing involving a student or a student
organization that is officially recognized by, or registered with, the College will be resolved in accordance
with the procedures outlined in the Student Code of Conduct. Allegations involving other respondents will
be determined using the policies and procedures applicable to the respondent’s status.

27


mailto:studentlife@wctc.edu
mailto:compliance@wctc.edu
mailto:hrservices@wctc.edu

Interim Action

In response to the report, the Dean of Students or designee may impose an interim administrative action
on a respondent prior to the resolution when a threat of imminent harm to persons or property exists,
and/or there is potential for significant disruption to the community during the course of investigation. If
the respondent is an employee, the applicable College official(s) may impose interim administrative
action consistent with the policies and procedures applicable to the employee.

Interim action is not a sanction. It is taken in an effort to protect the safety and well-being of individuals
and the College community. Interim administrative action is preliminary in nature; it remains in effect only
until the matter is resolved. The respondent may appeal the interim action in writing to the Associate Vice
Provost for Student Affairs, or designee. All such appeals must be submitted within seven (7) calendar
days of the imposition of the interim action. The interim action will remain in effect while the appeal is
reviewed and resolved.

Investigation

Following the initial review, if the Dean of Students, or their designee, determines that the report alleges
conduct that could constitute hazing by a member of the College community over whom the College has
jurisdiction, the Dean of Students, or their designee, shall appoint one or more internal or external
investigators to conduct a prompt, thorough, and impartial investigation. The appointment of external
investigators may be made at the discretion of the Dean of Students or the Manager, Employee
Compliance.

In cases where a report of alleged hazing also includes allegations of conduct that may constitute a
violation of the College’s Sexual Misconduct Policy, the Manager, Employee Compliance, or their
designee, and the Dean of Students, or their designee, shall confer to determine the appropriate
investigative and/or resolution procedures.

The respondent (typically the president of a registered/recognized student organization, or its equivalent
for an established organization) will be sent a written notice of the allegations via their College-supplied
email account. If the student organization has a national or oversight entity, that entity may be apprised of
the College’sinvestigation atthe discretion of the Dean of Students. The national or oversight entity cannot
speak on behalf of or represent the student organization.

During the investigation, the complainant and respondent will be provided with an opportunity to: provide
information through an in-person or virtual interview, submit a written account, provide the names of
incident witnesses for possible interviews with the investigator(s), provide witness statements, and
provide any documentation that may be relevant to the facts of the allegations. However, the
investigator(s) may consider information from any sources the investigator(s) deem relevant and credible.
The investigator(s) will make reasonable efforts to obtain relevant supporting documentation related to
the allegations from other College official(s) or available resources.

Reasonable efforts will be made to complete the investigation in a timely manner. Typically, the College
aims to complete an investigation into allegations of hazing within 45 business days of providing written
notice of the investigation to the respondent. However, investigations may extend beyond 45 business
days as circumstances require.

Upon completion of the investigation, the investigator(s) will prepare a written investigation report. The
investigation report will summarize the information gathered during the investigation and include detailed

28



findings of fact regarding the behaviors in question. Based on these findings of fact, the investigators will
determine and document whether each respondent violated the College’s Hazing policy.

Sanctions and Remedial Measures

The Dean of Students, Manager, Employee Compliance, or their designee will impose appropriate
sanctions and remedial measures in accordance with applicable WCTC policies and procedures for
respondents found to have violated the College’s Hazing policy. Sanctions may include probation, loss of
privileges, loss of recognized/registered status, mandatory training or education, suspension, expulsion,
administrative leave, or termination. Respondents can also face sanctions under other College policies
as well as criminal or civil penalties imposed under applicable law.

All respondents will be informed, in writing, of the College’s findings and any sanctions imposed.

INFORMATION REGARDING APPLICABLE LOCAL, STATE, AND TRIBAL LAWS ON HAZING
In addition to the College’s Hazing Policy, members of the campus community should be aware of
applicable jurisdictional laws pertaining to Hazing.

Wisconsin law provides:
No person may intentionally or recklessly engage in acts which endanger the physical health or
safety of a student for the purpose of initiation or admission into or affiliation with any organization
operating in connection with a school, college, or university. Under those circumstances,
prohibited acts may include any brutality of a physical nature, such as whipping, beating, branding,
forced consumption of any food, liquor, drug, or other substance, forced confinement, or any other
forced activity which endangers the physical health or safety of the student.

Whoever violates the law is guilty of:
e AClass Amisdemeanor if the actresults in oris likely to result in bodily harm to another.
e AClass H felonyif the actresults in great bodily harm to another.
e AClass Gfelonyif the actresults in the death of another.

See Wis. Stat. 948.51.

CAMPUS HAZING TRANSPARENCY REPORT

The College is committed to fostering a safe and respectful campus environment. In compliance with the
Stop Campus Hazing Act, the College will publish Campus Hazing Transparency Reports that share
information about hazing incidents reported to College officials or local law enforcement, including the
type of incident, whether the incidentinvolved the abuse orillegal use of alcohol or drugs, the organization
involved, and the outcome of any investigation.

The first Transparency Report will be published by December 23, 2025, unless no organizations have been
found responsible for Hazing on or after July 1, 2025. The College’s Campus Hazing Transparency Reports
can be found at: Campus Hazing Transparency Report.

DRUG FREE SCHOOLS AND COMMUNITY ACT

Alcohol and Drug Policies
In compliance with the Drug Free Schools and Communities Act, WCTC publishes information regarding
the College’s prevention programs related to drug and alcohol abuse prevention which include standards

29


https://nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.wctc.edu%2FWCTC%2FCampus-Life%2FActivities-and-Organizations%2FStudent-Clubs&data=05%7C02%7Cssimmons9%40wctc.edu%7Cb716f77c8600415d82a208ddfabd5a95%7C0f0bc6f814d14938a9bb9541a4dc859c%7C0%7C0%7C638942413367719874%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=VpLapPuliPYpDfyi0ftgfofLhzA2WSxxi9UZD1GN1jQ%3D&reserved=0

of conduct that prohibit the unlawful possession, use, and distribution of alcohol and illegal drugs on
campus and at institution-associated activities; sanctions for violations of federal, state, and local laws
and College policy; a description of health risks associated with alcohol and other drug use and abuse;
and a description of available counseling, treatment, rehabilitation and/or re-entry programs for WCTC
students and employees. A complete description of these topics, as provided in the College’s annual
notification to students and employees, is available online at: Drug & Alcohol Abuse Prevention Program.

As acondition of receiving financial aid funds, the federal government requires that colleges must disclose
information to students and have an adopted alcohol and drug program in place. This serves as WCTC's
information for compliance of these regulations, as well as the information published in the WCTC College
Safety and Security Resource Guide, found on the WCTC website. It is the policy of this institution that the
unlawful manufacture, distribution or possession of illicit drugs, or use or abuse of alcohol on any WCTC
campus, or as a part of any WCTC activity, is strictly prohibited.

Exceptions to this alcohol policy are for an individual situation, which must have written approval from the
College President. Anyone who violates the policy is subject to both the institutions and criminal
sanctions. Without exception, alcoholic consumption is governed by Wisconsin statutory age restrictions
under Chapter 125 et al. Laws prohibit drug possession through Wis. Stat. 161 and mandate penalties up
to 15 years of prison and fines.

WCTC policy recognizes that substance abuse is a complex problem that is not easily resolved solely by
personal effort and may require professional assistance and/or treatment.

The College will not excuse a student for acts of misconduct committed on campus or while participating
in any WCTC sponsored activity, whose judgment is impaired due to substance abuse. Students whose
behavior indicates that they are under the influence alcohol or other drugs upon their arrival at a WCTC
activity or class are also subject to this policy. Law enforcement personnel may be contacted if disorderly
or belligerent behavior exists.

The penalties vary according to the amount of drug confiscated the type of drug found, the number of
previous offenses by the individual and whether the individual intended to manufacture the drug, sell the
drug or use the drug. In addition to the stringent penalties for possession or delivery, the sentences can be
doubled when exacerbating factors are present, such as when a person distributes a controlled substance
to a minor.

Summary of the Health Effects of Drugs and Alcohol Abuse

The following is a partial list of drugs and some of the consequences of their use. The abuse of alcohol and
use of other illegal drugs is detrimental to the health of the user. Further, the use of drugs and alcohol is
not conducive to an academic atmosphere. Drugs impede the learning process and can cause disruption
for other students and disturb their academic interests. The use of alcohol or drugs in the workplace may
also impede the employee's ability to perform in a safe and effective manner and may result in injuries to
others. Early diagnosis and treatment of drug and alcohol abuse is in the best interest of the student,
employee and the College.

The effects of any drug depend on the amount taken at one time, the past experience of the drug user, the
circumstances in which the drug is taken (place, feelings, and activities of the user, presence of other
people and simultaneous use of other drugs) and the manner in which the drug is taken. This list includes
only some of the known health risks, and not all legal or illegal drugs are covered in this brief section.

30


https://www.wctc.edu/_site-pdfs/daapp-report.pdf

Alcohol

Alcoholis chemically classified as a mind-altering drug because it contains ethanol and has the chemical
power to depress the action of the central nervous system. Alcohol is the most frequently abused drug on
campus and in society. This depression affects motor coordination, speech and vision. In great amounts,
it can affect respiration and heart rate control. Death can result when the level of blood alcohol exceeds
0.40 percent. Prolonged abuse of alcohol can lead to alcoholism, malnutrition, brain damage and
cirrhosis.

Drugs

Cannabis-Marijuana and Hashish

Marijuana and hashish are deleterious to the health and impact the short-term memory and
comprehension of the user. When used, they alter the sense of time and reduce the ability of the user to
perform tasks requiring concentration and coordination. They increase the heart rate and appetite.
Motivation and cognition can be altered, making acquisition and retaining of new information difficult.
Long-term users may develop psychological dependence that can produce paranocia and psychosis.
Because this drug is inhaled as unfiltered smoke, it is damaging to the lungs and pulmonary system and
has more cancer-causing agents than tobacco.

Cocaine and Crack

Cocaine and crack stimulate the central nervous system. They can cause psychological and physical
dependency, which can lead to dilated pupils, increased pulse rate, elevated blood pressure, and
insomnia, loss of appetite, paranoia and seizures. They can also cause death by disrupting the brain's
control of the heart and respiration.

Stimulants and Amphetamines

Other stimulant and amphetamine use can have the same effect as cocaine and cause increased heart
rates and blood pressure that can result in stroke or heart failure. Symptoms include dizziness,
sleeplessness and anxiety. They can also lead to psychosis, hallucinations, paranoia and even a physical
collapse.

Depressants and Barbiturates

Depressants and barbiturates can cause physical and psychological dependence that can lead to
respiratory depression, coma and death, especially when used in concert with alcohol. Withdrawal can
lead to restlessness, insomnia, convulsions and even death.

Hallucinogens

LSD, PCP, mescaline and peyote are classified as hallucinogens. Hallucinogens interrupt the brain
messages that control the intellect and keep instincts in check. Large doses can produce convulsions and
coma, heart and lung failure. Chronic users complain of persistent memory problems and speech
difficulties for up to ayear after their use. Because the drugs stop the brain's pain sensor, drug experiences
may resultin severe self-inflicted injuries. Persistent memory problems and speech difficulties may linger.

Narcotics
Users of narcotics, such as heroin, codeine, morphine and opium develop dependence and increase the
likelihood of an overdose that can lead to convulsions, coma and death.

31



Nicotine

Nicotine is highly addictive, whether ingested by smoking or chewing. This drug hits the brain in six
seconds, damages the lungs, decreases heart strength and is associated with many types of cancers. The
withdrawal symptoms include anxiety, progressive restlessness, irritability and sleep disturbance.

WCTC provides intervention for students who need assistance with addiction, education, support,
prevention and intervention of alcohol, tobacco and other drug abuse. Contact Counseling Services at
262.691.5400 for more information. Counselors are available to assist students.

Federal and State of Wisconsin Legal Sanctions

Federal

The federal government has revised the penalties against drug possession and trafficking through its
Federal Sentencing Guidelines that reduce the discretion that federal judges may use in sentencing
offenders of federal drug statutes. Under these guidelines, courts can sentence a person for an extended
period of time for unlawful possession of a controlled substance, including the distribution of marijuana.
A sentence of life imprisonment can result from a conviction of possession of a controlled substance that
results in death or bodily injury, 21 U.S.C. § 841.

Wisconsin

The Uniform Controlled Substances Act, Chapter 961 of the Wisconsin Statutes, regulates controlled
substances and outlines specific penalties for the violation of the regulations. A first-time conviction for
possession of a controlled substance can result in a sentence of up to one year in prison and a fine of up
to $5,000. Sec.961.41(3g), Stats. A person convicted of manufacturing a controlled substance, delivering
a controlled substance, or possessing a controlled substance with an intent to manufacture or deliver,
can be imprisoned for up to 30 years and fined up to $1,000, 000. Secs. 961.41(1) and (1m), Stats. Penalties
vary according to the type of drug involved, the amount of drug confiscated, the number of previous
convictions, and the presence of any aggravating factors. The distribution of a controlled substance to a
minor can lead to the doubling of an authorized sentence term. Sec. 961.46, Stats.

Wisconsin has formidable legal sanctions that restrict the use of alcohol in various situations. Itis illegal
to procure for, sell, dispense or give away alcohol to anyone who has not reached the legal drinking age of
21 years. Sec.125.07(1)(a)(1), Stats. Every adult has a legal obligation to prevent the illegal consumption
of alcohol on premises owned by the adult or under the adult’s control. Sec. 125.07(1)(a)(3), Stats. A first-
time violator of either of the above subsections can be fined up to $500. Itis against the law for an underage
person to procure or attempt to procure an alcoholic beverage, to falsely represent his or her age for the
purpose of obtaining alcohol, to enter premises licensed to sell alcohol, or to consume or possess alcohol
on licensed premises. Sec. 125.07(4)(a), Stats. A first-time underage violator of Section 125.07(4)(b),
Stats., can be fined up to $500, ordered to participate in a supervised work program, and have their driver’s
license suspended.

For specific information regarding underage drinking laws and drinking/driving laws, contact the Campus
Police at 262.691.5582.

Resources

On-Campus

Students who are concerned about their own use of alcohol and/or other drugs or about the use of
someone close to them are encouraged to contact a college counselor. For more information and/or

32



assessment and referral as appropriate, contact the Mental Health Counseling Services at 262.691.3440
to schedule an appointment.

Off-Campus

The Wisconsin Department of Health and Social Services website is a resource for anyone seeking
assistance and information on alcohol and substance abuse services. Information can be obtained via the
website: Substance Use: Partner/Provider Resources.

Other resources can be found by searching for Alcoholism Information and Treatment Centers.

For additional information contact:
National Council on Alcoholism & Drug Dependence

Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) National Office: 212.870.3400

33


https://www.dhs.wisconsin.gov/aoda/index.htm
https://www.ncadd.org/

COMMUNITY RESOURCES

24 Hour Help Lines and Hotlines

211/First Call for Help:

e« Aconfidential hotline staffed by mental
health counselors 24 hours a day, 7 days a
week.

¢ Provides callers with access to community
resources, crisis intervention and support.

e 2110r414.773.0211

Addiction Resource Council:
e Aconfidential hotline providing support and
crisis help.
o 262.524.7921

Alcoholics Anonymous:
e Helpline for the city of Milwaukee and the
Metro Milwaukee area.
o 414.771.9119

Narcotics Anonymous:
e Helpline for Milwaukee and Metro
Milwaukee area.
e 1.800.240.0276

La Casa de Esperanza Clinic
410 Arcadian Ave

Waukesha, W1 53186
262.547.0887

Rogers Memorial Hospital
34700 Valley Road
Oconomowoc, WI 53066
262.646.4411

Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse Information:
Please contact the organizations below for
information on Alcohol and Other Drug
Assessment, Counseling and treatment.

Addiction Resource Council
N27W23960 Paul Rd, Suite 201
Pewaukee, WI 53072
262.524.7921

Alliance Counseling Center
2312 N. Grandview Blvd, Suite 103
Waukesha, W1 53188
262.367.2699

Family Service of Waukesha County
2727 N. Grandview Blvd, Suite 203
Waukesha, W1 53188

262.547.5567

Quality Addiction Center-West Milwaukee
Comprehensive Treatment Center

1610 Miller Park Way

West Milwaukee, WI 53214

844.754.9355

WI Narcotics Anonymous
732 N. Main St

Oshkosh, WI 54901
800.240.0276

How to Help
Warning Signs
(Information taken from the Wisconsin Clearinghouse)
If you know someone who has problems related to drinking alcohol or other drug use, you’re not alone.
You don’t have to be an expert to know if your friend has a problem. If he/she has these kinds of troubles
related to alcohol or other drugs, your friend may need to talk with someone. Does he/her:

e Tryto hide his/her drinking or other drug use?

¢ Notremember what happened while he/she was using drugs or drinking?

e Have problems injob or school performance?

o Take physicalrisks, like driving, biking or swimming, while intoxicated?

¢ Avoid talking about drinking or drug use, except to brag about how much was drunk or how high

he/she got?

34



e Think about getting high a lot?

e Limitfriends to those who drink or use drugs a lot?

e Seem unable to have a good time or to party unless alcohol or drugs are available?
e Say he/she sometimes NEEDS a drink or drug?

e Getangry when you mention your concerns and deny that there’s anything wrong?
e Have a history of alcohol or other drug problems in the family?

How You Can Help
First, learn more about alcohol and other drug abuse. Libraries, alcohol and other drug information
agencies and treatment centers are good places to get more information.

Next, find out where your friend can get help on campus or in your community. Having this information
available if, and when your friend needs it will pay off. Most people who seek help for alcohol or drug
problems get better.

Let your friend know how much you care. Explain how his/her drinking and/or other drug use affects you -
and your friendship. Use your own words and say what is right for you. Be honest and specific. Say exactly
what makes you unhappy and how those problems relate to drinking and/or drugs.

Don’t get discouraged if your friend gets angry, refuses to listen or denies the problem. These reactions
are common in people who have alcohol or other drug problems. All you can do is say how you feel, show
that your care and suggest ways to get help. Only your friend can make the final decision to get help.

CAMPUS SECURITY AND CRIME AWARENESS

Campus Security Authorities

Campus Security Authorities (CSA) are individuals, who by virtue of their college responsibilities and under
the Clery Act, are designated to receive and report criminal incidents to Campus Police, the Director of
Campus Security & Risk, or the Manager, Employee Compliance so that they may be included and
published in the College's Annual Security Report.

Campus Security Authorities of the College include, but are not limited to the following:

Pewaukee Police Campus Waukesha Campus Security
. . . Dean of Students
Liaison Officers Officers
Pewaukee Campus Student Director, Campus Security Manager, Employee
Security Officers & Risk Compliance/Title IX Coordinator
Student Support Coordinator | Assistant Director, Student Life Coordinator of Risk
Management

Campus Law Enforcement and Security Services

Waukesha County Technical College (WCTC) contracts with the Village of Pewaukee Police Department
(PVPD), 235 Hickory Street, Pewaukee, WI 53072, (262)-691-5678, for law enforcement services on its
main Pewaukee campus. Pewaukee Police officers are on campus from 7:00 AM until 11:00 PM Monday
through Friday when the campus is open for business. WCTC’s main campus falls within the jurisdiction
of PVPD, the Pewaukee Police officers have jurisdiction to operate on WCTC owned or controlled property
and PVPD has full arrest authority on the WCTC main campus. The Pewaukee Police officers have the
authority to enforce State, Local and Federal laws and College Policies. Campus Security is an “observe
and report” organization. Observed incidents will be referred to either the Pewaukee Police for criminal

35



offenses, Student Life for student conduct offenses, and Human Resources & Legal Affairs for employee
conductissues.

In addition, WCTC has a security department. At the main campus, the security department employs
students from WCTC, as well as part-time Campus Security Officers (CSO). These Student Security
Officers (SSOs & CSOs) provide security coverage from 7:00 AM until approximately 10:30 PM Monday
through Thursday and until approximately 10:00 PM on Friday. Security is also present on Saturdays from
7:30 AM to approximately 5:00 PM. SSOs & CSOs have no arrest authority. Security coverage (jurisdiction
area) is limited to WCTC owned and controlled property on the main campus.

The Waukesha campus also has paid security staff (Campus Security Officers) on duty Monday through
Thursday from 7:00 AM to approximately 10:00 PM, until approximately 5:30 PM on Fridays and from 7:00
AM untilclosing on Saturdays. The security staff at this campus is responsible forenforcing WCTC policies.
Security staff have no arrest authority and security coverage (jurisdiction area) includes WCTC owned and
controlled property at the Waukesha Campus location. The Waukesha Police Department (WPD), on an
on-call basis, provides Law Enforcement services. No written agreements exist or memorandums of
understanding regarding any topics, including the investigation of criminal incidents, between WCTC and
the local police department.

Any matters of a criminal nature are referred to the appropriate police department and requirements for
police investigative services are handled by either PVPD or WPD.

The WCTC Campus Security Department maintains a strong working relationship with state and local
police agencies, including the City & Village of Pewaukee, the City & County of Waukesha, and the
Wisconsin State Patrol.

The College is a non-residential college and therefore does not provide 24-hour security coverage.
Monitoring and recording of criminal conduct by students at non-campus locations by local law
enforcement does not occur since WCTC does not have any officially recognized student organizations,
on campus or non-campus housing facilities.

Facilities, Campus Police, Pewaukee Village Police Department, Campus Security Officers, and Student
Security Officers patrol the grounds of the Main Campus while the campus is open. Security Officers and
Facilities personnel patrol and maintain the Waukesha campus. College staff regularly check outdoor
pathway lighting and egress lighting in hallways and stairwells.

Security and Access to Campus Facilities

WCTC academic and administrative buildings are open to the public, at a minimum, during normal
business hours. Most facilities have individual hours, and the hours may vary at different times of the year.
Card readers also control access to some of these buildings. All of these buildings have varied levels of
access. Student Security Officers and contracted PVPD officers patrol the academic and administrative
buildings on a regular basis at the main campus in Pewaukee. Security Officers patrol the Waukesha
campus. For information about the access protocol for a specific building, contact the Security Desk at
262.691.5052. WCTC does not maintain on-campus student housing facilities.

Security Considerations Used in the Maintenance of Campus Facilities
WCTC maintains campus facilities in a manner that minimizes hazardous and unsafe conditions. Parking

lots and pathways are illuminated with lighting. WCTC Security works closely with Facilities Services to

36



address burned out lights promptly as well as malfunctioning door locks, or other physical conditions that
affect security. Other members of the College community are helpful when they report equipment
problems to WCTC Security or to Facilities Management.

Crime and Emergency Reporting Procedures

In the event of an emergency or criminal conduct occurring on campus call 911 immediately from any
campus or personal cell phone. An emergency is defined as any event that may pose a significant threat
to life, safety, or health. This applies to all WCTC buildings in Waukesha and Pewaukee. When possible,
Campus Security should be contacted to ensure incidents are documented. If deemed appropriate by
campus authorities, such as the Crisis Management Team (CMT), a timely warning to the campus
community will be issued.

To report non-emergency criminal actions, contact the Pewaukee Campus Police at the main campus and
the Waukesha Police at the Waukesha campus. When possible, Campus Security should be contacted to
ensure incidents are documented. Important contact numbers are:

e Pewaukee Campus Police —262.691.5582

o Waukesha Police Department - 262.524.3831

e Campus Security (Pewaukee) - 262.691.5052

e Campus Security (Waukesha) - 262.695.6508

e Director of Campus Security & Risk—-262.691.5226

Prompt crime reporting and the reporting of suspicious behavior will better enable local law enforcement
officials to remedy the situation. The College encourages prompt and accurate reporting of all crimes or
suspicious behavior to local law enforcement officials (Campus Police), and to Campus Security & Risk
Office. Reports may be filed on the reporting party’s behalf when the victim of a crime elects to, oris unable
to, make such a report. The Community Feedback Form is an option to make an anonymous report. Once
the College has been put on notice, anonymously, all efforts will be made to investigate.

Report all criminal activity to Campus Police. If you are unable to reach Campus Police, contact the
Director of Campus Security & Risk. The College does have counselors on staff, which can assist students
by providing information on various private and public options for such services.

Waukesha County Technical College complies with the Jeanne Clery Disclosure Act and prepares an
annual report of crimes that have occurred on campus and at outreach centers. The report can be found
by clicking Annual Security Report, or may be obtained from the Campus Security Office. The reportis also
distributed to students and employees each year by October 15t as required by law. Campus crime, arrest,
and referral statistics include those reported to local law enforcement and to College officials, including
anonymous reports. In an effort to obtain the statistics from local law enforcement, Campus Security
makes a written request to each local law enforcement agency to obtain a listing of any crimes they had
reported to them and/or they had investigated.

Response to a Report

In response to a call, WCTC Security will take the required action, either dispatch an officer, or ask the
reporting party to report (in person oronline) to WCTC Security to file an incident report. Allreported crimes
will be investigated by the College, and/or PVPD and may become a matter of public record. ALWCTC
Security incident reports are forwarded to the Director of Campus Security & Risk for review. If assistance
isrequired from the Police Department or the Fire Department, WCTC Security will contact the appropriate

37


https://cm.maxient.com/v2/IRLayouts.php?layoutToEdit=11
https://www.wctc.edu/_site-pdfs/clery-report.pdf

department. If a sexual assault or rape should occur, staff on the scene will offer the reporting party awide
variety of services.

Voluntary Confidential Reporting

If you are the reporting party of a crime and do not want to pursue action within the College system or the
criminaljustice system, you may still want to consider making a confidential report. With your permission,
any WCTC Security personnel can file a report on the details of the incident without revealing your identity
(except to the Manager, Employee Compliance in the event of a reported sex offense or sexual
harassment). The purpose of a confidential report is to comply with your wish to keep the matter
confidential, while taking steps to enhance the future safety of yourself and others. With such information,
WCTC can keep an accurate record of the number of incidents involving students, employees and visitors;
determine where there is a pattern of crime with regard to a particular location, method, or assailant; and
alert the campus community to potential danger. Reports filed in this manner are counted and disclosed
in the annual crime statistics for the institution.

Professional Counselors

Campus “Professional Counselors,” when acting as such, are not considered to be a Campus Security
Authority for Clery Act purposes and are notrequired to report crimes forinclusion in the annual disclosure
of crime statistics. As a matter of policy, the professional counselors at WCTC are encouraged; if and when
they deem it appropriate, to inform persons being counseled of the procedures to report crimes on a
voluntary confidential basis to a Campus Security Authority.

Professional Counselor

An employee of an institution whose official responsibilities include providing psychological
counseling to members of the institution’s community, and who is functioning within the scope of
his or her license or certification.

Please note that reports of sexual violence and other violations that may be sex or gender-based will be
reported to the Manager, Employee Compliance and cannot be held in confidence.

The College does encourage professional counselors to notify individuals they are counseling of the option
to report crimes on an anonymous or confidential basis for inclusion in the annual statistical disclosure of
crime statistics.

WCTC does not have pastoral counselors and therefore has no procedures for them to inform individuals
of confidential reporting processes.

Daily Crime Log

The College maintains a Daily Crime Log. Any crime reported to security, even anonymously, is also
referred to the Campus Police for documentation. Daily Crime Logs are kept in the Campus Security
Office. A paper copy is kept at the Welcome Desk on the Pewaukee Campus, and Room 106 on the
Waukesha Campus.

Timely Warnings

Students, faculty, staff, community members, and guests are encouraged to report all crimes and public
safety-related incidents to Pete Latona, Director of Campus Security & Risk (platona@wctc.edu,
262.691.5225), Campus Police (police@wctc.edu, 262.993.1280), and/or Village of Pewaukee Police
Department (pewaukeepolice@villageofpewaukee.com, 262.691.5678) in a timely manner to aid in

38


mailto:platona@wctc.edu
mailto:police@wctc.edu
mailto:pewaukeepolice@villageofpewaukee.com

providing accurate and timely warning notices to the community when appropriate, and to ensure
inclusion in the Daily Crime Log and annual crime statistics. Information on crimes reported to Campus
Police or security is reviewed to determine if the crime poses a serious on-going threat to members of the
campus community. If the crime is serious or may pose an on-going threat to members of the WCTC
community, a timely warning that withholds the names of reporting party(s) as confidential, is sent to all
students, employees and guests on campus to aid in the prevention of similar crimes. The warnings are
generally written and distributed to the college community by the Manager, Employee Compliance, the
Director of Campus Security & Risk, or their designee.

Warnings and updates to the WCTC community may be distributed via blast email, text message, or
posted on the WCTC website. Warning notices may also be posted in campus buildings in the
lobby/entrance area of the affected building(s) for seven (7) days.

In the event a crime is reported, or a situation arises, within the WCTC Clery Geography (On Campus,
Public Property, and Non-campus property), that, in the judgment of the Director of Campus Security &
Risk and/or the Manager, Employee Compliance, and in consultation with responsible authorities when
time permits, constitutes a serious or continuing threat, a campus wide “timely warning” notice will be
issued.

Timely Warnings are usually distributed for the following Uniform Crime Reporting Program
(UCR)/National Incident Based Reporting System (NIBRS) classifications: major incidents of arson,
murder/non-negligent manslaughter, a string of Burglaries or Motor Vehicle Thefts that occurin reasonably
close proximity to one another and robbery. Incidents of aggravated assault (cases involving assaults
among known parties, such as two students fighting which results in an aggravated injury, will be evaluated
on a case-by-case basis to determine if the individual is believed to be a serious or ongoing threat to the
larger WCTC community). Sex offenses (considered on a case-by-case basis depending on the facts of the
case, when and where the incident occurred, when it was reported, and the amount of information known
by the Director of Campus Security & Risk and/or Manager, Employee Compliance, or designee). In cases
involving sexual assault, they are often reported long after the incident occurred, thus there is no ability to
distribute a “timely” warning notice to the community. All cases of sexual assault, including stranger and
non-stranger/acquaintance cases, will be assessed for potential issuance of a Timely Warning Notice.

The institution is not required to issue a Timely Warning with respect to crimes reported to a pastoral or
professional counselor.

Notification of an Immediate Threat

If the Environmental, Health, Safety, Security, and Risk Management office confirms, sometimes in
conjunction with campus administrators, local first responders and/or the national weather center, that
there is an emergency or dangerous situation that poses an immediate threat to the health or safety of
some or all members of the WCTC community, Safety and Security will activate emergency notification
procedures. This will provide immediate notification of the threat to the WCTC community or to the
appropriate segment of the community if the threat is limited to a particular building or segment of the
population, The Director of Campus Security & Risk, and the Manager, Employee Compliance, or designee
areresponsible for determining the appropriate segment or segments of the campus communityto receive
a notification. The Director of Campus Security & Risk, backed up by the Manager, Employee Compliance,
or designee of either, will immediately, and consider the safety of the community, determine the content
of the notification based on the nature of the incident, affected people, and places, and initiate
notification.

39



WCTC will, without delay and taking into account the safety of the community, determine the content of
the notification and initiate the notification system, unless issuing a notification will, in the judgment of
the first responders (including, but not limited to: WCTC Security, Local PD, and/or the Local Fire and
Emergency Medical Services), compromise the efforts to assist a victim or to contain, respond to, or
otherwise mitigate the emergency.

In the event of a serious incident that poses an immediate threat to members of the WCTC community,
various systems are in place for communicating information quickly. These are in place so that the campus
community can be immediately notified upon the confirmation of a significant emergency or dangerous
situation involving an immediate threat to the health or safety of students or employees occurring on the
campus. Some or all of these methods of communication may be activated in the event of an immediate
threat to the campus. These methods of communication include WCTC ALERTS, a system that provides
email and/or text message alerts to members of the WCTC community. Students, faculty, and staff are
encouraged to sign up for WCTC ALERTS on Applications site of the WCTC portal (please note that all
student and staff College email addresses are automatically enrolled in WCTC ALERTS). Alerts may be
sent out through the WCTC social media pages as well, including Facebook and Twitter (@WCTC).

Additionally, in emergencies when the campus mass notification system is activated, all college owned
computers and message monitors will be overridden, and the emergency warning message will be
displayed. Employees and students may be kept informed of updates via WCTC Alerts, and the WCTC
website.

If any of these systems fail or the College deems it appropriate, in person communication may be used to
communicate an emergency.

Primary Message

Backup Message

Authority for approving

All College email
to students and
staff

Security & Risk or
designee

Compliance, or
designee

SYSTEM TO USE Creator and Creator and .

_— N and sending messages

Sender/Distributor Sender/Distributor
PRIMARY Director of Campus Manager, Employee Director of Campus
College Mass Sec‘urlty & Risk or Compllance, or Security & Risk, Manager,
Notification designee designee Employee Compliance,
or designee of either

System
SECONDARY Director of Campus Manager, Employee Director of Campus

Security & Risk, Manager,
Employee Compliance,
or designee of either

TERTIARY
WCTC Website

Director of Campus
Security & Risk or
designee

Manager, Employee
Compliance, or
designee

Director of Campus
Security & Risk, Manager,
Employee Compliance,
or designee of either

40




The content of the message will vary depending on the situation. Ata minimum, the messages will describe
the emergency, provide basic instructions to the community, and will direct them to where they can
receive additional information.

The local news media may be utilized to disseminate emergency information to members of the larger
community, including neighbors, parents and other interested parties. The larger community can also
access emergency information via the WCTC homepage and/or social media.

Follow-up information will be distributed using some or all of the identified communication systems
(except fire alarm).

WCTC community members are encouraged to notify Campus Security and Campus Police at the
Pewaukee campus at 262.691.5678 or 262.691.5052, or Waukesha Police at the Waukesha campus
262.524.3831, of any situation or incident on campus that involves a significant emergency or dangerous
situation that may be an immediate or ongoing threat to the health and safety of students, faculty, staff, or
visitors on campus. Campus Security, in cooperation with local police, has the responsibility of
responding to, and summoning the necessary resources, to mitigate, investigate, and document any
situation that may cause a significant emergency or dangerous situation. In addition, Campus Security has
a responsibility to respond to such incidents to determine if the situation does in fact pose a threat to the
community. If so, federal law requires that the institution notify the campus community or the appropriate
segments of the community that may be affected by the situation.

If there is an immediate threat to the health or safety of students or employees occurring on campus, an
institution must follow its emergency notification procedures. An institution that follows its emergency
notification procedures is not required to issue a timely warning based on the same circumstances;
however, the institution must provide adequate follow-up information to the community as needed.

Crisis Management Team
The Crisis Management Team (CMT) is appointed to assist in the safety and security functioning of the
College and is chaired by the Director of Campus Security & Risk.

The following College Officials serve on the CMT:
e President
e Provost & Executive Vice President
e Associate Vice Provost of Student Affairs
e Associate Vice Provost of Academic Affairs
e Vice President of Human Resource Services & Legal Affairs
e Vice President of Administration & Finance
e Chief External Relations & Marketing Officer
e Chief of Staff
e Director of Campus Security & Risk
e Director of District Facilities
e Executive Director of Information Technology Services/CIO

The CMT has the following responsibilities:
e Provide leadership and direction in an emergency situation;

41



e Inthe event of a College emergency, available CMT members will assemble quickly to assess the
situation and decide on appropriate action;

e In a situation prohibiting team assembly, individual CMT members may take appropriate steps to
ensure safety;

e Any member of the CMT, the Director of Campus Security & Risk and PVPD may call for evacuation
of a building, send students and staff to emergency shelters, take other appropriate actions
outlined in the College’s Emergency Response Plan, or initiate contact with law enforcement or
emergency personnel.

The College’s “See Something, Say Something” campaign requires all staff to report crimes to Campus
Police, and/or the Director of Campus Security & Risk. Campus Police are responsible for local law
enforcement. This crime information is included in the Annual Security Report that meets the Clery
Reportable categories.

Emergency Response Guide

The WCTC Emergency Response Plan addresses the College’s response to emergencies by (Ifare
taking an all-hazards approach to both natural and man-made hazards. Individuals should ((‘))
familiarize themselves with the Emergency Response Plan and other preparedness resources
available on the WCTC portal, mywctc.wctc.edu under the Resources tab, Environmental & Safety
Resources, Emergency Information. A quick reference Emergency Procedures guide is available on the
WCTC portal and on College’s computers under the following icon. Each classroom has maps indicating
what to do in the event of most emergencies. This includes shelter locations for severe weather and
evacuation routes and staging areas for fire emergencies. Each classroom also has a summary of
emergency procedures posted by the maps. The Emergency Procedures Guide can be viewed on the
College website. Please review the Emergency Procedures Guide regularly to be prepared in the event of
an emergency.

Planned evacuation drills are typically coordinated by Campus Security each spring and fall semester for
all facilities on both the Pewaukee and Waukesha campuses. Typically, an announced severe weather drill
is conducted each April in conjunction with the State of Wisconsin annual severe weather drill to exercise
severe weather shelter procedures. Students and staff learn the locations of the emergency exits,
assembly areas and shelters within the buildings and are provided guidance about the direction they
should travel when exiting each facility for a building evacuation.

Emergency Evacuation Procedures

The emergency evacuation procedures are typically tested at least twice each year. Students and
employees learn the locations of the emergency exits in the buildings and are provided guidance about the
direction they should travel when exiting each facility for a short-term building evacuation. The WCTC
Security does not tell building occupants in advance about the designated locations for long-term
evacuations because those decisions are affected by time of day, location of the building being evacuated,
the availability of the various designated emergency gathering locations on campus, and other factors
such as the location and nature of the threat. In both cases, WCTC Security staff on the scene will
communicate information to students regarding the developing situation or any evacuation status
changes. WCTC has no residence halls and therefore is not required to do annual fire drills. We do,
however, conduct building evacuation drills. The purpose of evacuation drills is to prepare building
occupants for an organized evacuation in case of a fire or other emergency. At WCTC evacuation drills are
used as a way to educate and train occupants on fire safety issues specific to their building. During the

42


http://mywctc.wctc.edu/

drill, occupants ‘practice’ drill procedures and familiarize themselves with the location of exits and the
sound of the fire alarm.

General Evacuation Procedures

1. Remain Calm and evacuate the building.

2. Immediately activate the nearest fire alarm pull station on your way out of the building.

3. Do NOT use Elevators, Use the Stairs.

4. Assist the physically impaired. If he/she is unable to exit without using an elevator, secure a safe
location near a stairwell, and immediately inform WCTC Security or the responding Fire
Department of the individual's location.

5. Close doors to prevent flames/smoke from spreading and shut down all major equipment in
accordance with fire safety procedures if you can safety do so.

6. Proceed to the designated evacuation staging area. Keep all roadways, fire lanes, etc. clear for
emergency vehicles.

7. Call 911 with any details that you may have of the fire. Notify the Security Desk Attendant (Dial
5055) of the fire and that the fire department has been called.

8. Keep all classes/work groups together while exiting to assure all persons have exited the building
safely.

9. Do notre-enter the building until authorization has been given by the fire department.

Shelter-in-Place Procedures-What it means to “Shelter-in-Place”

If an incident occurs and the buildings or areas around you become unstable, or if the air outdoors
becomes dangerous due to toxic or irritating substances, it is usually safer to stay indoors, because
leaving the area may expose you to that danger. Thus, to “shelter-in-place” means to make a shelter of the
building that you are in, and with a few adjustments this location can be made even safer and more
comfortable untilit is safe to go outside.

Basic “Shelter-in-Place” Guidance

If an incident occurs and the building you are in is not damaged, stay inside in an interior room until you
are told it is safe to come out. If your building is damaged, take your personal belonging (purse, wallet,
access card, etc.) and follow the evacuation procedures for your building (turn off the lights, close your
door, proceed to the nearest exit, and use the stairs instead of the elevators). Once you have evacuated,
seek shelter at the nearest College building quickly. If police or fire department personnel are on the
scene, follow their directions.

How You Will Know to “Shelter-in-Place”

A shelter-in-place notification may come from several sources, Campus Security, Police or Fire
Department Officials other College employees, or other authorities utilizing the College’s emergency
communications tools.

How to “Shelter-in-Place”
No matter where you are, the basic steps of shelter-in-place will generally remain the same. Should the
need ever arise, follow these steps, unless instructed otherwise by local emergency personnel:

1. Ifyou are inside, stay where you are. Collect any Emergency Kits to be used in case of emergency.
Ifyou are outdoors, proceed into the closest building quickly or follow instructions from emergency
personnel on the scene.

2. Locate aroom to shelterinside. It should be:

e Aninterior room;

43



e Above ground level; and
e Without windows or with the least number of windows. If there is a large group of people
inside a particular building, several rooms may be necessary.

Shut and lock all windows (tighter seal) and close exterior doors.

Turn off air conditioners, heaters, and fans.

5. Close vents to ventilation systems as you are able. (College staff will turn off the ventilation as
quickly as possible.)

6. Make alist of the people with you and ask someone (faculty or other staff) to call the listin to WCTC
Security so they know where you are sheltering. If only students are present, one of the students
should callin the list.

7. Turnonaradioor TV and listen for further instructions.

8. Make yourself comfortable.

W

In conjunction with other emergency agencies, the College conducts emergency response drills and
exercises each year. These may include tabletop exercises, and tests of the emergency notification
systems on campus. These tests, which may be announced or unannounced, are designed to assess and
evaluate the emergency plans and capabilities of the institution.

Eachtestis documented and includes a description of the exercise, the date and time of the exercise, and
whether it was announced or unannounced.

Environmental, Health, Safety, Security and Risk Management, volunteer staff members, local police, and
fire officials monitor tests to evaluate evacuation or sheltering participation and behavioral patterns.
Reports are prepared and appropriate documentation is retained by Campus Security for each test that
identifies a description of the exercise, the date, time, and description of the event and whether it was
announced or unannounced, in addition to deficiencies in procedures and equipment so that corrective
actions can be made. Recommendations for improvements are also submitted to the appropriate
departments/offices for consideration. WCTC will publish a summary of its emergency response and
evacuation procedures in conjunction with at least one test each calendar year. Students receive
information about evacuation and shelter-in-place procedures during new student orientation and during
other educational sessions.

The following policies contain additional information on the College’s emergency procedures: HEA-101
Emergency Action Plans; HEA-101-01 School Closing; HEA-101-02 Tornado/Severe Weather; HEA-101-03
Building Evacuations; HEA-101-04 Fires; HEA-101-05 Bomb Threat and Search; and HEA-101-06 Medical
Response.

The College’s Emergency Response Plan also contains additional useful information.

Emergency Medical Response Procedures

Anyone can call 911 for any student, faculty, staff, guest, or other situation requiring immediate attention.
Once 911 has been called, a second call should be placed to the Security Desk (extension 5055) and the
Environment, Health, Safety, Security & Risk Management personnel will activate the WCTC Emergency
Response Team (ERT). Available ERT members will respond to the scene to provide basic first aid, assist
with securing the scene and provide other assistance as needed. The Pewaukee and Waukesha Fire
Departments provide basic and advanced life support to the campuses.

44


https://lum-prod.ec.wctc.edu/documents/10184/853114/HEA+101+Emergency+Action+Plans.pdf/3cafbae3-e0f0-4a8c-9319-8f01023f9618
https://lum-prod.ec.wctc.edu/documents/10184/853114/HEA+101+Emergency+Action+Plans.pdf/3cafbae3-e0f0-4a8c-9319-8f01023f9618
https://lum-prod.ec.wctc.edu/documents/10184/853114/HEA+101-01+School+Closings.pdf/c500ad42-fa93-4637-9d2e-deedecd91da0
https://lum-prod.ec.wctc.edu/documents/10184/853114/HEA+101-02+Tornado+Severe+Weather.pdf/058d40f7-bc0c-49ad-b1f7-de9893fff0b4
https://lum-prod.ec.wctc.edu/documents/10184/853114/HEA+101-03+Building+Evacuations.pdf/ac9bb6bd-9f88-41f8-a410-9dce7eb80a7d
https://lum-prod.ec.wctc.edu/documents/10184/853114/HEA+101-03+Building+Evacuations.pdf/ac9bb6bd-9f88-41f8-a410-9dce7eb80a7d
https://lum-prod.ec.wctc.edu/documents/10184/853114/HEA-101-04-Fires.pdf/b665a637-a22f-41c5-98f9-c5b083fbf208
https://lum-prod.ec.wctc.edu/documents/10184/853114/HEA+101-05+Bomb+Threat+and+Search.pdf/b2cf835b-ad48-42bc-8044-03c44d9c1e8f
https://lum-prod.ec.wctc.edu/documents/10184/853114/HEA+101-06+Medical+Response++rev+08-07-19.pdf/85092e5a-b4b7-4653-9114-0b3ff8c86a1b
https://lum-prod.ec.wctc.edu/documents/10184/853114/HEA+101-06+Medical+Response++rev+08-07-19.pdf/85092e5a-b4b7-4653-9114-0b3ff8c86a1b

Fire Safety Report and Missing Student Notification Procedures
The College is a commuter (non-residential) college. Therefore, these statistics and procedures are not
collected or in existence. They only apply if a College maintains student housing.

Crime Prevention and Security Procedures

WCTC is committed to the provisions of a safe and healthy environment for the protection and wellbeing
of students, staff and visitors and will uphold and enforce all applicable federal, state, local and College
safety laws, rules, and regulations. WCTC provides Student Security Officers who patrol the campus from
7 AM-10:30 PM while classes are in session, with slightly reduced patrol hours between semesters.
Campus risk and security administrators and Campus Police employ additional security staff for special
events as deemed necessary. In addition, a Police Officer from the Pewaukee Village Police Department
patrols as well.

The College posts tips for safety, has informative meetings with Campus Police, Director of Campus
Security & Risk, and the Manager, Employee Compliance brings in speakers to address topics of personal
safety and wellbeing.

Crime prevention and security awareness procedures information is presented during employee
orientations, and periodically during in-service training. At employee orientations, emergency procedures
covered include primary prevention and sexual harassment awareness prevention programs. New
students also receive the sexual harassment prevention information. The orientation includes the
following information:

o Astatement that the College prohibits these and other criminal offenses;

e The definition of the specific offenses

Facilities and security personnel conduct routine inspections and patrol buildings and grounds to identify
and correct deficiencies. Crime prevention is based upon the dual concepts of eliminating or minimizing
criminal opportunities whenever possible and as discussed in the WCTC security awareness
programming, encouraging students and staff to be responsible for their own security and the security of
others.

The following is a list of campus crime prevention tactics that may reduce the risk of becoming a reporting
party:

e Walk on established walkways. At night, walk on lighted walkways.

e Always lock your vehicle.

e Ifoncampusinthe evening, park close to the building in lighted areas and walk with others.

e |tems of value left in vehicles should be placed out of sight.

e Never leave items of value unattended.

e Promptly report any suspicious behavior to Campus Police or Campus Security.

e Do notleave keys, access cards, or valuables unattended.

e Always lock doors in unattended office areas.

¢ Never give out computer passwords.

e Do notclick on attachments or hyperlinks in emails that are unfamiliar to you.

e When working during non-business hours, inform family and colleagues of location and schedule.

e Contact Campus Security for an escort to/from your vehicle or building.

e The College has adopted a policy on closing and locking classroom doors.

45



SEXUAL ASSAULT AND HARASSMENT

Policies and Procedures Related to Dating Violence, Domestic Violence, Sexual Assault, and
Stalking

Waukesha County Technical College prohibits the crimes of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual
assault, and stalking. In an effort to reduce the risk of these crimes occurring among its students, WCTC
utilizes a range of campaigns, strategies and initiatives to provide awareness, and educational, risk
reduction and prevention programming.

Definitions-VAWA
Below are definitions of these crimes, as defined by the Violence against Women Reauthorization Act
(VAWA).

Dating Violence: Violence committed by a person who is or has been in a social relationship of a
romantic or intimate nature with the reporting party.

o The existence of such a relationship shall be based on the reporting party’s statement and
with consideration of the length of the relationship, the type of relationship, and the
frequency of interaction between the persons involved in the relationship.

o Forthe purposes of this definition:

= Dating Violence includes, but is not limited to, sexual or physical abuse or the threat
of such abuse.

= Dating violence does not include acts covered under the definition of domestic
violence.

o For the purposes of complying with the requirements of this section and §668.41, any
incident meeting this definition is considered a crime for the purposes of Clery Act reporting.

Domestic Violence: Felony or misdemeanor crimes committed:

o Bya-currentorformer spouse or intimate partner of the victim under the family or domestic
violence laws of the jurisdiction receiving grant funding and, in the case of victim services,
includes the use or attempted use of physical abuse or sexual abuse, or a pattern of any
other coercive behavior committed, enabled, or solicited to gain or maintain power and
control over a victim, including verbal, psychological, economic, or technological abuse
that may or may not constitute criminal behavior;

o By a person with whom the victim shares a child in common;

o By a person who is cohabitating with or has cohabitated with the victim as a spouse or
intimate partner;

o Byaperson similarly situated to a spouse of the victim under the domestic or familyviolence
laws of the jurisdiction receiving grant monies;

o Orbyany other person against an adult or youth victim who is protected from that person’s
acts under the domestic or family violence laws of the jurisdiction.

Sexual Assault: An offense that meets the definition of rape, fondling, incest, or statutory rape as
used in the FBI’s Uniform Crime Reporting (UCR) program. Per the National Incident-Based
Reporting System User Manual from the FBI UCR Program, a sex offense is “any sexual act directed
against another person, without the consent of the reporting party, including instances where the
reporting party is incapable of giving consent.”

o Rape: The penetration, no matter how slight, of the vagina or anus with any body part or
object, or oral penetration by a sex organ of another person, without the consent of the
reporting party.

o Fondling: The touching of the private parts of another person for the purpose of sexual
gratification, without the consent of the reporting party, including instances where the

46



reporting party is incapable of giving consent because of his/her age, or because of his/her
temporary or permanent mental incapacity.

o Incest: Sexual intercourse between persons who are related to each other within the

degrees of wherein marriage is prohibited by law.

o Statutory Rape: Sexual intercourse with a person who is under the statutory age of consent.
Stalking: Engaging in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a
reasonable person to:

o Fearforthe person’s safety or the safety of others; or

o Suffer substantial emotional distress.

o Forthe purposes of this definition:

= Course of conduct means two or more acts, including, but not limited to, acts which
the stalker directly, indirectly, or through third parties, by any action, method, device,
or means follows, monitors, observes, surveils, threatens, or communicates to or
about, a person, or interferes with a person’s property.

= Reasonable person means a reasonable person under similar circumstances and
with similar identities to the reporting party.

= Substantial emotional distress means significant mental suffering or anguish that
may, but does not necessarily, require medical or other professional treatment or
counseling.

o Forthe purposes of complying with the requirements of this section and section 668.41, any

incident meeting this definition is considered a crime for the purposes of Clery Actreporting.

Definitions-State of Wisconsin
Below are the definitions of these crimes, as defined by the State of Wisconsin statutes.

Domestic Violence (abuse) s. 968.075: Any of the following engaged in by an adult person against
his or her spouse or former spouse, against an adult with whom the person resides or formerly
resided, or against an adult with whom the person has a child in common:
o Intentional infliction of physical pain, physical injury orillness;
o Intentionalimpairment of physical condition;
o Aviolation of felony sexual assault; or
o Aphysical actthat may cause the other person reasonably to fear imminent engagement in
the conduct described under the state definitions of sexual assault.
Dating Violence s. 940.32: The state of Wisconsin does not offer a specific definition on dating
violence but does assist in defining a “dating relationship”. Dating violence, then, can be inferred
as violence between individuals that meet the state’s definition of a dating relationship:
o Dating relationship means a romantic or intimate social relationship between 2 adult
individuals, but does notinclude a casualrelationship, or an ordinary fraternization between
2 individuals in a business or social context. A court shall determine if a dating relationship
existed by considering the length of the relationship, the type of the relationship, and the
frequency of the interaction between the adult individuals involved in the relationship.
Sexual Assault s. 940.225:
o First-degree sexual assault.
e (a) Has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with another person without consent of
that person and causes pregnancy or great bodily harm to that person.
= (b) Has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with another person without consent of
that person by use or threat of use of a dangerous weapon or any article used or
fashioned in a manner to lead the reporting party reasonably to believe it to be a
dangerous weapon.

47



(c) Is aided or abetted by one or more other persons and has sexual contact or sexual
intercourse with another person without consent of that person by use or threat of
force orviolence.

o Second-degree sexual assault.

(a) Has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with another person without consent of
that person by use or threat of force or violence.

(b) Has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with another person without consent of
that person and causes injury, illness, disease or impairment of a sexual or
reproductive organ, or mental anguish requiring psychiatric care for the reporting
party.

(c) Has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with a person who suffers from a mental
illness or deficiency which renders that person temporarily or permanently incapable
of appraising the person's conduct, and the defendant knows of such condition.
(cm) Has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with a person who is under the
influence of an intoxicant to a degree which renders that person incapable of giving
consent if the defendant has actual knowledge that the person is incapable of giving
consent and the defendant has the purpose to have sexual contact or sexual
intercourse with the person while the person is incapable of giving consent.

(d) Has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with a person who the defendant knows
is unconscious.

(f) Is aided or abetted by one or more other persons and has sexual contact or sexual
intercourse with another person without the consent of that person.

(g) Is an employee of a facility or program under s. 940.295 (2) (b), (c), (h) or (k) and
has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with a person who is a patient or resident of
the facility or program.

(h) Has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with an individual who is confined in a
correctional institution if the actor is a correctional staff member. This paragraph
does not apply if the individual with whom the actor has sexual contact or sexual
intercourse is subject to prosecution for the sexual contact or sexual intercourse
under this section.

(i) Has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with an individual who is on probation,
parole, or extended supervision if the actor is a probation, parole, or extended
supervision agent who supervises the individual, either directly or through a
subordinate, in his or her capacity as a probation, parole, or extended supervision
agentorwho hasinfluenced or has attempted to influence another probation, parole,
or extended supervision agent's supervision of the individual. This paragraph does
not apply if the individual with whom the actor has sexual contact or sexual
intercourse is subject to prosecution for the sexual contact or sexual intercourse
under this section.

(j) Is a licensee, employee, or non-client resident of an entity, as defined in s. 48.685
(1) (b) or 50.065 (1) (c), and has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with a client of
the entity.

o Third degree sexual assault. Whoever has sexual contactin the manner described in sub. (5)
(b) 2. Or 3. With a person without the consent of that person.
o Fourth degree sexual assault. Whoever has sexual contact with a person without the
consent of that person.
e Stalking s. 940.32: A series of 2 or more acts carried out over time, however short or long, that show

a continuity of purpose, including any of the following:

48


http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/940.225(2)(a)
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/940.295(2)(b)
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/940.295(2)(c)
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/940.295(2)(h)
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/940.295(2)(k)
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/48.685(1)(b)
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/48.685(1)(b)
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/50.065(1)(c)
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/940.225(3)
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/940.225(5)(b)2.
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/940.225(5)(b)2.
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/940.225(5)(b)3.
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/940.225(3m)

o Maintaining a visual or physical proximity to the reporting party;
o Approaching or confronting the reporting party;
o Appearing at the reporting party’s workplace or contacting the reporting party’s employer or
coworkers;
o Appearing at the reporting party’s home or contacting the reporting party’s neighbors;
Entering property owned, leased, or occupied by the reporting party; or
o Contacting the reporting party by telephone or causing the reporting party’s telephone or
any other person’s telephone to ring repeatedly or continuously, regardless of whether a
conversation ensues.
e Consent: Words or overt actions by a person who is competent to give informed consent indicating
a freely given agreement to have sexual intercourse or sexual contact.

@)

Definition-Waukesha County Technical College

Consent: Consent is knowing, voluntary, and clear permission by words or actions to engage in mutually
agreed upon sexual activity. Since individuals may experience the same interaction in different ways, it is
the responsibility of each party to make certain that the other has consented before engaging in the
activity. For consent to be valid, there must be a clear expression in words or actions that the other
individual consented to that specific sexual conduct. Consent can be withdrawn once given, as long as
the withdrawal is clearly communicated.

Consent to some sexual contact (such as kissing or fondling) cannot be presumed to be consent for other
sexual activity (such asintercourse). A current or previous dating relationship is not sufficient to constitute
consent. The existence of consent is based on the totality of the circumstances, including the contextin
which the alleged incident occurred and any similar previous patterns that may be evidenced.

Silence or the absence of resistance alone is not consent. There is no requirement on a party to resist the
sexual advance or request, but resistance is a clear demonstration of non-consent. The presence of
consent is not demonstrated by the absence of resistance. Sexual activity that is forced is by definition
nonconsensual, but nonconsensual sexual activity is not by definition forced.

Consent for sexual contact cannot legally be given if an individual is under the age of 18, is incapacitated
dueto alcohol or other drugs, is unconscious or asleep, or has limited mental capacity. Consentis a clear
yes, not the absence of no.

Consentis positive cooperation involving an act of free will, absence of coercion, intimidation, force or the
threat of force. A person cannot give consent if he or she is unable to understand what is going on.

There must always be active consent among involved persons. Consent to one event or action does not
imply consent to another. If limits are made clear and consent is not given, pressuring someone into
changing their mind is not consent.

e Consentis based on choice.

e Consentis active, not passive. Silence and passivity do not equal consent.

e Consentis possible only when there is equal power.

e Givingin because of fear is not consent.

e Givingin or going along with someone to gain approval or to avoid being hurtis not consent.

e Consent means two (or more) people deciding together to do the same thing, at the same time, in

the same way, with each other.

49



It is the intent of Waukesha County Technical College to provide an institutional environment where all
persons may pursue their studies, careers, duties and activities in an atmosphere free from threat of
unwelcome and unwanted sexual actions.

How to Be an Active Bystander
Bystanders play a critical role in the prevention of sexual and relationship violence. They are “individuals
who observe violence or witness the conditions that perpetuate violence. They are not directly involved
but have the choice to intervene, speak up, or do something about it.”" We want to promote a culture of
community accountability where bystanders are actively engaged in the prevention of violence without
causing further harm. We may not always know what to do even if we want to help. Below is a list? of some
ways to be an active bystander. Further information regarding bystander intervention may be found by
clicking on the following resources: Bystander Intervention Resources & Bystander Tips & Scenarios. If you
or someone else is in immediate danger, dial 911. This could be when a person is yelling at or being
physically abusive towards another and it is not safe for you to interrupt.

1. Watch out for your friends and fellow students/employees. If you see someone who looks like they

could be in trouble or need help, ask if they are ok.

2. Confront people who seclude, hit on, try to make out with, or have sex with people who are
incapacitated.
Speak up when someone discusses plans to take sexual advantage of another person.
Believe someone who discloses sexual assault, abusive behavior, or experience with stalking.
5. Refer people to on or off campus resources listed in this document for support in health,

counseling, or with legal assistance.

P w

Risk Reduction

With no intent to reporting party blame and recognizing that only abusers are responsible for their abuse,

the following are some strategies to reduce one’s risk of sexual assault or harassment (taken from Rape,

Abuse, & Incest National Network, www.rainn.org)

1. Be aware of your surroundings. Knowing where you are and who is around you may help you to find
a way to get out of a bad situation.
2. Tryto avoid isolated areas. It is more difficult to get help if no one is around.

Walk with purpose. Even if you don’t know where you are going, act like you do.

Trust your instincts. If a situation or location feels unsafe or uncomfortable, it probably isn’t the

best place to be.

Try not to load yourself down with packages or bags as this can make you appear more vulnerable.

Make sure your cell phone is with you and charged and that you have cab money.

Don't allow yourself to be isolated with someone you don’t trust or someone you don’t know.

Avoid putting music headphones in both ears so that you can be more aware of your

surroundings, especially if you are walking alone.

9. When you go to a social gathering, go with a group of friends. Arrive together, checkin with each
other throughout the evening, and leave together. Knowing where you are and who is around you
may help you to find a way out of a bad situation.

10. Trust your instincts. If you feel unsafe in any situation, go with your gut. If you see something
suspicious, contact law enforcement immediately (local authorities can be reached by calling 911
in most areas of the U.S.).

P w

® N> ;

1 Burn, S.M. (2009). A situational model of sexual assault prevention through bystander intervention. Sex Roles, 60, 779-792.

2 Bystander intervention strategies adapted from Stanford College’s Office of Sexual Assault & Relationship Abuse

50


https://www.nsvrc.org/bystander-intervention-resources
https://nomore.org/learn/bystander-scenarios/

11. Don't leave your drink unattended while talking, dancing, using the restroom, or making a phone
call. If you’ve left your drink alone, just get a new one.

12. Don't accept drinks from people you don't know or trust. If you choose to accept a drink, go with
the person to the bar to order it, watch it being poured, and carry it yourself. At parties, don’t drink
from the punch bowls or other large, common open containers.

13. Watch out for your friends, and vice versa. If a friend seems out of it, is way too intoxicated for
the amount of alcohol they’ve had, or is acting out of character, get him or her to a safe place
immediately.

14. If you suspect you or a friend has been drugged, contact law enforcement immediately (local
authorities can be reached by calling 911 in most areas of the U.S.). Be explicit with doctors so
they can give you the correct tests (you will need a urine test and possibly others).

15. If you need to get out of an uncomfortable or scary situation here are some things that you can try:

a) Remember that being in this situation is not your fault. You did not do anything wrong; it
is the person who is making you uncomfortable that is to blame.

b) Be true to yourself. Don't feel obligated to do anything you don't want to do. "l don't want
to" is always a good enough reason. Do what feels right to you and what you are comfortable
with.

c) Have a code word with your friends or family so that if you don’t feel comfortable you can
call them and communicate your discomfort without the person you are with knowing. Your
friends or family can then come to get you or make up an excuse for you to leave.

d) Lie.Ifyou don’t wantto hurtthe person’s feelings it is better to lie and make up a reason to
leave than to stay and be uncomfortable, scared, or worse. Some excuses you could use
are: needing to take care of a friend or family member, not feeling well, having somewhere
else thatyou need to be, etc.

16. Try to think of an escape route. How would you try to get out of the room? Where are the doors?
Windows? Are there people around who might be able to help you?

17.1f you and/or the other person have been drinking, you can say that you would rather wait until
you both have your full judgment before doing anything you may regret later.

Programs to Prevent Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault and Stalking
The College engages in comprehensive, intentional, and integrated programming, initiatives, strategies,
and campaigns intended to end dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault and stalking that:

e Are culturally relevant, inclusive of diverse communities and identities, sustainable, responsive to
community needs, and informed by research, or assessed for value, effectiveness, or outcome;
and

e Consider environmental risk and protective factors as they occur on the individual, relationship,
institutional, community and societal levels.

Educational programming consists of primary prevention and awareness programs for all incoming
students and new employees and ongoing awareness and prevention campaigns for students and that:
e A statement that the institution prohibits the crimes of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual
assault and stalking (as defined by the Clery Act);
e The definitions of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault and stalking according to any
applicable jurisdictional definitions of these terms;
e What behavior and actions constitute consent, in reference to sexual activity, in the State of
Wisconsin;
e The institution’s definition of consent AND the purposes for which that definition is used.

51



A description of safe and positive options for bystander intervention. Bystander intervention means safe
and positive options that may be carried out by an individual or individuals to prevent harm or intervene
when there is a risk of dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault or stalking.

Bystander intervention includes:

e Recognizing situations of potential harm, understanding institutional structures and cultural
conditions that facilitate violence, overcoming barriers to intervening, identifying safe and effective
intervention options, and taking action to intervene.

e Information on risk reduction. Risk reduction means options designed to decrease perpetration
and bystander inaction, and to increase empowerment for victims in order to promote safety and
to help individuals and communities address conditions that facilitate violence.

e Information regarding:

(@)

procedures victims should follow if a crime of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual
assault and stalking occurs (as described in “Procedures Victims Should Follow if a Crime
of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault and Stalking Occurs” elsewhere in
this document);

how the institution will protect the confidentiality of victims and other necessary parties (as
described in “Assistance for Victims: Rights and Options” elsewhere in this document);
existing counseling, health, mental health, victim advocacy, legal assistance, visa and
immigration assistance, student financial aid, and other services available for victims, both
within the institution and in the community (as described in “Assistance for Victims: Rights
and Options” elsewhere in this document);

options for, available assistance in, and how to request changes to academic, living,
transportation, and working situations or protective measures (as described in “Assistance
for Victims: Rights and Options” elsewhere in this document); and

procedures for institutional disciplinary action in cases of alleged dating violence, domestic
violence, sexual assault, or stalking (as described in “Adjudication of Violations” elsewhere
in this document).

Primary Prevention and Awareness Programs
The College offered the following primary prevention and awareness programs for all incoming
students in 2024:

Which Prohibited

Name of Program Date Held Location Held ]
Behavior* Covered?
Title IX/Sexual Misconduct Pewaukee &
Webpage 2024 Waukesha Campuses DoV; DaV; SA; S
Sexual Misconduct Pewaukee &
Brochure 2024 Waukesha Campuses SA
360 Stay Safe Training 2024 Online DoV; DaV; SA; S
New Student Orientation 2024 Online SA
Safety and Security Pewaukee & )
Brochure 2024 Waukesha Campuses SA;S

*DoV means Domestic Violence, DaV means Dating Violence, SA means Sexual Assault and S means

Stalking

52



The College offered the following primary prevention and awareness programs for all new employees
in 2024:

Which Prohibited

Name of Program Date Held Location Held )
Behavior* Covered?
Title IX/Sexual Misconduct Pewaukee &
Webpage 2024 Waukesha Campuses DoV; DaV; SA; S
Sexual Misconduct Pewaukee &
Brochure 2024 Waukesha Campuses SA
NEOEd Online Training 2024 Online DoV; DaV; SA; S
New Adjunct Instructor 2024 Online DoV; DaV; SA; S
Orientation (self-paced)
New Employee Orientation 2024 C-214/216 SA
Safety and Security Pewaukee & )
Brochure 2024 Waukesha Campuses SA;S

*DoV means Domestic Violence, DaV means Dating Violence, SA means Sexual Assault and S means
Stalking

Ongoing Prevention and Awareness Campaigns

Waukesha County Technical College prohibits the crimes of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual
assault, and stalking as defined by the Violence against Women Act (VAWA). In an effort to reduce the risk
of these crimes occurring among its students, WCTC utilizes a range of campaigns, strategies and
initiatives to provide awareness, educational, risk reduction and prevention programming. We continue to
raise awareness through programs that are offered in April during Sexual Assault Awareness Month, and
in October during National Campus Safety Month. These offerings include an “/t’s On Us” campaign,
viewing of documentaries centered around sexual assaults, campus awareness walks, and wearing teal
pins during April to increase awareness.

WCTC implemented campus-wide Title IX training to increase awareness and prevent claims of domestic
violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking. We also provide training to disseminate
information on the process of reporting occurrences. Materials are provided to students at each New
Student Orientation. Training sessions are held for new employees at New Employee Onboarding.
Annually, all College employees are required to complete the online Harassment Prevention for
Employees and the Title IX, The Clery Act, and VAWA trainings in NEOEd. Students are encouraged to
complete the Title IX Stay Safe 360 online training.

The College offered the following educational, awareness, and prevention programs for students in
2024:

Which Prohibited

Name of Program Date Held Location Held .
Behavior* Covered?
Stay Safe 360 Online Calendar Year Online DoV, DaV, SA, S
Training

National Stalking Awareness Building C Display
Month Display Case Case
Clothesline Project April 2024 Building C Stairwell DoV, DaV, SA

January 2024 S

53



Clothesline P!‘OjeCt Shirt April 2024 Multicultural DoV, DaV, SA
Creation Engagement Center
Sexual Assault Awareness . Building C Display
Month Display Case April 2024 Case DoV, DaV, SA
Denim Day Walk April 24, 2024 Around Campus DoV, DaV, SA
Domestic Violence - .
Awareness Month Display October 2024 Buﬂdm(g)i?splay DoV, DaV, SA, S
Case

*DoV means Domestic Violence, DaV means Dating Violence, SA means Sexual Assault and S means
Stalking

The College offered the following educational, awareness, and prevention programs for employees in
2024:

Which Prohibited

Name of Program Date Held Location Held .
Behavior* Covered?
. April 1-September .
Harassment Prevention 15, 2024 Online DoV, DaV, SA, S
Title IX, The Clery Act, and April 1-September .
VAWA 15, 2024 Online DoV, DaV, SA, S
National Stalking Awareness Building C Display
Month Display Case January 2024 Case S
Clothesline Project April 2024 Building C Stairwell DoV, DaV, SA
Clothesline P!‘OjeCt Shirt April 2024 Multicultural DoV, DaV, SA
Creation Engagement Center
Sexual Assault Awareness . Building C Display
Month Display Case April 2024 Case DoV, DaV, SA
Media, Sexual Violence, & April 3, 2024 C053/C055 DoV, DaV, SA
Systems of Oppression
Denim Day Walk April 24, 2024 Around Campus DoV, DaV, SA
Movie: Flirting with Danger April 29, 2024 C053/C055 DoV, DaV, SA
Domestic Violence - .
Awareness Month Display October 2024 Buﬂdm(g)i?splay DoV, DaV, SA, S
Case

*DoV means Domestic Violence, DaV means Dating Violence, SA means Sexual Assault and S means
Stalking

Procedures Reporting Party(s) Should Follow if a Crime of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence,
Sexual Assault and Stalking Occurs

After an incident of sexual assault, dating violence or domestic violence, the victim should consider
seeking medical attention as soon as possible at a forensic examiner location listed below. Sexual Assault
Forensic Examiner (SAFE) exams are available at no cost. In Wisconsin, evidence may be collected even if
you chose not to make a report to law enforcement.

It is important that a victim of sexual assault not bathe, douche, smoke, change clothing or clean the
bed/linen/area where they were assaulted if the offense occurred within the past 96 hours so thatevidence
may be preserved that may assist in proving that the alleged criminal offense occurred/or is occurring or

54



may be helpful in obtaining a protection order. In circumstances of sexual assault, if victims do not opt for
forensic evidence collection, health care providers can still treat injuries and take steps to address
concerns of pregnancy and/or sexually transmitted infections. Victims of sexual assault, domestic
violence, stalking, and dating violence are encouraged to also preserve evidence by saving text messages,
instant messages, social networking pages, other communications, and keeping pictures, logs or other
copies of documents, if they have any, that would be useful to College adjudicators/investigators or
police.

SEXUAL ASSAULT FORENSIC EXAMINER LOCATIONS FOR DODGE, JEFFERSON, & WAUKESHA

COUNTIES
Aurora Medical Center in Summit Aurora West Allis/West Allis Memorial
36500 Aurora Dr. 8901 W. Lincoln Avenue
53066 Oconomowoc, WI 53227 West Allis, WI
Emergency Department: Emergency Department:
920-541-5433 414-219-5555
New Berlin: Moorland Reserve Emergency Department Aurora Sinai Medical Center
4805 S. Moorland Road 945 N 12th St
53151 New Berlin, WI 53233 Milwaukee, WI
Emergency Department: Emergency Department:
262-796-0001 414-219-5555
Menominee Falls: Community Memorial Hospital Aurora Lakeland Medical Center
W180 N8085 Town Hall Road W3985 County Road Nn
53051 Menominee Falls, WI 53121 Elkhorn, WI
Emergency Department: Emergency Department:
262-257-3100 262-741-2120
Froedtert Emergency Room Aurora Burlington Medical Center
9200 W. Wisconsin Ave 252 McHenry St.
53226 Milwaukee, WI 53105 Burlington, WI
Emergency Department: Emergency Department:
414-805-0000 262-767-6100

Waukesha Memorial Hospital
725 American Ave
53188 Waukesha, WI

As time passes, evidence may dissipate or become lost or unavailable, thereby making investigation,
possible prosecution, disciplinary proceedings, or obtaining protection from abuse orders related to the
incident more difficult. If avictim chooses not to make a complaint regarding an incident, he or she should
consider speaking with Campus Public Safety or other law enforcement to preserve evidence in the event
that the victim decides to report the incident to law enforcement or the College at a later date to assistin
proving that the alleged criminal offense occurred or that may be helpful in obtaining a protection order.

WCTC is committed to handling complaints as promptly and effectively as possible. A standardized
complaint form is available online to students, employees and stakeholders via WCTC’s public website
Discrimination, Harassment, Retaliation, & Sexual Assault Misconduct Complaint Form. To reduce
reporting hurdles and accommodate reporting party(s), WCTC does not require the Complaint Form to be

55


https://cm.maxient.com/reportingform.php?WaukeshaCTC&layout_id=6

completed, rather individuals are simply asked to detail the nature of the complaint in writing. Upon
submission, the reporting party is notified via e-mail that the report has been received.

Once a complaint is received, the Deputy Title IX Coordinators (Dean of Students & Director of Talent
Strategy) take the lead on investigating the case. The Manager, Employee Compliance meets with the
Deputy Title IX Coordinators to discuss the status of the case and ensure that the investigators are staying
on task and meeting the 60-day proposed timeline directed by OCR. If the Deputy Title IX Coordinators are
not able to conduct the investigation, then investigators from a pool of Human Resource Services and
Student Life staff will serve as the investigation team.

e Informal Procedure: Whenever possible, the person should attempt to resolve the issue directly
with the person involved. If they are not comfortable in doing so, they may seek the assistance of a
third party to intervene on their behalf.

e Formal Procedure: If the student or employee believes that the issue is still not resolved to his or
her satisfaction, the student or employee should contact one of the Deputy Title IX Coordinators
(Dean of Students & Director of Talent Strategy), to discuss the concerns and what response the
student or employee wants from the College. A formal complaint of discrimination or harassment
may be filed no later than 300 days following the alleged incident of discrimination or harassment.

If, after the informal discussion, the student or employee decides to file a formal complaint, the following
action should be taken:
e Aformal complaint should be in writing and detail the facts and circumstances that are the basis
for the complaint and identify the individual(s), procedures(s) or practice(s) at WCTC responsible
for the alleged discrimination or harassment. The written complaint must be filed no later than 300
days following the alleged incident of discrimination, harassment, or retaliation and should be
submitted to one of the Deputy Title IX Coordinators (Dean of Students & Director of Talent
Strategy), for follow-up and investigation. All reasonable efforts will be made to complete an
investigation, determine findings, and recommend action(s) to be taken within a timely manner.
The administrative person shall issue a written finding identifying the result of his/her review,
including, but not limited to, identifying any formal or informal resolution and any formal
determination which the investigating administrator has made.

The Manager, Employee Compliance is the person responsible to ensure compliance regarding Title IX of
the Education Amendments Act of 1972.

Each party is allowed to have an advocate/advisor of their choice present with them for all meetings and
proceedings, from intake through to final determination. The parties may select whomever they wish to
serve as their advocate/advisor as long as the advocate/advisor is eligible and available, and usually
otherwise not involved in the resolution process, such as serving as a witness. The advocate/advisor may
be a friend, mentor, family member, attorney or any other supporter a party chooses to advise them who
is available and eligible. Witnesses cannot also serve as advocates/advisors. The parties may choose
advocates/advisors from inside or outside the campus community.

Reporting Incidents of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault and Stalking

If you have been the reporting party of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking, you
should report the incident promptly to the following person by calling, writing or coming into the office to
report in person (if the reporting party so desires).

56



Manager, Employee Compliance/Title IX Coordinator
Waukesha County Technical College

800 Main Street

C-217

Pewaukee, WI 53072

262.695.3481 (office) or compliance@wctc.edu

Reports of all domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault and stalking made to Campus Public
Safety will automatically be referred to the Title IX Coordinator for investigation regardless of if the
reporting party chooses to pursue criminal charges.

Involvement of Law Enforcement and Campus Authorities

Although the College strongly encourages all members of its community to report violations of this policy
to law enforcement (including on campus law enforcement and/or local police), it is the victim’s choice
whether or not to make such a report. Furthermore, victims have the right to decline to notify law
enforcement. However, Campus Security, Manager, Employee Compliance, or Director of Campus
Security & Risk, will assist any victim with notifying law enforcement if the victim desires. The Village of
Pewaukee Police Department may also be reached directly by calling 262.691.5678, or in person at 235
Hickory Street, Pewaukee, WI 53072. Additional information about the Village of Pewaukee Police
department may be found online at: https://www.villageofpewaukee.com/police-department.

Off-Campus Reporting

e Ifyou are not safe or if you need immediate help please call 911.

e Wisconsin’s 211 line offers free direction to local human service agencies.

e Waukesha Memorial Hospital offers Waukesha County’s sexual assault program. A Sexual Assault
Nurse Examiner (SANE) is on-call 24 hours a day through the hospital’s emergency room.
(262.928.2000)

¢ In Milwaukee County, the Aurora Sinai and Aurora West Allis Medical Center locations offer Sexual
Assault Treatment Centers. They can also be reached via phone at 414.219.5555.

e The Waukesha Women’s Center offers a 24-hour hotline (262.542.3828) as well as services and
support for reporting party(s) of sexual assault, abuse, and domestic violence.

e The National Sexual Assault Hotline, sponsored by RAINN (Rape, Abuse and Incest National
Network), can be reached at 1.800.656.HOPE.

On-Campus Reporting

e Ifyou are not safe or if you need immediate help please call 911.

e While on campus, employees and students may call 262.691.5582 for Campus Police.

e WCTC’s on-campus Counselors (C-021) are available to provide support and counseling for
students free of charge.

e Licensed Professional Counselors (LPCs) at the college may be considered confidential reporting
resources.

e Inthe Student Life Office (C-121), students may speak to the Deputy Title IX Coordinator (Dean of
Students) about filing a report or receiving direction to services.

e In the Human Resource Services Office (C-217), employees may speak to the Deputy Title IX
Coordinator (Director of Talent Strategy) about filing a report or receiving direction to services.

57


mailto:compliance@wctc.edu
https://www.villageofpewaukee.com/police-department

Seek out a campus employee to assist you in getting appropriate help. For more information on related
polices and resources, visit Sexual Misconduct Policies & Resources.

Procedures the College Will Follow When a Crime of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual
Assault, and Stalking is Reported

The College has procedures in place that serve to be sensitive to reporting parties who report sexual
assault, domestic violence, dating violence, and stalking.

This includes informing individuals of the following:
e Theirright to file criminal charges;
o The availability of counseling, health, mental health, reporting party advocacy, legal assistance,
visa and immigration assistance and other services on and/or off campus;
¢ Additional remedies to prevent contact between a reporting party and an accused party, such as
academic, protective orders, transportation and working accommodations, if reasonably
available.

The College will make such accommodations, if the reporting party requests them and if they are
reasonable and available, regardless of whether the reporting party chooses to report the crime to
Campus Police or local law enforcement. Students and employees should contact the Manager,
Employee Compliance to inquire about accommodations.

If areport of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault or stalkingis reported to the College, below
are the procedures that the College will follow:

Incident Being

Reported Procedure Institution Will Follow

Sexual Assault v' Depending on when reported (immediate vs delayed report), WCTC will

provide reporting party with access to medical care

v' WCTC will provide written information to reporting party on how to
preserve evidence

v WCTC will assess immediate safety needs of reporting party

v' WCTC will assist reporting party with contacting local police if reporting
party requests AND provide the reporting party with contact information
for local police department

v' WCTC will provide reporting party with referrals to on and off campus
mental health providers

v' WCTC will assess need to implement interim or long-term protective
measures, if appropriate

v' WCTC will provide the reporting party with a written explanation of the
reporting party’s rights and options

v" WCTC will provide a “No trespass” (PNG) directive to accused party, if
deemed appropriate

v" WCTC will provide written instructions on how to apply for Protective
Order

v' WCTC will provide a copy of the policy applicable to Sexual Assault to the
reporting party and inform the reporting party regarding timeframes for
inquiry, investigation and resolution

58


http://www.wctc.edu/sexual-misconduct

Stalking

Dating Violence

Domestic Violence

WCTC will inform the reporting party of the outcome of the investigation,
whether or not the accused will be administratively charged

WCTC will enforce the anti-retaliation policy and take immediate and
separate action against parties that retaliate against a person for
complaining of sex-based discrimination or for assisting in the
investigation

WCTC will assess immediate safety needs of reporting party

WCTC will assist reporting party with contacting local police if reporting
party requests AND provide the reporting party with contact information
for local police department

WCTC will provide written instructions on how to apply for Protective
Order

WCTC will provide written information to reporting party on how to
preserve evidence

WCTC will assess need to implement interim or long-term protective
measures to protect the reporting party, if appropriate

WCTC will provide the reporting party with a written explanation of the
reporting party’s rights and options

WCTC will provide a “No trespass” (PNG) directive to accused party if
deemed appropriate

WCTC will assess immediate safety needs of reporting party

WCTC will assist reporting party with contacting local police if reporting
party requests AND provide the reporting party with contact information
for local police department

WCTC will provide written instructions on how to apply for Protective
Order

WCTC will provide written information to reporting party on how to
preserve evidence

WCTC will assess need to implement interim or long-term protective
measures to protect the reporting party, if appropriate

WCTC will provide the reporting party with a written explanation of the
reporting party’s rights and options

WCTC will provide a “No trespass” (PNG) directive to accused party if
deemed appropriate

WCTC will assess immediate safety needs of reporting party

WCTC will assist reporting party with contacting local police if reporting
party requests AND reporting party provided with contact information for
local police department

WCTC will provide written instructions on how to apply for Protective
Order

WCTC will provide written information to reporting party on how to
preserve evidence

WCTC will assess need to implement interim or long-term protective
measures to protect the reporting party, if appropriate

WCTC will provide the reporting party with a written explanation of the
reporting party’s rights and options

WCTC will provide a “No trespass” (PNG) directive to accused party if
deemed appropriate

59



Assistance for Reporting Party(s): Rights & Options
Regardless of whether a reporting party elects to pursue a criminal complaint or whether the offense is
alleged to have occurred on or off campus, the College will assist reporting party(s) of sexual assault,
domestic violence, dating violence, and stalking and will provide each reporting party with a written
explanation of their rights and options. Such written information will include:
e the procedures reporting party(s) should follow if a crime of dating violence, domestic violence,
sexual assault or stalking has occurred;
e information about how the institution will protect the confidentiality of reporting party(s) and other
necessary parties;
e a statement that the institution will provide written notification to students and employees about
reporting party services within the institution and in the community;
e a statement regarding the institution’s provisions about options for available assistance in, and
how to request accommodations and protective measures; and
e an explanation of the procedures for institutional disciplinary action.

Restraining Orders/Orders of Protection

Any student who has a restraining order or other order of protection against another person is encouraged
to provide a copy of any temporary, protective or restraining order which is granted, as well as a copy of
any protective or restraining order which is made permanent to the Director of Campus Security & Risk,
Dean of Students, or designee of either. Both departments will work with the student(s) involved with any
of the previously mentioned orders to create a safety plan.

Rights of Reporting Party(s) and the Institution's Responsibilities for Orders of Protection, “No
Contact” Orders, Restraining Orders, or Similar Lawful Orders Issued by a Criminal, Civil, or Tribal
Court or by the Institution

WCTC complies with Wisconsin’s state law in recognizing orders of protection. Any person who obtains
an order of protection should provide a copy to the Director of Campus Security & Risk, Dean of Students,
or designee of either. A reporting party may then meet with Campus Security and Campus Police to
develop a Safety Action Plan, which is a plan for Campus Police, Campus Security and the reporting party
to reduce risk of harm while on campus or coming and going from campus. This plan may include, butin
not limited to: escorts, special parking arrangements, changing classroom location or allowing a student
to complete assignments from home, counseling services and other supports and services. The College’s
Director of Campus Security & Risk, or Campus Police will assist in any needed advocacy for students who
wish to obtain a legal order of protection, no contact order or restraining order from local authorities.

Orders of protection Have order of protection Notify Police
enforced

No contact orders Have no contact order enforced Notify Police

Restraining orders Have restraining order enforced Notify Police

60



Similar lawful orders issued by a
criminal, civil, or tribal court

Have orders enforced

Notify Police

The reporting party is required to apply directly for these services with the Director of Campus Security &
Risk or Campus Police. Protection from abuse orders may be available through local authorities.

SAMPLE CHART DEMONSTRATING TYPES OF ORDERS AVAILABLE IN VARIOUS JURISDICTIONS

Type of Order: __|Who Can File For One:

Domestic Family or household members

Violence including:

Civil Protection e Spouses, former spouses

Order-up to 5 e Parent, child, foster parent

years e People who have kids toget

her

Intimate partners who lived

together in the last 5 years

e Same sex couples are eligi
ble

Any person who is a reporting
party of stalking.

No relationship with stalker
is required.

Can be renewed o
*%*

Stalking
Protection
Order-up to 5
VEELE]

Can be renewed**

Sexually Oriented

Any person who was a reporting

Offense party of a sexually oriented

Protection offense (see ORC2950.01). No

Order-up to 5 relationship with

Years offender is required. Case does
not have to be criminally

Can be prosecuted.

renewed**

Juvenile Reporting

Protection
Order-until abuser
reaches age 19

party of abuse by a person who
is under age 18, or the reporting
party’s parent or other
household member, or other
parties the Court approves.

Domestic Relations Court

where reporting
party lives,

where abuser lives or has

a business, or where
incident(s) occurred

Common Pleas Court-
where reporting

party lives (if

family or household
member, can be filed as
DV Protection Order (see
above)

Common Pleas Court-
where reporting

party lives

Juvenile Court-
where reporting
party lives

Accommodations and Protective Measures Available for Reporting Party(s)
Upon receipt of a report of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault or stalking, WCTC will
provide written notification to students and employees about accommodations available to them. WCTC
will implement initial remedial, responsive, and/or protective actions upon notice of domestic violence,
dating violence, sexual assault, stalking, harassment, retaliation, and/or discrimination. Such actions

61

Causing or trying to
cause injury or placing
someone in fear of
imminent serious harm
(Courts use different
requirements for how
recent the incident
must be)

Pattern of conduct (2 or
more events),

Closely related in time,
that causes distress or
makes a reporting party
believe the stalker will
cause harm

Sexual assault or
unwanted sexual
contact (see ORC
2950.01)

Assault, stalking, sexual
offenses, threats of
harm or aggravated
trespass



could include but are not limited to protective orders (including no contact orders), providing counseling
and/or medical services, academic support, living, transportation, visa and immigration assistance,
student financial aid counseling, providing a campus escort, academic or work schedule and assignment
accommodations, safety planning, and referral to campus and community support resources.

WCTC will take additional prompt remedial and/or disciplinary action with respect to any member of the
community, guest, or visitor upon a finding that they have engaged in harassing or discriminatory behavior
or retaliation.

Atthevictim’s request, and to the extent of the victim’s cooperation and consent, College offices will work
cooperatively to assist the victim in obtaining accommodations. If reasonably available, a victim may be
offered changes to academic, living, working, protective measures or transportation situations regardless
of whether the victim chooses to report the crime to campus police or local law enforcement. Examples
of options for a potential change to the academic situation may be to transfer to a different section of a
class, withdraw and take a class at another time if there is no option for moving to a different section, etc.
Potential changes to living situations may include moving to a different room or residence hall. Possible
changes to work situations may include changing working hours. Possible changes in transportation may
include having the student or employee park in a different location, assisting the student or employee with
a safety escort, etc.

To request changes to academic coursework, or information about protective measures, or to receive
assistance inrequesting these accommodations, areporting party should contact the Manager, Employee
Compliance at 262.695.3481 or compliance@wctc.edu.

On and Off Campus Services for Reporting Party(s)

Upon receipt of a report of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault or stalking, WCTC will
provide written notification to students and employees about existing assistance with and/or information
about obtaining resources and services including counseling, health, mental health, reporting party
advocacy, legal assistance, visa and immigration assistance, student financial aid and assistance in
notifying appropriate local law enforcement.

Resources available to persons who report being the reporting party of sexual assault, domestic violence,
dating violence, or stalking, include:
Rape, Abuse and Incest National Network

Department of Education, Office of Civil Rights

Other resources available to persons who report being the victim of sexual assault, domestic violence,
dating violence, or stalking, include:

On Campus Types of Services Available Contact Information
Counseling and Mental Counseling, Wellness, and counselingservices@wctc.edu,
Health Support 262.695.3440
Campus Police Security, policies and regulation police@wctc.edu,

guidance 262.691.5582

money@wctc.edu,
262.691.5436
Off Campus Type of Services Available Contact Information

Student Financial Aid Financial support

62


mailto:compliance@wctc.edu
http://www.rainn.org/
http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/index.html
mailto:counselingservices@wctc.edu
mailto:police@wctc.edu
mailto:money@wctc.edu

725 American Ave,

Health Waukesha Memorial Hospital Waukesha, WI 53188
262.928.2000
Mental Health National Alliance on Mental Home | NAMI: National
Health Alliance on Mental lllness
The Jed Foundation (I-Jlgg)e - The Jed Foundation

MHA | Mental Health America
(mhanational.org)

505 N East Ave,

Victim Advocacy The Waukesha Women’s Center | Waukesha, WI 53186
262.542.3828

Mental Health America

The National Sexual Assault 1.800.656.HOPE

Hotline
LifeMatters Employee Assistance Program 1.800.634.6433
Student Financial Aid Federal Student Aid www.studentaid.gov

Confidentiality
Victims may request that directory information on file with the College be withheld by request to
Registration and Records, room C-019, webreg@wctc.edu, or 262.691.5578.

Regardless of whether a victim has opted-out of allowing the College to share “directory information,”
personally identifiable information about the victim and other necessary parties will be treated as
confidential and only shared with persons who have a specific need-to-know, i.e., those who are
investigating/adjudicating the report or those involved in providing support services to the victim, including
accommodations and protective measures. By only sharing personally identifiable information with
individuals on a need-to-know basis, WCTC will maintain as confidential any accommodations, or
protective measures, provided confidentiality does not impair WCTC to provide the accommodations or
protective services.

The College does not publish the name of crime reporting party(s) or other identifiable information
regarding reporting party(s) in the Daily Crime Log or in the annual crime statistics that are disclosed in
compliance with the Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act.
Furthermore, if a Timely Warning Notice is issued on the basis of a report of domestic violence, dating
violence, sexual assault or stalking, the name of the reporting party and other personally identifiable
information about the reporting party will be withheld.

WCTC’s policy on record privacy and releasing information follows the directives outlined in the Family
Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), the federal law governing the protection of written educational
records.

Only the student may authorize the release of their personal identifiable information in an education
record. All such authorizations must be in writing.

Adjudication of Violations

The College’s disciplinary process includes a prompt, fair, and impartial initial investigation and final
resolution process. In all instances, the process will be conducted in a manner that is consistent with the
institution’s policy and that is transparent to the accuser and the accused. Usually, the resolution of

63


https://www.nami.org/Home
https://www.nami.org/Home
https://www.jedfoundation.org/
https://www.jedfoundation.org/
https://mhanational.org/
https://mhanational.org/
http://www.studentaid.gov/
mailto:webreg@wctc.edu

domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault and stalking complaints are completed within the
timeframe specified in each policy the institution maintains. However, each procedure allows for
extensions of timeframes for good cause with written notice to the accuser and the accused of the delay
and the reason for the delay. College officials involved in the investigation or adjudication of domestic
violence, dating violence, sexual assault and stalking complaints are trained by the Association of Title IX
Administrators (ATIXA) annually on the issues related to domestic violence, dating violence, sexual
assault, and stalking as well as how to conduct an investigation and hearing process that protects the
safety of the victim and promotes accountability.

Furthermore, each policy provides that:

e The accuser and the accused will have timely notice for meetings at which the accuser or accused,
or both, may be present;

e The accuser, the accused and the appropriate officials will have timely and equal access to any
information that will be used during formal and informal disciplinary meeting and hearings;

e The institutional disciplinary procedures will not be conducted by officials who have a conflict of
interest or bias for or against the accuser or the accused;

e The accuser and the accused will have the same opportunities to have others present during any
institutional disciplinary proceeding. The accuser and the accused each have the opportunity to be
advised by an advisor of their choice at any stage of the process and to be accompanied by that
advisor to any related meeting or proceeding. The College will not limit the choice of advisor or
presence for either the accuser or the accused in any meeting or institutional disciplinary
proceeding. However, the role of the advisor is limited to consultation and supporting his or her
advisee but not speak for the advisee at any meeting or hearing. The Advisor may confer quietly or
in writing with their advisee as necessary, so long as doing so does not disrupt the investigatory
process. Advisors are expected to refrain from interference with the investigation;

e Theaccuserandthe accused will be notified in writing of the initial, interim and final decision of any
disciplinary proceeding; and

e Where an appeal is permitted under the applicable policy, the accuser and the accused will be
notified simultaneously in writing of the procedures for the accused and the victim to appeal the
result of the institutional disciplinary proceeding. When an appeal is filed, the accuser and the
accused will be notified simultaneously in writing of any change to the result prior to the time that
it becomes final as well as of the final result once the appealis resolved.

Investigation Process for Dating Violence, Domestic Violence, Sexual Assault, & Stalking

The College will promptly act when it has actual knowledge of sex discrimination or sexual harassment in
its domestic education programs or activities, meaning that the Title IX Coordinator or any non-
confidential College employee has notice of sexual harassment or allegations thereof.

The Procedure described below applies to all allegations of discrimination or harassment on the basis of
sex. Allegations of discrimination and harassment based on all other protected classes are covered by the
College’s Equal Opportunity, Harassment and Discrimination Policy (HR-LA-601) and accompanying
Procedure (HR-LA-601.01). This Procedure may also be used to address collateral misconduct occurring
in conjunction with sex-based discriminatory or harassing conduct (e.g. vandalism, academic dishonesty,
etc.). Allmembers of the College community are expected to comply with this Policy and its accompanying
Procedure. Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action.

64



Overview

Upon actual knowledge to the Title IX Coordinator or any non-confidential College employee, this
resolution process involves offering supportive measures and, in some circumstances, starting a formal
grievance process. If a formal grievance process is required, the College will initiate an investigation that
is thorough, reliable, impartial, prompt and fair. The investigation and subsequent resolution process
determines whether sex discrimination or sexual harassment has occurred. If so, the College will promptly
implement effective remedies desighed to end the discrimination or harassment, prevent its recurrence,
and address its effects.

1. Key Definitions

a.

Reporter: Reporter refers to an individual, participating in or attempting to participate in the
College’s education program or activity, who is alleged to be the victim of conduct that could
constitute sex discrimination or sexual harassment.

Respondent: Respondent refers to an individual who has been reported to be the perpetrator of
conduct that could constitute sex discrimination or sexual harassment. The Respondent may be
an individual or a group/organization (such as a student organization).

. Parties: The Reporter and the Respondent are collectively referred to as the Parties.
. Title IX Coordinator: A trained, unbiased administrator designated by the College to oversee the

investigation and resolution of reports or complaints regarding sex discrimination or sexual
harassment. The Title IX Coordinator receives formal complaints and can also file formal
complaints under some circumstances. The College’s Manager, Employee Compliance is its Title
IX Coordinator.

. Actual Knowledge: Notice of sexual harassment or allegations thereof to the Title IX Coordinator

or any non-confidential College employee.

Formal Complaint: A document, in no specific form, filed by the Reporter or signed by the Title IX
Coordinator alleging sex discrimination or sexual harassment against the Respondent and
requesting that the College investigate the allegations.

Supportive Measures: Non-disciplinary, non-punitive, free individualized services offered as
appropriate, as reasonably available, and without fee or charge to the Reporter or the Respondent
before or after the filing of a formal complaint or where no formal complaint has been filed.

. Investigator: Atrained, unbiased individual designated by the Title IX Coordinator to assist with the

investigation of formal complaints. The Investigator(s) makes a recommendation to the Title IX
Coordinator regarding whether sex discrimination or sexual harassment has occurred. The
Investigator(s) cannot be the same person as the Decision-Maker(s) or the Title IX Coordinator.
Decision-Maker: Atrained, unbiased individual designated by the Title IXCoordinator to determine
whether sex discrimination or sexual harassment has occurred. The Decision-Maker(s) cannot be
the same person as the Title IX Coordinator or the Investigator(s) and cannot have a reporting
relationship to the Title IX Coordinator.

Facilitator of Informal Resolution Process: A trained, unbiased individual designated by the Title
IX Coordinator to facilitate an informal resolution process, if it is elected by the Parties and
otherwise permissible under this procedure.

Appellate Officer: A trained, unbiased individual designated by the Title IX Coordinator to oversee
the appeals process. The Appellate Officers cannot be the same person as the Title IX Coordinator,
the Investigator(s) or the Decision-Maker(s), and cannot have a reporting relationship to the Title IX
Coordinator.

Prohibited Sex Discrimination: Prohibited sex discrimination includes a broad range of
discriminatory conduct based on an individual’s sex that adversely affects employment or
unreasonably interferes with education, such as refusing to hire an applicant because of his or her

65



sex, terminating an employee because of his or her sex, refusing to admit a prospective student
because of his or her sex, or issuing academic or disciplinary sanctions to a student because of his
or her sex.

m. Prohibited Sexual Harassment Under Title IX: Prohibited sexual harassment under Title IX is
conduct on the basis of sex that satisfies one or more of the following:

e An employee conditions the provision of an aid, benefit, or service of the College on an
individual’s participation in unwelcome sexual conduct;

e Unwelcome conduct determined by a reasonable person to be so severe, pervasive, and
objectively offensive that it effectively denies a person equal access to the College’s
education program or activity;

e Sexual assault - An offense classified as a forcible or non-forcible sex offense under the
uniform crime reporting system of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, including but not
limited to rape, sexual battery, sexual abuse, and sexual coercion;

e Datingviolence - Violence committed by a person who is or has been in a social relationship
of a romantic or intimate nature with the victim, and where the existence of such a
relationship shall be determined based on a consideration of the following factors:

= the length of the relationship,
= the type of relationship, and
= the frequency of interaction between the persons involved in the relationship.

e Domestic violence - Felony or misdemeanor crimes committed by a current or former
spouse or intimate partner of the victim under the family or domestic violence laws of the
jurisdiction receiving grant funding and, in the case of victim services, includes the use or
attempted use of physical abuse or sexual abuse, or a pattern of any other coercive behavior
committed, enabled, or solicited to gain or maintain power and control over a victim,
including verbal, psychological, economic, or technological abuse that may or may not
constitute criminal behavior, by a person with whom the victim shares a child in common,
by a person who is cohabitating with or has cohabitated with the victim as a spouse or
intimate partner, by a person similarly situated to a spouse of the victim under the domestic
or family violence laws of the jurisdiction receiving grant monies, or by any other person
againstan adult oryouthvictimwho is protected from that person’s acts under the domestic
or family violence laws of the jurisdiction; or

e Stalking - Either a course of conduct directed at a specific person on the basis of sex thatis
unwelcome and would cause a reasonable person to feel fear; or the repetitive and
menacing pursuit, following, harassing, and/or interfering with the peace and/or safety of
another.

n. Other Prohibited Sexual Harassment: Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors,
or other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when such conduct has the purpose or effect
of unreasonably interfering with an individual’s work or educational performance or creating an
intimidating, hostile or offensive working or learning environment.

o. Force: Force is the use of physical violence and/or imposing on someone physically to gain sexual
access. Force also includes threats, intimidation (implied threats) and coercion intended to
overcome resistance or produce consent (e.g., “Have sex with me or I’ll hit you.” “Okay, don’t hit
me, I’ll do what you want.”).

p. Coercion: Coercion is unreasonable pressure for sexual activity. Coercive behavior differs from
seductive behavior based on the type of pressure someone uses to get consentfrom another. When
someone makes clear to you that they do not want sex, that they want to stop, or that they do not
want to go past a certain point of sexual interaction, continued pressure beyond that point can be
coercive.

66



q. Consent: Consent is knowing, voluntary, and clear permission by words or actions to engage in
mutually agreed upon sexual activity. Since individuals may experience the same interaction in
different ways, it is the responsibility of each party to make certain that the other has consented
before engaging in the activity. For consent to be valid, there must be a clear expression in words
or actions that the other individual consented to that specific sexual conduct. Consent can be
withdrawn once given, as long as the withdrawal is clearly communicated.

e Consent to some sexual contact (such as kissing or fondling) cannot be presumed to be
consent for other sexual activity (such as intercourse). A current or previous dating
relationship is not sufficient to constitute consent. The existence of consentis based on the
totality of the circumstances, including the context in which the alleged incident occurred
and any similar previous patterns that may be evidenced.

e Silence orthe absence of resistance alone is not consent. There is no requirement on a party
to resist the sexual advance or request, but resistance is a clear demonstration of non-
consent. The presence of consentis not demonstrated by the absence of resistance. Sexual
activity that is forced is by definition nonconsensual, but nonconsensual sexual activity is
not by definition forced.

r. Incapacitation: Incapacitation is defined as a state where someone cannot make rational,
reasonable decisions because they lack the capacity to give knowing/informed consent (e.g., to
understand the “who, what, when, where, why or how” of their sexual interaction). A person cannot
consent if they are unable to understand what is happening or are disoriented, helpless, asleep or
unconscious for any reason, including due to alcohol or other drugs or because of a mental
disability. It is not an excuse that the Respondent was intoxicated and, therefore, did not realize the
incapacity of the Reporter. An individual who engages in sexual activity when the individual knows,
or should know, that the other person is physically or mentally incapacitated has violated the
College’s Sexual Harassment and Sex Discrimination Policy (HR-LA 602) (the “Policy”).

e InWisconsin, aminor (meaninga person underthe age of 18 years) cannot consent to sexual
activity. This means that sexual contact by an adult with a person younger than 18 years old
may be a crime, and a violation of the Policy, even if the minor wanted to engage in the act.

2. Reporting Actual or Suspected Sex Discrimination or Sexual Harassment Informal Reporting

Any student, employee, other member of the community, vendor, volunteer, guest, or visitor who
believes that sex discrimination or sexual harassment has occurred should promptly notify the Title IX
Coordinator or Campus Security. Itis also possible for employees to notify a supervisor, or for students
to notify an administrative advisor or faculty member, who will in turn inform the Title IX Coordinator.
The College’s website also includes a reporting form at Discrimination, Harassment, Retaliation, &
Sexual Misconduct Complaint Form, which may be used to make an informal report of sex
discrimination or sexual harassment.

3. Discussion and Implementation of Supportive Measures

As soon as the College has received a report of possible sex discrimination or sexual harassment, the
Title IX Coordinator will promptly contact the Reporter to discuss the availability of supportive
measures (which may be provided whether or not the Reporter chooses to file a formal complaint),
consider the Reporter’s wishes with respect to supportive measures, and explain to the Reporter the
process for filing a formal complaint. The Title IX Coordinator may also inform the Respondent of the
availability of supportive measures as appropriate based on the individual circumstances of the case.
Supportive measures may include but are not limited to:

e Referral to counseling services;

e Course-related adjustments and extensions;

67


https://cm.maxient.com/reportingform.php?WaukeshaCTC&layout_id=6
https://cm.maxient.com/reportingform.php?WaukeshaCTC&layout_id=6

e Modifications of work or class schedules;

e Alteration of work arrangements for employees;

e |Leaves of absence;

e Providing campus escorts;

e Implementing contact limitations between the Parties; or
e Referral to the Employee Assistance Program; and

e Education to the community.

The College will maintain as confidential supportive measures offered to the Reporter or Respondent,
provided confidentiality does notimpair the College’s ability to provide supportive measures or pursue
its investigation and resolution process as necessary.

. Formal Reporting

A formal complaint alleges sex discrimination or sexual harassment against a Respondent, and
requests that the College investigate such allegations. A formal complaint may be filed by a Reporter
who is participating in or attempting to participate in an education program or activity of the College at
the time of filing. A formal complaint may also be filed by the Title IX Coordinator. The College will
initiate a formal grievance process for each formal complaint it receives. Formal complaints can be
made in person, by mail, by telephone, or by e-mail, using the contact information listed for the Title IX
Coordinator, or by any other means that results in the Title IX Coordinator receiving the person’s verbal
or written report. Such reports may be made at any time, including during non-business hours. The
College will initiate its formal grievance process for each formal complaint it receives. Individuals
found to have engaged in prohibited sex discrimination or sexual harassment under the grievance
process will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination (for employees) and
suspension or expulsion (for students).

If the Reporter does not wish for his or her name to be shared, does not wish for an investigation to take
place, or does not want to pursue a formal resolution, the Reporter may make such a request to the
Title IX Coordinator, who will evaluate that request in light of the duty to ensure the safety of the
campus and comply with federal law. The College retains the right to investigate regarding allegations
of discrimination, harassment, or retaliation even if the Reporter indicates he or she does not wish for
an investigation to take place. Note that the College’s ability to remedy and respond to a reported
incident may be limited if the Reporter does not wish for his or her name to be shared or does not want
to pursue a formal resolution.

Formal reporting still affords confidentiality to the Reporter. The College will maintain the
confidentiality of the Reporter, except as may be permitted under the Federal Educational Rights and
Privacy Act, as required by applicable federal, state, or local law, or as necessary to carry out the
investigation and resolution process. Generally, only a small group of officials who need to know will
be told about a formal complaint, including but not limited to: Title IX Coordinator, Deputy Title IX
Coordinators, Associate Vice Provost for Student Affairs, Vice President for Human Resources & Legal
Affairs, CARE Team, and Campus Security. Information will be shared as necessary with investigators,
witnesses and the Respondent. The circle of people with this knowledge will be kept as tight as
possible to preserve the Parties’ rights and privacy. Additionally, anonymous reports can be made by
victims and/or third parties using the online reporting form posted at Discrimination, Harassment,
Retaliation, & Sexual Misconduct Complaint Form. Note that these anonymous reports may prompt a
need for the institution to investigate.

68


https://cm.maxient.com/reportingform.php?WaukeshaCTC&layout_id=6
https://cm.maxient.com/reportingform.php?WaukeshaCTC&layout_id=6

5. Formal Grievance Process: Preliminary Inquiry

Following receipt of notice or a report of aviolation of the Policy, the Title IX Coordinator willcommence
a preliminary inquiry to make a threshold decision regarding whether the College should further pursue
the formal grievance process or dismiss the formal complaint, and to determine whether the safety or
well-being of any member(s) of the campus community may be jeopardized by the on-campus
presence of the student or employee, or the student organization, whose behavior is in question,
thereby necessitating the temporary suspension of the student, employee, or organization pending the
completion of the investigation. The preliminary inquiry will be based on a review of the report of a
violation of the Policy and is typically three to five (3-5) calendar days in duration.

Dismissal

Formal complaints will be dismissed for purposes of Title IXif the conduct alleged would not constitute
prohibited sexual harassment under Title IX, did not occur in the College’s education program or
activity, or did not occur against a person in the United States. However, the College may retain
jurisdiction and investigate pursuant to this grievance process if the conduct alleged constitutes
“Other Prohibited Sexual Harassment” or otherwise violates the College’s conduct, policies and
procedures.

Formal complaints, or any allegations therein, may also be dismissed, in the College’s discretion, if at
any time during the formal grievance process, the Reporter notifies the Title IX Coordinator in writing
that the Reporter would like to withdraw the formal complaint or any allegations therein, the
Respondentis no longer enrolled at or employed by the College, or specific circumstances prevent the
College from gathering evidence sufficient to reach a determination as to the formal complaint.

Upon dismissal of a formal complaint, the College will promptly send written notice of the dismissal
and reasons for the dismissal simultaneously to the Parties via email and/or certified mail. Absent
extenuating circumstances, such notice will generally be provided within three (3) calendar days of the
dismissal decision. The Parties can appeal this dismissal, under the procedures described below.
The College, in its sole discretion, may consolidate formal complaints where the allegations arise out
of the same facts.

Temporary Suspension

In all cases in which a temporary suspension is imposed, the student, employee, or student
organization will be given the option to meet with the Investigator(s) prior to such suspension being
imposed, or as soon thereafter as reasonably possible, to show cause why the suspension should not
be implemented. The Title IX Coordinator or designee has sole discretion to implement or stay a
temporary suspension and to determine its conditions and duration. Violation of a temporary
suspension under this Procedure will be grounds for expulsion or termination.

During atemporary suspension or administrative leave, the student, employee, or student organization
may be denied access to the College’s campus, facilities, and events. As determined by the Title IX
Coordinator (or designee), this restriction can include classes and other College activities or privileges
for which the student, employee, or student organization might otherwise be eligible. At the discretion
of the Title IX Coordinator (or designee) alternative coursework options may be pursued to ensure as
minimal an impact as possible on a suspended student.

69



Emergency Removal

The College may remove a Respondent from its education program or activity on an emergency basis
if, after undertaking an individualized safety and risk analysis, it determines that an immediate threat
to the physical health or safety of any student or other individual arising from the allegations of sexual
harassment justifies removal. The College will provide the Respondent with notice and an opportunity
to challenge the decision immediately following the removal. The College may also place non-student
employee respondents on administrative leave while a Title IX grievance process is pending.

Further Pursuance of the Grievance Process and Notice

If the Title IX Coordinator determines that the complaint is not subject to dismissal and therefore the
formal grievance process should continue, the College will promptly assign the matter to an
Investigator(s) and send written notice to the Reporter and Respondent via email and/or certified mail.
To the extent known, the written notice will contain the following:

e The allegations of prohibited sex discrimination or sexual harassment;

e Explanation of the College’s formal grievance process, including informal resolution;

e Statementthat the Respondentis presumed not responsible for the alleged conduct and thata
determination regarding responsibility is made at the conclusion of the formal grievance
process;

e Statement that the Parties may have an advisor of their choice, who may be an attorney;

e Statementinforming the Parties that they may inspect and review evidence;

e Reference to the provision in the College’s code of conduct that prohibits knowingly making
false statements or knowingly submitting false information during the formal grievance
process;

e Notice of the date, time, location, participants, and purpose of all hearings, investigative
interviews, or other meetings, with sufficient time for the Parties to prepare to participate.

The Investigator(s) will supplement this written notice during the course of the investigation, including
ifthe College decides to investigate allegations about the Reporter or Respondent that are notincluded
in the original notice, and send to the Reporter, Respondent, and any other Parties identified.

. Advisors

Each party is allowed to have one Advisor of their choice present with them for all meetings and
proceedings throughout the resolution process. Advisors should help their advisees prepare for each
meeting, and are expected to advise ethically, with integrity, and in good faith.

The Parties may select whomever they wish to serve as their Advisor as long as he or she is available
and not otherwise involved in the resolution process. The Advisor may be a friend, mentor, family
member, attorney, or any other supporter a party chooses. The College cannot guarantee equality in
the type or effectiveness of an Advisor. For example, one party may be able to afford an attorney, and
the other party may not. The decision to enlist or hire an Advisor for the investigatory process is entirely
that of a party. The College is not obligated to, nor will it, provide an Advisor for the investigatory
process. In the event either the Reporter or the Respondent do not have an Advisor for the hearing
process, The College will appoint an Advisor for either or both Parties.

The College requests that the Parties advise the Investigator(s) of the identity of their Advisor as soon

as possible and at least five (5) calendar days before the date of their first interview with the
Investigator(s). Although disfavored, a party may elect to change Advisors during the process. If a party

70



chooses to change Advisors, the party must promptly provide notice to the Title IX Coordinator of the
change and the identity of the new Advisor. The College expects an Advisor to adjust his or her schedule
to allow for attendance at interviews, meetings, and the hearing. The College does not typically change
scheduled meetings, interviews, or the hearing to accommodate an Advisor’s inability to attend. The
College may, however, make reasonable provisions to allow an Advisor who cannot attend in person
to attend a meeting by telephone, video, and/or virtual meeting technologies that may be convenient
and available.

During investigatory interviews, Advisors generally may not speak on behalf of their advisee to the
Investigator(s). The Advisor may confer quietly or in writing with their advisee as necessary, so long as
doing so does not disrupt the investigatory process. Advisors are expected to refrain from interference
with the investigation. Any Advisor who steps out of their role will be warned only once. If the Advisor
continues to disrupt or otherwise fails to respect the limits of his or her role, the Advisor will be asked
to leave the interview. When an Advisor is removed from an investigatory interview, that interview will
typically continue without the Advisor present.

The College expects that the Parties will wish to share documentation related to the allegations with
their Advisors. The College provides a consent form that authorizes such sharing. The Parties and their
Advisors must complete this form before the College is able to share records with an Advisor. Advisors
are expected to maintain the privacy of the records shared with them. These records may not be shared
with third parties, disclosed publicly, or used for purposes not explicitly authorized by the College. The
College may seek to restrict the role of any Advisor who does not respect the sensitive nature of the
process or who fails to abide by the privacy expectations.

Informal Resolution

The College may choose to offer the Parties an opportunity to informally resolve a formal complaint if
both parties voluntary agree to attempt informal resolution, and informal resolution is appropriate
under the circumstances. The informal resolution process may occur at any time prior to reaching a
determination regarding responsibility, as long as the Reporter has filed a formal complaint. The
College will not offer informal resolution to resolve allegations that an employee sexually harassed a
student.

To proceed with informal resolution, the Parties’ voluntary, written consent must be submitted to the
College. Once such consent is obtained, and the College has determined that informal resolution is
appropriate, The College will provide to the Parties, via email and/or certified mail, written notice
disclosing the allegations, and other rights and requirements of the informal resolution process. At any
time prior to agreeing to a resolution, any party has the right to withdraw from the informal resolution
process and resume the formal grievance process.

In an informal resolution meeting, a neutral, College-assigned facilitator will foster a dialogue with the
Parties to an effective resolution, if possible. Informal resolution agreements are treated as contracts;
the Parties remain free to negotiate the terms, and the agreements are binding once entered into. The
Reporter’s and Respondent’s Advisor may attend the informal resolution meeting. The Title IX
Coordinator will keep records of any resolution that is reached, and failure to abide by the agreed upon
resolution may result in sanctions. In the event the Parties are unable to reach a mutually agreeable
resolution, the matter will be referred to the formal grievance process as appropriate. The content of
the Parties’ discussions during the informal resolution process will be kept confidential in the event
the matter proceeds to the formal grievance process. The Parties’ agreement to participate in informal

71



resolution shall not be a factor in any subsequent decisions regarding whether sexual harassment
occurred.

Formal Grievance Process: Investigation

The investigation entails interviews with all relevant parties and witnhesses, obtaining available
evidence and identifying sources of expert information, as necessary. All investigations will be
thorough, reliable, impartial, and fair. Further, all investigations will be completed in a timely manner.
The length of a given investigation depends on numerous factors, including the nature, extent, and
complexity of the allegations and the availability of witnesses. A delay may also occur when criminal
charges on the basis of the same behaviors that invoke this process are being investigated, to allow for
evidence collection by the law enforcement agency. The College will promptly resume its investigation
and resolution processes once notified by law enforcement that the initial evidence collection process
is complete. College action will not typically be altered or precluded on the grounds that civil charges
involving the same incident have been filed, or that criminal or civil charges have been dismissed or
reduced.

During the investigation, the Investigator(s) will typically take the following steps (not necessarily in
order):

e In coordination with the Title IX Coordinator, initiate or assist with any necessary interim
supportive measures;

e Identify all policies allegedly violated;

e Gather evidence (will have to be available at all hearings), including through interviews with the
Reporter, the Respondent, and any witnesses and through review of electronic or hard copy
information relevant to the allegations;

e Send Parties and their Advisors evidence directly related to the allegations, with ten (10)
calendar days for the parties to inspect, review and respond to evidence;

e Provide regular updates to the Reporter and the Respondent, as appropriate, throughout the
investigation;

e At the conclusion of the investigation, prepare and send to Parties and their Advisors an
investigative report containing only relevant evidence, to be kept by the Title IX Coordinator;

e Provide the Parties an opportunity to read the investigation report. The parties shall be offered
a full and fair opportunity to respond within ten (10) calendar days to the investigation report;

e Provide the Parties the final investigation report at least ten (10) calendar days before a
determination of responsibility or hearing.

In performing these steps, the Investigation(s) will:

e Provide written notice of to the Parties of any investigative interviews or meetings at which they
are expected to attend;

e Allow the Parties the opportunity to identify relevant witnesses and other evidence and suggest
questions they wish the Investigator(s) to ask of the other party and witnesses;

e Provide equal opportunity for the parties to present fact and expert witnesses and other
inculpatory and exculpatory evidence; and

e Notrestrict the ability of either party to discuss the allegations under investigation or to gather
and present relevant evidence.

Witnesses are expected to cooperate with and participate in the College’s investigation. Failure of a
witness to cooperate with, and/or participate in the investigation may result in disciplinary action.

72



10.

Witnesses may provide written statements in lieu of interviews during the investigation and may be
interviewed remotely by phone, or video conference, if they cannot be interviewed in person, or if the
Investigator(s) determines that timeliness or efficiency dictate a need for remote interviewing.

Parties who elect not to participate in the investigation, or to withhold information from the
investigation, do not have the ability to offer evidence later during the appeal if it could have been
offered during the investigation. Failure to offer reasonably available evidence prior to an appeal does
not constitute grounds for appeal on the basis of new evidence.

Allinvestigation meetings are private. No unauthorized audio orvideo recording of any kind is permitted
during investigation meetings. All persons present at any time during the resolution process are
expected to maintain the privacy of the proceedings in accordance with College’s policies. While the
contents of the proceedings are private, the Parties have discretion to share their own experiences if
they choose and should discuss doing so with their Advisors.

Withdrawal or Resignation While Charges Pending

Students

Should a Respondent student decide to withdraw from the College and not participate in the
investigation, the process will nonetheless proceed in the Respondent student’s absence to a
reasonable resolution so that a determination of responsibility can be made. If a Respondent student
is found to have engaged conduct violative of Title IX, that student will not be permitted to return to the
College unless all implemented sanctions have been satisfied.

Employees
Should a Respondent employee resign with unresolved allegations pending, the resolution process will

nonetheless proceed in the Respondent employee’s absence to a reasonable resolution so that a
determination of responsibility can be made. The investigation report of the Title IX Coordinator will
reflect that status, and if the Respondent employee is found to have engaged conduct violative of Title
IX, the Respondent employee will be ineligible for rehire with the College. Any College responses to
future inquiries regarding employment references for that individual will indicate the former
Respondent employee is ineligible for rehire.

Formal Grievance Process: Live Hearing

After the investigation, the formal grievance process proceeds to a live hearing in front of the Decision
Maker(s). At least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the hearing, or as far in advance as is reasonably
possible, the Decision-Maker(s) will send a letter to the Parties by email and/or certified mail with the
following information:

a. An indication that the Parties may have the assistance of an Advisor of their choosing at the
hearing, and that if a party does not have an Advisor of their choosing, the College will provide
that party with an Advisor of the College’s choice, who will conduct cross-examination,

b. The time, date and location of the hearing; and

c. Acopy of the investigative report.

For good cause, the Decision-Maker(s) may grant requests to reschedule the hearing date.

At least seven (7) calendar days prior to the hearing, the Parties will provide the Decision-Maker(s) a
list of the names of the proposed witnesses and copies of all proposed documentary evidence.

73



At least five (5) calendar days prior to the hearing, the Decision-Maker(s) will have the names of
proposed witnesses and copies of all pertinent documentary evidence available for the Parties.

During the hearing, all Parties will have ample opportunity to present facts and arguments in full and
question all present witnesses. Formal cross-examination between the Parties can only be conducted
by the Advisors.

The Decision-Maker(s), in consultation with the Parties and the Investigator(s), may decide in advance
of the hearing that certain witnesses do not need to be physically present at the live hearing. Further,
at the request of either party, the Decision-Maker shall arrange for the live hearing to occur while the
Parties are located in separate rooms, with technology enabling them to see and hear each other. If
such alternative attendance or questioning mechanisms are desired, the Parties should request them
from the Decision Maker(s) at least two (2) calendar days prior to the hearing.

Conduct of Hearing
The Decision-Maker(s) shall preside over the hearing, call the hearing to order, ascertain the presence
or absence of the Investigator(s), the Title IX Coordinator, the Reporter and Respondent, and their
Advisors. The Decision-Maker will confirm receipt of the notice of hearing and report any extensions
requested or granted. The hearing shall then proceed as follows:
a. Investigator(s) Report and Testimony
The Investigator(s) will first present the written investigative report and may give a narrative
report of the investigation, and then be subject to questioning by the Reporter, the Respondent
and the Decision-Maker(s). The Investigator(s) may also call witnesses who will be subject to
questioning by the Investigator(s), the Reporter, the Respondent and the Decision-Maker(s). The
Investigator(s) may also submit documentary evidence. The Investigator(s) will remain present
during the entire hearing process.
b. Reporter’s Evidence
The Reporter may give testimony and be subject to questioning by the Investigator(s), the
Respondent (through his or her Advisor) and the Decision-Maker(s). The Reporter (through his
or her Advisor) may also call and ask relevant questions of witnesses who may also then be
asked relevant questions by the Respondent, the Investigator(s) and the Decision-Maker(s). The
Reporter may also submit documentary evidence.
c. Respondent’s Evidence
The Respondent may give testimony and be subject to questioning by the Investigator(s), the
Reporter (through his or her advisor) and the Decision-Maker(s). The Respondent (through his
or her Advisor) may also call and ask relevant questions of witnesses who may also then be
asked relevant questions by the Reporter, the Investigator(s) and the Decision-Maker(s). The
Respondent may also submit documentary evidence.

Additional Rights and Authority of the Decision-Maker(s)
The Decision-Maker(s) shall:

e Operate with a presumption thatthe Respondentis notresponsible for the alleged conduct until

a determination regarding responsibility is made at the conclusion of the hearing process;
e Determine the relevancy and admissibility of any evidence offered at the hearing;
= In doing so, the Decision-Maker shall determine whether a question is relevant before
the Reporter, Respondent or withess answers it
o Questions challenging credibility may be relevant.

74



1.

12.

o Questions aboutthe Reporter’s sexual predisposition or prior sexual behavior are
not relevant, unless such questions and evidence about the Reporter’s prior
sexual behavior are offered to prove that someone other than the Respondent
committed the conduct alleged by the Reporter, or if the questions and evidence
concern specific incidents of the Reporter’s prior sexual behavior with respect to
the Respondent and are offered to prove consent.

e Have the authority to exclude a witness proposed by the Investigator(s), the Reporter, or the
Respondent if it is determined that his/her testimony would be redundant or not relevant;

e Have the authority to dismiss any person from the hearing who interferes with or obstructs the
hearing or fails to abide by the Decision-Maker(s) rulings.

e Not make any inferences based solely on a party or witness’s absence from the live hearing or
refusal to answer cross-examination or other questions.

The College will create an audio or audiovisual recording of any live hearing and make it available to
the Parties for inspection and review. The recording will not be open to the public.

Formal Grievance Process: Determination Regarding Responsibility
The Decision-Maker(s) will issue a written determination regarding responsibility, applying the
preponderance of the evidence standard. This written determination will be provided by email and/or
certified mail to the Parties simultaneously, and will include:
e Identification of the portions of the College’s policies alleged to have been violated,;
e Alist of each allegation of sex discrimination or sexual harassment;
e The procedural steps taken from the receipt of the formal complaint through the determination;
e Findings of fact;
e Astatement of the result as to each allegation, and the rationale for the same;
e Conclusions about the College’s policies as applied to the facts and statement of results as to
each allegation;
e A determination regarding responsibility, sanctions, and any remedies designed to restore or
preserve equal access to the College’s education program or activity;
e A statement that the Parties have a right to appeal and the procedures and permissible bases
for doing so.

Absent extenuating circumstances, the Decision-Maker(s) will issue the written determination within
fourteen (14) calendar days of the hearing. In the event the Decision-Maker(s) will deviate from this
timeline, the College will issue simultaneous written notice to the Parties.

The Decision-Maker’s determination becomes final on the date on which an appeal would no longer be
considered timely.

Sanctions

The Decision-Maker will issue sanctions and/or provide remedies any time a Respondent is found
responsible for conduct that constitutes prohibited sex discrimination or sexual harassment. Where
the Reporter is a College student, such sanctions and/or remedies must be designed to maintain the
Reporter’s equal access to education.

75



Factors considered when the Decision-Maker(s) is determining a sanction/remedy may include:

e The nature, severity of, and circumstances surrounding the sex discrimination or sexual

harassment;
e Anindividual’s disciplinary history;
e Previous allegations or allegations involving similar conduct;

e The need for sanctions/remedies to bring an end to and/or prevent the future recurrence of the

sex discrimination or sexual harassment;

e The need to remedy the effects of the sexual harassment on the Reporter and the community;

and
e Any otherinformation deemed relevant by the Decision-Maker(s).

Examples of Student Sanctions:

The following are examples of sanctions that may be imposed upon Respondent students or
organizations, singly or in combination, who are found to have engaged in sex discrimination or sexual

harassment:

e Warning: A formal statement that the behavior was unacceptable and a warning that further

infractions will result in more severe sanctions/remedies.

e Probation: Awritten reprimand for violation of the Code of Student Conduct, providing for more
severe disciplinary sanctions in the event that the student or organization is found in violation
of any College policy, procedure or directive within a specified period of time. Terms of the
probation will be specified and may include denial of specified social privileges, exclusion from

co-curricular activities, non- contact orders, and/or other measures deemed appropriate.

e Suspension: Termination of student status for a definite period of time not to exceed two years,
and/or until specific criteria are met. Students who return from suspension are automatically
placed on probation through the remainder of their tenure at the College. This sanction may be
noted as a Conduct Suspension on the student’s official transcript, at the discretion of the Title

IX Coordinator.

e Expulsion: Permanent termination of student status, revocation of rights to be on campus for
any reason or attend College sponsored events. This sanction will be noted as a Conduct

Expulsion on the student’s official transcript.

¢ Withholding Diploma: The College may withhold a student's diploma for a specified period of
time, and/or deny a student participation in commencement activities as a sanction if the

studentis found responsible for an alleged violation.

e Revocation of Degree: The College reserves the right to revoke a degree awarded for fraud,
misrepresentation or other violation of College policies, procedures or directives in obtaining

the degree, or for other serious violations committed by a student prior to graduation.

e Organizational Sanctions: Deactivation, de-recognition, loss of all privileges (including

College registration), for a specified period of time.

e Other Actions: In addition to, or in place of the above sanctions, the College may assign any

other sanctions as deemed appropriate.

Examples of Employee Sanctions:

The following are examples of sanctions that may be imposed upon Respondent employees, singly or

in combination, who are found to have engaged in sex discrimination or sexual harassment:
e Warning-Verbal or Written;
e Letter of Expectation/Performance Improvement Plan;
e Required Counseling;

76



13.

e Required Training or Education;

e Probation;

e Loss of Annual Pay Increase;

e Loss of Oversight or Supervisory Responsibility;

e Demotion;

e Suspension with pay;

e Suspension without pay;

e Termination; and

e Other Actions: In addition to, or in place of the above sanctions, the College may assign any
other sanctions as deemed appropriate.

All Respondents are expected to comply with sanctions, remedies and corrective actions within the
timeframe specified by the Decision-Maker(s). Failure to abide by these sanctions, remedies and
corrective actions by the date specified, whether by refusal, neglect or any other reason, may result in
additional sanctions and may be noted on a student’s official transcript. A suspension will only be lifted
when compliance is achieved to the satisfaction of the Title IX Coordinator (or designee). The Title IX
Coordinator may stay the implementation of sanctions pending the outcome of a timely appeal.

Formal Grievance Process: Appeals
The College offers the Parties the opportunity to appeal from a determination regarding responsibility
or a dismissal of a formal complaint, or any allegations therein. All requests for appeal consideration
must be submitted in writing to the Title IX Coordinator within ten (10) calendar days of the delivery of
the written findings to the appealing party. Any party may appeal a dismissal or a determination and/or
sanctions under the grounds described below:

e Proceduralirregularity that affected the outcome of the matter.

e Newly discovered evidence that could affect the outcome of the matter.

o Title IXpersonnel (i.e. the Investigator(s), the Decision-Maker(s), or the Title IX Coordinator) had

a conflict of interest or bias that affected the outcome of the matter.

The Title IX Coordinator will determine the Appellate Officer based off of factors including, but not
limited to, nature of the complaint, and/or any prior relationship to the Reporter and/or Respondent.

The Appellate Officer will conduct an initial review to determine if the appeal request meets the limited
grounds and is timely. If the appeal is not timely or substantively eligible, the original finding and/or
sanction(s) will stand, and the decision is final.

If the appeal is timely and substantively eligible, the Appellate Officer will provide written notification
simultaneously to the Parties within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of the appeal indicating whether
the appeal has been accepted or rejected, and the rationale for the result.

If the Appeal has been accepted, the Appellate Officer will give the Parties five (5) calendar days to
submit a written statement in support of or challenging the appeal. In addition, and if applicable, the
Appellate Officer will review the hearing record and may also consult with the Decision-Maker(s),
Investigator(s) and the Title IX Coordinator on any procedural or substantive questions that arise. After
taking the foregoing steps, the Appellate Officer will prepare a determination and submit written
notification to the Parties, generally within twenty-one (21) calendar days of receiving notice that the
appeal has been accepted. In cases where the appeal results in reinstatement to the College or

77



14.

15.

16.

resumption of privileges, all reasonable attempts will be made to restore the Respondent to his or her
prior status, recognizing that some opportunities lost may be irreparable in the short term.

Retaliation

Retaliation is defined as any adverse action taken against a person because he or she engaged in
protected activity. Retaliation, intimidation, or threats against any individual for the purpose of
interfering with any right or privilege secured by Title IX, or because the individual has made a report or
formal complaint, testified, assisted, participated or refused to participate in any manner in an
investigation, proceeding, or hearing relating to an allegation of sex discrimination or sexual
harassment is a serious violation of College policy. Acts of alleged retaliation should be reported
immediately to the Title IX Coordinator and will be promptly investigated. The College is prepared to
take appropriate steps to protect individuals who fear that they may be subjected to retaliation.

Records

In implementing this Procedure, records of all allegations, supportive measures or other responses to
reports and formal complaints, investigations, determinations, sanctions, remedies, informal
resolutions, recordings and/or transcripts, hearings, and appeals will be kept by the Title IX
Coordinator in the College’s conduct/ investigatory database, and in paper form. Additionally, the
College will maintain, both in the database and in paper form, all materials used to train the Title IX
Coordinator, the Investigator(s), the Decision-Maker(s), and the facilitators of the informal resolution
process. The College will maintain all such records for seven years.

Revision

This Procedure will be reviewed and updated periodically by the Title IX Coordinator, in collaboration
with the Title IX Committee. The College reserves the right to make changes to this Procedure as
necessary to ensure compliance with Title IX and any other applicable federal, state, or local law or
regulation. Once those changes are posted online, they are in effect. The Title IX Coordinator may make
minor modifications to procedures that do not materially jeopardize the fairness owed to any Party.
The Title IX Coordinator may also vary procedures materially with notice (on the College’s website, with
appropriate date of effect identified) upon determining that changes to applicable laws or regulations
require alterations. The Procedure in effect at the time of the resolution will apply to the resolution of
incidents, regardless of when the incident occurred, unless the Parties consent to be bound by the
current Procedure (if different from the Procedure in effect at the time of the resolution). If applicable
laws or regulations change in a way that impacts this Procedure, it will be construed to comply with
those laws and/or regulations.

This document does not create legally enforceable protections beyond the protection of the
background state and federal laws which frame such codes generally.

This Procedure is effective as of August 14, 2020, and will apply thereafter to all circumstances
involving sex discrimination or sexual harassment over which the College has jurisdiction.

Questions or complaints regarding Title IX, affirmative action, or equal opportunity can be
directed to:

Manager, Employee Compliance

Waukesha County Technical College

800 Main Street, Pewaukee, WI 53072

262.695.3481 or compliance@wctc.edu

78


mailto:compliance@wctc.edu

Preparation of the Annual Disclosure of Crime Statistics

Waukesha County Technical College complies with the Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy
and Campus Crime Statistics Act and prepares a College Safety and Security Resource Guide (Annual
Security Report) disclosing crimes that have occurred on campus. Campus crime, arrest, and referral
statistics include those reported to law enforcement agencies that have jurisdiction over other non-
campus locations, and to College officials. All crimes reported to law enforcement are included in this
report.

The procedures for preparing the annual disclosure of crime statistics include reporting statistics to the
College community obtained from the following sources: the Campus Security & Risk Office, the local
Police Department, and Campus Security Authorities. For statistical purposes, crime statistics reported
to any of these sources are recorded in the calendar year the crime was reported. A written request for
statisticalinformationis made on an annual basis to all Campus Security Authorities (as defined by federal
law). Statistical information is requested and provided to the Director, Campus Security & Risk by the
employees at the College’s Mental Health Counseling Center, even though they are not required by law to
provide statistics for the compliance document.

All of the statistics are gathered, compiled, and reported to the College community via this report, which
is published by the Manager, Employee Compliance and the Director, Campus Security & Risk. WCTC’s
Director, Campus Security & Risk submits the annual crime statistics published in this document to the
Department of Education (ED). The statistical information gathered by the Department of Education is
available to the public through the ED website.

A crime that is “unfounded” can only be done so by the reporting law enforcement agency and within the
guidelines set forth by the Uniform Crime Reporting system. Should a report be “unfounded”, it will be
withheld from the crimes statistics in both the Clery report and this Resource Guide. A footnote will be
made to indicate a report(s) was unfounded in a specific offense category. A copy of this report can be
obtained from the Campus Security Office in C-042, in the College Center (C-Building) on the Pewaukee
Campus.

Sex Offender Registration

The federal Campus Sex Crimes Prevention Act, enacted on October 28, 2000, requires institutions of
higher education to issue a statement advising the campus community where law enforcement agency
information provided by a State concerning registered sex offenders may be obtained. It also requires sex
offenders already required to register in a State to provide notice, as required under State law, of each
institution of higher education in that State at which the person is employed, carries on a vocation,
volunteers services or is a student.

In Wisconsin, convicted sex offenders must register with the Wisconsin Department of Corrections. You
can link to this information, which appears on Wisconsin Department of Corrections website at Wisconsin
Department of Corrections-Sex Offender Registry.

HIGHER EDUCATION OPPORTUNITY ACT (HEOA) NOTIFICATON TO VICTIMS
OF CRIMES OF VIOLENCE

The College will, upon written request, disclose to the alleged victim of a crime of violence, or a non-
forcible sex offense, the report on the results of any disciplinary proceeding conducted by such institution
against a student who is the alleged perpetrator of such crime or offense. If the alleged victim is deceased

79


https://www.wctc.edu/_site-pdfs/clery-report.pdf
https://www.wctc.edu/_site-pdfs/clery-report.pdf
https://www.ed.gov/
https://appsdoc.wi.gov/public
https://appsdoc.wi.gov/public

as the result of such crime or offense, the next of kin of such victim shall be treated as the alleged victim
for purposes of this paragraph.

SEPARATE CAMPUSES

All policy statements contained in this report apply to the Pewaukee and Waukesha campuses unless
otherwise indicated.

80



Crime Statistics-WCTC Main Campus (Pewaukee)

CRIMINAL OFFENSES REPORTING TABLE

Year

On
Campus

Non-
Campus

Public
Property

Murder/Non-Negligent Manslaughter

2024

0

0

0

2023

2022

Manslaughter by Negligence

2024

2023

2022

Rape

2024

2023

2022

Fondling

2024

2023

2022

Incest

2024

2023

2022

Statutory Rape

2024

2023

2022

Robbery

2024

2023

2022

Aggravated Assault

2024

2023

2022

Burglary

2024

2023

2022

Motor Vehicle Theft

2024

2023

2022

Arson

2024

2023

2022

[«} ol Fol ol ol Fol Bl Nl ol Nol Nol Nol ol fol fol Fol ol Nol Nol Fol Fol Nol Jol Nol Nol ol Jol fol Fol ol No ) Nol

[«} ol Fol ol ol fol Fol No) ol Nol Nol Nol ol fol fol fol ol Jol Nol Fol Fol Nol fol fol Nol o) Jol fol Fol Nol No ) Nol

[} Nol Nol ol ol ol fol fol Nol o) ol ol ol ol ol Nol ol Nol ol ol Nol Nol fol ol ol ol Nol ol ol ol Noi N

VAWA OFFENSES REPORTING TABLE

Year

o
=

Campus

Non-
Campus

Public
Property

Domestic Violence

2024

o

o

0

2023

2022

Dating Violence

2024

2023

2022

Stalking

2024

2023

2022

(e} ol ol ol Hol Nol Nol No)

(el Nol ol Nol Nol ol Nol Ne

(e} N ol ol Nol Nol ol Nol Ne

81




ARRESTS & DISCIPLINRY REFERRALS Vear On Non- Public
REPORTING TABLE Campus Campus Property
Arrests: 2024 0 0 0
Weapons: Carrying, Possessing, etc. 2023 0 0 0
2022 0 0 0
Disciplinary Referrals: 2024 0 0 0
Weapons: Carrying, Possessing, etc. 2023 0 0 0
2022 0 0 0
Arrests: 2024 0 0 0
Drug Abuse Violations 2023 1 0 0
2022 0 0 0
Disciplinary Referrals: 2024 0 0 0
Drug Abuse Violations 2023 0 0 0
2022 0 0 0
Arrests: Liquor Law Violations 2024 0 0 0
2023 1 0 0
2022 0 0 0
Disciplinary Referrals: 2024 0 0 0
Liquor Law Violations 2023 0 0 0
2022 0 0 0

Hate Crimes:
2024: 0
2023: 0
2022: 0

Unfounded Statistics:
2024: 0
2023: 0
2022: 1

*WCTC does not have residential facilities

82




Crime Statistics-WCTC Waukesha Campus

CRIMINAL OFFENSES REPORTING TABLE

Year

On
Campus

Non-
Campus

Public
Property

Murder/Non-Negligent Manslaughter

2024

o

0

0

2023

2022

Manslaughter by Negligence

2024

2023

2022

Rape

2024

2023

2022

Fondling

2024

2023

2022

Incest

2024

2023

2022

Statutory Rape

2024

2023

2022

Robbery

2024

2023

2022

Aggravated Assault

2024

2023

2022

Burglary

2024

2023

2022

Motor Vehicle Theft

2024

2023

2022

Arson

2024

2023

2022

[«} o) ol Noll fol fol ol Hol fol Nol No) o) Jol fol Fol ol Jol Jol Nol No) Hol Nol Jol Nol ol ol Nol Nol ol ol No) Nol

[«} o) ol Noll fol fol ol Hol fol Nol No) ol Jol fol Fol ol Jol Jol Nol No) Hol Nol fol ol ol ol Nol Nol ol ol No ) Nol

[} ol ol ol ol ol ol ol ol fo) ol ol ol ol Nol ol fol ol ol ol Hol fol fol Nol Jol ol Nol ol Fol ol Noi N

VAWA OFFENSES REPORTING TABLE

Year

(]
S

Campus

Non-
Campus

Public
Property

Domestic Violence

2024

o

2023

2022

Dating Violence

2024

2023

2022

Stalking

2024

2023

2022

[«} ol Fol ol ol fol Nol o) Nol

(e} ol ol ol ol ol Nol e

[«] ol Fol ol Nol fol Fol o) Nol

83




ARRESTS & DISCIPLINRY REFERRALS Vear On Non- Public
REPORTING TABLE Campus Campus Property
Arrests: 2024 0 0 0
Weapons: Carrying, Possessing, etc. 2023 0 0 0
2022 0 0 0
Disciplinary Referrals: 2024 0 0 0
Weapons: Carrying, Possessing, etc. 2023 0 0 0
2022 0 0 0
Arrests: 2024 0 0 0
Drug Abuse Violations 2023 0 0 0
2022 0 0 0
Disciplinary Referrals: 2024 0 0 0
Drug Abuse Violations 2023 0 0 0
2022 0 0 0
Arrests: Liquor Law Violations 2024 0 0 0
2023 0 0 0
2022 0 0 0
Disciplinary Referrals: 2024 0 0 0
Liquor Law Violations 2023 0 0 0
2022 0 0 0

Hate Crimes:
2024: 0
2023: 0
2022: 0

Unfounded Statistics:
2024: 0
2023: 0
2022: 0

*WCTC does not have residential facilities
Wisconsin Sexual Assault Data

Most recent information on the number of reported sexual assaults for the state of Wisconsin are located
at the following web link: Wisconsin Uniform Crime Reporting (UCR) Data Dashboard Center.

84


https://www.doj.state.wi.us/dles/bjia/ucr-sex-offense-data

PRIVACY OF RECORDS-RELEASE OF WRITTEN INFORMATION

The Waukesha County Technical College policy on record privacy and releasing information follows the
directives outlined in the Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), the federal law governing the
protection of written educational records. Registered students will be notified of this policy annually.

Only the student may authorize the release of their personal identifiable information in an education
record. All such authorizations must be in writing. A fee will be assessed for copying all or a portion of a
student record.

Notification
Students and stakeholders can find this policy via the College’s website or may obtain a copy of the policy
from the WCTC Enrollment Center.

Student Rights under FERPA

1. Students have arightto inspectand review their own educationalrecords. The student must submit
a signed, written request to the Registrar that identifies the record(s) they wish to inspect. The
Registrar will make arrangements for access within 45 days and notify the student when and where
the records may be inspected. Before being allowed to view the record, the student must present
official photo identification.

2. Students have a right to request the amendment of educational records that they believe are
inaccurate or misleading. The student must present a written request to the Registrar, clearly
identifying the part of the record they want changed, and specify why itis inaccurate or misleading.

3. If the Registrar denies the request to amend the record, the Registrar will notify the student and
advise them of the right to appeal the decision using the Student Complaint Procedure.

4. Students have a right to grant written consent to disclosures of personally identifiable information
contained in their own education record; FERPA authorizes some disclosures without consent.

5. Arecord of disclosures will be maintained within a student’s file indicating when information has
beenreleased fromthatfile and to whom, exceptfor disclosures for legitimate educationalinterest.
Students will not be notified of legally restricted disclosures or disclosures for legitimate
educational interest.

6. Students have the right to restrict the disclosure of Directory Information. To restrict the disclosure
of Directory Information, a student must file a written request with the Registrar. This request to
restrict disclosure of Directory Information will be honored until the student notifies the Registrar,
in writing, to the contrary (see section on Directory Information below).

7. Students have aright to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education concerning alleged
failures of the College to comply with requirements of FERPA. The name and address of the office
that administers FERPA is:

Family Policy Compliance Office
U.S. Department of Education 400 Maryland Avenue, SW
Washington, D.C. 20202-8520 33

Exceptions under FERPA
Under certain conditions, information can be released without student consent. These exceptions
include:

Directory Information
The use of the term Directory Information does not mean that the College actually has a document
containing Student Directory Information, or that the College has no obligation to produce such a

85



document. The term Directory Information is a legal term applying to information that the College can
release, without student consent, to any third party. The College has defined Directory Information as the
following:

e Name

o Date of birth

e Program of study

o Dates of attendance

e Current enrollment status (full-time/part-time)

e Degree status and date conferred

e Honors and awards

e Mostrecent educational institution attended

U.S. Military
According to federal law, the College must release the student’s name, address, phone number, date of
birth, and field of study to the U.S. Armed Forces.

Authorized Federal, State, and Local Authorities
Student authorization is not required if the Registrar is asked to disclose information to an authorized
representative of the following individuals or entities:

e The Comptroller General of the United States

e The Secretary of the U.S. Department of Education

e State educational authorities

e Any party legitimately connected with a student’s application for, or receipt of, financial aid

e Accrediting organizations

e Agencies involving an audit or evaluation of compliance with education programs

e Organizations conducting studies for or on behalf of educational institutions

Other Educational Institutions
Information can be released to other schools to which a student seeks or intends to enroll.

Emergency Situations
Information can be released to law enforcement personnel, emergency personnel, and College officials in
an emergency in order to protect the health or safety of students or other persons.

Legitimate Educational Interest
Officials of the College who have a legitimate educational interest may have access to student records
without obtaining consent from the student.

Officials of the College are defined as:
e persons employed by the College in an administrative, supervisory, academic, research, or support
staff position,
e persons serving on College governing bodies, and
e persons employed by or under contract to the College to perform a specific task, such as an
attorney or auditor.

An official has a legitimate educational interest if they need to:
e perform duties specified in their job description or under terms of contractual agreement;
e provide campus services related to a student, such as advising, financial aid, and counseling;

86



e perform tasks related to a student’s education, campus discipline or security.

Judicial Order

Information must be released to comply with a judicial order or lawfully issued subpoena. Unless the court
(or other issuing agency) has ordered that the existence or the contents of the subpoena or judicial order
not be disclosed, the College will make a reasonable effort to notify the student before complying so the
student may seek protective action.

Grievance Hearing

Information about a student or students involved in a conduct investigation may be released to members
of the Board of Review committee, including any students assigned to that committee, if such information
applies to the investigation.

Disciplinary Hearing
The results of a disciplinary hearing may be released to an alleged reporting party of a crime of violence
without the permission of the accused.

U.S. Patriot Act

The College must release, without consent or knowledge of the student, personally identifiable
information from the student’s education record to the Attorney General of the United States or designee
in connection with the investigation or prosecution of terrorism crimes specified in sections 233b(g)(5)(B)
and 2331 of Title 18, U.S. Code.

Written Release

Personnelemployed by the College who have consentin the form of a written release of information signed
by the student, may disclose student information to appropriate outside agencies or persons.

87



WAUKESHA Hands-on

COUNTY TECHNICAL

COLLEGE [ Highertd

MEMORANDUM
TO: WCTC District Board of Trustees
FROM: Jennifer Hagen, Senior Executive Assistant to the President and District Board
DATE: October 14, 2025
RE: Approval of Technical College Annual Board Officials Subject to State Code of
Ethics

Per Wisconsin’s Code of Ethics for Public Officials and Employees, Section 19.41 through 19.59,
Stats., the Waukesha County Technical College District Board of Trustees is required to designate
the positions at the College subject to the Wisconsin State Code of Ethics.

Action Requested: Approval of the below resolution indicating the positions and current occupants
is recommended.

88



WHEREAS, technical college district board members, district directors, and other key
administrative staff of technical college districts are subject to the State Code of Ethics.

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, for purposes of Wisconsin's Code of Ethics for Public
Officials and Employees, Sections 19.41 through 19.59, Stats., the Waukesha County Technical
College District Board of Trustees designates the following positions and indicates its intention

that the current occupants of these positions and their successors be subject to the Wisconsin Ethics
Code:

Position Occupant

President Dr. Richard G. Barnhouse
Provost and Executive Vice President Dr. Brad Piazza

Vice President — Finance and Administration Ms. Kristine Golz

Vice President — Human Resource Services and Ms. Michelle Skinder
Legal Affairs

Chief External Relations and Marketing Officer Mr. Andy Palen

Chief of Staff Ms. Laura Krohn

Senior Executive Assistant to the President and Ms. Jennifer Hagen
District Board

89


https://ethics.wi.gov/
mailto:ethics@wi.gov

ol WAUKESHA Hands-on

nj_ﬂ COUNTY TECHNICAL

el COLLEGE [ Highertd

MEMORANDUM
TO: WCTC District Board of Trustees
FROM: Kristine Golz, VP Finance & Administration
DATE: October 14, 2025
RE: Consent Agenda — Approval of 2024/25 Vendor Volume Report

By October 31 of each year the Wisconsin Technical College System requires each college board to approve
a vendor volume report that shows total payments to vendors of $50,000 or more for the prior year for the
purpose of determining whether or not there are services and/or goods that are purchased that should be bid
out in the future. Attached is the 2024/25 report for your approval.

In addition to accounts payable checks the college issues, some payments are made via a purchasing card (i.e.
similar to a debit card) or wire transfer. The report includes purchasing card payments and wires, where
applicable.

The far-right column shows whether or not a bid was done for the goods and/or services purchased from this
company and if it was a Request for Proposal (RFP), what type of product or service was purchased. Please
be aware there are some companies listed on this report where bidding would not be appropriate. Examples
would be:

o Utilities/Fuel/Advertising — These types of purchases frequently fall into a separate category where
the current market rate and/or available vendors determine who we use. In the case of advertising,
the target market we are trying to reach determines which vendors we use.

e Resale Bookstore — The Bookstore and Library solicit prices from book publishers who have the
desired books available at the lowest cost. The state exempts resale items from procurement rules.
WCTC may elect to use a competitive bidding process if time permits and if it is in our best interest
to do so for these items.

e Other public entity — WCTC frequently enters into cooperative purchasing and consortium
arrangements with other colleges and/or governmental entities in order to do bulk bidding and to
receive discounted pricing. Payments for these arrangements may be made to whichever school or
consortium is the fiscal agent.

Inflationary pressure has increased the number of vendors that WCTC spends over $50,000 with annually,
additionally timing variances in when goods are received can impact the spend from year to year. The WCTC
finance team continues to work to monitor purchases and payments to ensure compliance with state
requirements and college policies.

Staff is available to answer any questions you may have.

Attachment

90



Waukesha County Technical College

Vendor Payment History Report

2024-2025

Payments > $50,000

Vendor Banner Payments ($) Pcard &Wires-($) Total Method
Wil-Surge Electric 3,727,838.34 3,727,838.34 |Bid - Construction
Gardner Builders Milwaukee LLC 1,807,122.97 1,807,122.97 |Bid - Construction
Absolute Construction Enterprises Inc 1,559,037.80 1,559,037.80 |Bid - Construction
Ellucian Company LLC 1,477,279.18 1,375.00 [ 1,478,654.18 [Cooperative Purchase (ERP)
Camosy Construction 1,102,604.33 1,102,604.33 |Bid - Construction
Duet Resource Group 1,026,174.23 1,026,174.23 |Cooperative Purchase
WE Energies 992,974.20 992,974.20 |Utilities
Dell Marketing L P 974,829.38 3,989.78 978,819.16 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Capital Data Inc 948,477.03 948,477.03 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Henry Schein Inc 816,386.59 39,179.27 855,565.86 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
ABM Industries Inc 802,165.02 802,165.02 [RFP - Cleaning Services
Zimmerman Design Group 760,738.79 760,738.79 [RFP - A&E
Districts Mutual Insurance 610,506.00 610,506.00 [Cooperative Purchase
Lab Midwest Corp 556,568.96 556,568.96 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Camera Corner 528,782.16 528,782.16 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Trane Company 469,951.49 469,951.49 |Cooperative Purchase
Amazon 2,679.95 439,497.40 442,177.35 |Cooperative Purchase
Village of Pewaukee 384,073.72 384,073.72 [Other Public Entity
TouchNet Information Systems Inc 368,709.00 368,709.00 |Cooperative Purchase
Quarles & Brady LLP 361,968.44 361,968.44 [Letter of Engagement - Legal Services
Haas Factory Outlet 337,005.04 1,659.95 338,664.99 [Sole Source
Gannett Wisconsin LocaliQ 302,043.83 45.00 302,088.83 [Sole Source
Symetra Life Insurance Company 299,061.29 299,061.29 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Forte (formerly AVI) 287,704.20 287,704.20 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Emmons Business Interiors 283,136.60 283,136.60 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Staff Electric Company Inc 281,740.11 281,740.11 |RFP - Security Integration
McGraw Hill Education Inc 261,443.68 261,443.68 [Bookstore Retail
CDW-G Computer Discount Warehouse 212,775.68 36,322.88 249,098.56 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Aladdin Food Management Services LLC 235,940.81 1,620.73 237,561.54 |RFP - Food Service
MacQueen Equipment LLC 225,970.63 468.60 226,439.23 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Oracle America Inc 225,133.62 225,133.62 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Echo Healthcare Inc 210,630.00 210,630.00 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Simons Electrical Systems 200,196.41 648.66 200,845.07 [RFP - Electrical Services
Insight Public Sector 185,064.37 4,170.81 189,235.18 |Cooperative Purchase
RedShelf Inc 183,250.68 183,250.68 |Bookstore Retail
Wisconsin Library Services Inc 179,368.86 179,368.86 |Cooperative Purchase
Village of Pewaukee Water Utility 175,415.57 175,415.57 |Utilities
Independence Painting LLC 175,256.44 175,256.44 |RFP - Painting Services
Level Up Construction Inc 172,460.00 172,460.00 [Bid - Construction
D & H Distributing 165,748.73 165,748.73 |Bookstore Retail
Gener8tor Management LLC 162,500.00 162,500.00 |Sole Source
Pivot Point International Inc 154,511.51 301.66 154,813.17 |Bookstore Retail
Fox Valley Technical College 148,693.35 148,693.35 |Other Public Entity
Selzer Ornst Co 144,960.81 144,960.81 |Bid - Construction
Blackhawk Technical College 124,347.76 124,347.76 |Other Public Entity
Constellation NewEnergy Gas Division LLC 119,314.50 119,314.50 |Utilities
MSC Industrial Supply 31,820.33 85,136.68 116,957.01 [Cooperative Purchase
Weatherproofing Technologies Inc 116,602.10 116,602.10 [Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Northwestern University 113,400.00 113,400.00 |Other Public Entity
Madison National Life Insurance Co 111,099.51 111,099.51 [Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Johnson Controls Inc 104,530.57 6,480.00 111,010.57 [Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Clear Channel 108,337.50 108,337.50 |Sole Source
Cengage Learning 104,288.12 104,288.12 |Bookstore Retail
Air One Equipment Inc 100,404.35 100,404.35 |RFQ & Multiple purchases
Burmax 84,355.79 13,667.80 98,023.59 |Bookstore Retail
Statz Restoration & Engineering Co 94,456.00 94,456.00 |RFP - Concrete and Masonry Repairs
Instructure 90,445.04 90,445.04 [Cooperative Purchase
5 Star Truck Sales 89,480.00 89,480.00 [Sole Source - Used Equipment
MESO 89,154.50 89,154.50 [Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Revere Electric Supply Co 79,082.46 9,544.59 88,627.05 |RFQ & Multiple PO's <25K
Connect Search LLC 88,141.75 88,141.75 |Sole Source
School District of Waukesha 87,176.00 87,176.00 [Other Public Entity
Ewald Automotive Group Inc 84,005.00 84,005.00 [Cooperative Purchase & RFQ
Willo Labs Inc 77,301.12 77,301.12 [Bookstore Retail
ALRO STEEL CORP 76,832.70 76,832.70 |Multiple Purchases <25K
Patterson Dental Company 19,786.07 56,329.01 76,115.08 |Cooperative Purchase
Allcon LLC 75,523.69 75,523.69 [Bid - Construction
PFM Asset Management LLC 75,491.88 75,491.88 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
iSimulate 73,190.00 73,190.00 |Cooperative Purchase
Paragon Development Systems (PDS) 72,475.45 72,475.45 |RFP - Software Maintenance & Cooperative
Hyland Software Inc 70,471.73 70,471.73 |Cooperative purchase

91




Deere & Company 68,003.61 68,003.61 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
Quad Graphics 67,397.78 67,397.78 |RFP - Printing

Rote Oil Ltd 65,995.19 65,995.19 |Multiple Purchases <25K
Milwaukee Business Journal 64,478.00 64,478.00 |Multiple Purchases <25K

Hein Electric Supply Co 63,034.81 697.08 63,731.89 |Multiple Purchases <25K
SALONCENTRIC 62,624.34 62,624.34 |Bookstore Retail & Multiple Purchases <25K
Jones and Bartlett Publishers Inc 59,507.46 899.55 60,407.01 [Bookstore Retail

Waukesha County 59,937.53 59,937.53 |Other Public Entity

Yes Equipment and Services Inc 58,600.00 58,600.00 |Cooperative Purchase
Goodheart Willcox Co Inc 57,153.64 57,153.64 [Bookstore Retail

Laerdal Medical Corporation 51,554.73 4,928.88 56,483.61 |Cooperative Purchase

Dell Financial Services LLC 55,285.64 55,285.64 |Cooperative Purchase - Multiple
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP (CLA) 54,848.85 54,848.85 [Cooperative Purchase

Imperial Dade 54,645.21 54,645.21 |Multiple Purchases <25K
PrismRBS LLC 54,129.96 54,129.96 [Bookstore Retail

WiscNet 53,975.00 53,975.00 |Cooperative Purchase

Hu Friedy Mfg Co LLC 51,819.85 101.40 51,921.25 |Bookstore Retail

92




WAUKESHA Hands-on

COUNTY TECHNICAL

COLLEGE ( HigherEd

MEMORANDUM
TO: WCTC District Board of Trustees
FROM: Brad Piazza, Provost and Vice President, Academic Affairs
DATE: October 14, 2025
RE: Education Abroad: Sunderland University study abroad

Waukesha County Technical College (WCTC) requests approval to conduct the Comparative
Trends in Nursing and Global Health Care study abroad program.

Sunderland University Exchange Program

This program is planned and conducted through WCTC and Sunderland University. The
purpose of the program is to provide students the opportunity to analyze health care across
both the UK and the US, working with academics and senior clinicians to develop insight
and appraise health care services reflecting the influence of the nurse’s role throughout
life. Students will explore aspects of nursing from birth to end of life with modules on
mental health, addiction, and accident/emergency health. The group will visit London for
a historical perspective on nursing.

Program: Comparative Trends in Nursing and Global Health Care

Location: Sunderland, England and one weekend in London, England

Dates: May 26 — June 19, 2026 (approximate)

Eligibility: = Minimum 2.5 GPA, maximum of 14 students from the nursing program.
Course: 3 credit education abroad course to prepare students including pre-departure

research, in country reflection and post travel assignments/presentations.

Student Cost: $6,600 (approximate) inclusive of international airfare, some meals, lodging,
cultural activities, in-country transportation, tuition fee, and insurance.
Participants will cover the cost of the program from personal funds, financial
aid, and scholarships.

Scholarships: WCTC students are eligible for scholarships and stipends from the Student
Government Association and the WCTC Foundation.

Leaders: Faculty Lead: Carla Foley, Nursing Instructor. A second School of Health faculty
or staff member will be identified.

Action Requested: Staff is seeking your approval to conduct the Comparative Trends in Nursing
and Global Health Care study abroad program. Staff are available to answer any questions.

93



WAUKESHA Hands-on

COUNTY TECHNICAL

COLLEGE ( HigherEd

MEMORANDUM
TO: WCTC District Board of Trustees
FROM: Brad Piazza, Provost and Vice President, Academic Affairs
DATE: October 14, 2025
RE: Education Abroad: Hessen Exchange, Germany

Waukesha County Technical College (WCTC) requests approval to conduct the Hessen
Exchange Program study abroad.

Hessen Exchange Program

This program is planned and conducted through WCTC and Hans-Boeckler-Schule HBS.
The purpose of the program is to provide students the opportunity to visit with one of
WCTC’s partner schools located in Frankfurt, Germany. During the two-week program,
students will participate in classes and visit businesses in the Frankfurt area. Students will
also travel to historic German cities and visit cultural landmarks to learn more about
German history. Students will be paired with a German host family affiliated with the
partner school.

Program: Hessen Exchange Program

Location: Frankfurt, Germany with one weekend of travel to Amsterdam,
Netherlands.

Dates: May 18 — June 1, 2026 (approximate)

Eligibility: = Minimum 2.5 GPA, maximum of 6 students, School of Business students
will be given preference. Must be a current student (minimum 6 credits) at
the time of application and travel.

Course: 1 credit education abroad course to prepare students including pre-departure
research, in country reflection and post travel assignments/presentations.

Student Cost: $3,000 (approximate) inclusive of international airfare, some meals, lodging,
cultural activities, in-country transportation, tuition fee, and insurance.
Participants will cover the cost of the program from personal funds, financial
aid, and scholarships.

Scholarships: WCTC students are eligible for scholarships and stipends from the Student
Government Association and the WCTC Foundation.

Leaders: Faculty Lead: Tiffanie Kloida, Early Childhood Instructor

Action Requested: Staff is seeking your approval to conduct the Hessen Exchange Program study
abroad. Staff are available to answer any questions.

94



RESOLUTION NO.

RESOLUTION AWARDING THE SALE OF $4,650,000
GENERAL OBLIGATION PROMISSORY NOTES, SERIES 2025C

WHEREAS, on September 9, 2025, the District Board of the Waukesha County Area
Technical College District, Waukesha, Jefferson, Dodge and Racine Counties, Wisconsin (the
"District") adopted a resolution (the "Authorizing Resolution") which authorized the issuance of
general obligation promissory notes in the amount of $800,000 for the public purpose of
financing building remodeling and improvement projects; in the amount of $3,500,000 for the
public purpose of financing the acquisition of movable equipment; and in the amount of
$350,000 for the public purpose of financing site improvement projects (collectively, the
"Project");

WHEREAS, the District caused Notices to Electors to be published in The Freeman on
September 16, 2025 giving notice of adoption of the Authorizing Resolution, identifying where
and when the Authorizing Resolution could be inspected, and advising electors of their right to
petition for a referendum on the question of the issuance of general obligation promissory notes
to finance building remodeling and improvement projects and the acquisition of movable
equipment;

WHEREAS, no petition for referendum has been filed with the District and the time to
file such a petition expires on October 16, 2025;

WHEREAS, the District has directed Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated ("Baird") to
take the steps necessary to sell the District's general obligation promissory notes (the "Notes") to
pay the cost of the Project;

WHEREAS, Baird, in consultation with the officials of the District, prepared an Official
Notice of Sale (a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this
reference) setting forth the details of and the bid requirements for the Notes and indicating that
the Notes would be offered for public sale on October 14, 2025;

WHEREAS, the Secretary (in consultation with Baird) caused notice of the sale of the
Notes to be published and/or announced and caused the Official Notice of Sale to be distributed
to potential bidders offering the Notes for public sale on October 14, 2025;

WHEREAS, the District has duly received bids for the Notes as described on the Bid
Tabulation attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by this reference (the "Bid
Tabulation"); and

WHEREAS, it has been determined that the bid proposal (the "Proposal") submitted by
the financial institution listed first on the Bid Tabulation fully complies with the bid
requirements set forth in the Official Notice of Sale and is deemed to be the most advantageous
to the District. Baird has recommended that the District accept the Proposal. A copy of said
Proposal submitted by such institution (the "Purchaser") is attached hereto as Exhibit C and
incorporated herein by this reference.

95



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the District Board of the District that:

Section 1. Ratification of the Official Notice of Sale and Offering Materials. The
District Board hereby ratifies and approves the details of the Notes set forth in Exhibit A
attached hereto as and for the details of the Notes. The Official Notice of Sale and any other
offering materials prepared and circulated by Baird are hereby ratified and approved in all
respects. All actions taken by officers of the District and Baird in connection with the
preparation and distribution of the Official Notice of Sale, and any other offering materials are
hereby ratified and approved in all respects.

Section 1A. Award of the Notes. For the purpose of paying the cost of the Project, there
shall be borrowed pursuant to Section 67.12(12), Wisconsin Statutes, the principal sum of FOUR
MILLION SIX HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($4,650,000) from the Purchaser
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Proposal. The Proposal of the Purchaser

offering to purchase the Notes for the sum set forth on the Proposal [(as modified on the Bid

Tabulation and reflected in the Pricing Summary referenced below and incorporated herein)],
plus accrued interest to the date of delivery, resulting in a true interest cost as set forth on the
Proposal, is hereby accepted (subject to the condition that no valid petition for referendum is
filed by October 16, 2025 with respect to the Notes). The Chairperson and Secretary or other
appropriate officers of the District are authorized and directed to execute an acceptance of the
Proposal on behalf of the District. The good faith deposit of the Purchaser shall be applied in
accordance with the Official Notice of Sale, and any good faith deposits submitted by
unsuccessful bidders shall be promptly returned. The Notes shall bear interest at the rates set
forth on the Proposal.

Section 2. Terms of the Notes. The Notes shall be designated "General Obligation
Promissory Notes, Series 2025C"; shall be issued in the aggregate principal amount of
$4,650,000; shall be dated November 4, 2025; shall be in the denomination of $5,000 or any
integral multiple thereof; shall be numbered R-1 and upward; and shall bear interest at the rates
per annum and mature on April 1 of each year, in the years and principal amounts as set forth on
the Pricing Summary attached hereto as Exhibit D-1 and incorporated herein by this reference.
Interest shall be payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year commencing on
April 1, 2026. Interest shall be computed upon the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day
months and will be rounded pursuant to the rules of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.
The schedule of principal and interest payments due on the Notes is set forth on the Debt Service
Schedule attached hereto as Exhibit D-2 and incorporated herein by this reference (the
"Schedule").

Section 3. Redemption Provisions. The Notes are not subject to optional redemption.

[The Proposal specifies that [some of] the Notes shall be subject to mandatory
redemption. The terms of such mandatory redemption are set forth on an attachment hereto as
Exhibit MRP and incorporated herein by this reference. Upon the optional redemption of any of
the Notes subject to mandatory redemption, the principal amount of such Notes so redeemed

96



shall be credited against the mandatory redemption payments established in Exhibit MRP for
such Notes in such manner as the District shall direct.]
Section 4. Form of the Notes. The Notes shall be issued in registered form and shall be

executed and delivered in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit E and incorporated
herein by this reference.

Section 5. Tax Provisions.

(A) Direct Annual Irrepealable Tax Levy. For the purpose of paying the
principal of and interest on the Notes as the same becomes due, the full faith, credit and
resources of the District are hereby irrevocably pledged, and there is hereby levied upon all of
the taxable property of the District a direct annual irrepealable tax in the years 2025 through
2029 for the payments due in the years 2026 through 2030 in the amounts set forth on the
Schedule.

(B) Tax Collection. So long as any part of the principal of or interest on the
Notes remains unpaid, the District shall be and continue without power to repeal such levy or
obstruct the collection of said tax until all such payments have been made or provided for. After
the issuance of the Notes, said tax shall be, from year to year, carried onto the tax roll of the
District and collected in addition to all other taxes and in the same manner and at the same time
as other taxes of the District for said years are collected, except that the amount of tax carried
onto the tax roll may be reduced in any year by the amount of any surplus money in the Debt
Service Fund Account created below.

(C) Additional Funds. If at any time there shall be on hand insufficient funds
from the aforesaid tax levy to meet principal and/or interest payments on said Notes when due,
the requisite amounts shall be paid from other funds of the District then available, which sums
shall be replaced upon the collection of the taxes herein levied.

Section 6. Segregated Debt Service Fund Account.

(A) Creation and Deposits. There shall be and there hereby is established in the
treasury of the District, if one has not already been created, a debt service fund, separate and
distinct from every other fund, which shall be maintained in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. Debt service or sinking funds established for obligations previously
issued by the District may be considered as separate and distinct accounts within the debt service
fund.

Within the debt service fund, there hereby is established a separate and distinct account
designated as the "Debt Service Fund Account for General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series
2025C, dated November 4, 2025" (the "Debt Service Fund Account") and such account shall be
maintained until the indebtedness evidenced by the Notes is fully paid or otherwise extinguished.
There shall be deposited into the Debt Service Fund Account (i) all accrued interest received by
the District at the time of delivery of and payment for the Notes; (ii) any premium which may be
received by the District above the par value of the Notes and accrued interest thereon; (iii) all
money raised by the taxes herein levied and any amounts appropriated for the specific purpose of

97



meeting principal of and interest on the Notes when due; (iv) such other sums as may be
necessary at any time to pay principal of and interest on the Notes when due; (v) surplus monies
in the Borrowed Money Fund as specified below; and (vi) such further deposits as may be
required by Section 67.11, Wisconsin Statutes.

(B) Use and Investment. No money shall be withdrawn from the Debt Service
Fund Account and appropriated for any purpose other than the payment of principal of and
interest on the Notes until all such principal and interest has been paid in full and the Notes
canceled; provided (i) the funds to provide for each payment of principal of and interest on the
Notes prior to the scheduled receipt of taxes from the next succeeding tax collection may be
invested in direct obligations of the United States of America maturing in time to make such
payments when they are due or in other investments permitted by law; and (ii) any funds over
and above the amount of such principal and interest payments on the Notes may be used to
reduce the next succeeding tax levy, or may, at the option of the District, be invested by
purchasing the Notes as permitted by and subject to Section 67.11(2)(a), Wisconsin Statutes, or
in permitted municipal investments under the pertinent provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes
("Permitted Investments"), which investments shall continue to be a part of the Debt Service
Fund Account. Any investment of the Debt Service Fund Account shall at all times conform
with the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") and any
applicable Treasury Regulations (the "Regulations").

(C) Remaining Monies. When all of the Notes have been paid in full and
canceled, and all Permitted Investments disposed of, any money remaining in the Debt Service
Fund Account shall be transferred and deposited in the general fund of the District, unless the
District Board directs otherwise.

Section 7. Proceeds of the Notes; Segregated Borrowed Money Fund. The proceeds of
the Notes (the "Note Proceeds") (other than any premium and accrued interest which must be
paid at the time of the delivery of the Notes into the Debt Service Fund Account created above)
shall be deposited into a special fund (the "Borrowed Money Fund") separate and distinct from
all other funds of the District and disbursed solely for the purpose or purposes for which
borrowed. Monies in the Borrowed Money Fund may be temporarily invested in Permitted
Investments. Any monies, including any income from Permitted Investments, remaining in the
Borrowed Money Fund after the purpose or purposes for which the Notes have been issued have
been accomplished, and, at any time, any monies as are not needed and which obviously
thereafter cannot be needed for such purpose(s) shall be deposited in the Debt Service Fund
Account.

Section 8. No Arbitrage. All investments made pursuant to this Resolution shall be
Permitted Investments, but no such investment shall be made in such a manner as would cause
the Notes to be "arbitrage bonds" within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code or the
Regulations and an officer of the District, charged with the responsibility for issuing the Notes,
shall certify as to facts, estimates, circumstances and reasonable expectations in existence on the
date of delivery of the Notes to the Purchaser which will permit the conclusion that the Notes are
not "arbitrage bonds," within the meaning of the Code or Regulations.

98



Section 9. Compliance with Federal Tax Laws. (a) The District represents and
covenants that the projects financed by the Notes and the ownership, management and use of the
projects will not cause the Notes to be "private activity bonds" within the meaning of Section
141 of the Code. The District further covenants that it shall comply with the provisions of the
Code to the extent necessary to maintain the tax-exempt status of the interest on the Notes
including, if applicable, the rebate requirements of Section 148(f) of the Code. The District
further covenants that it will not take any action, omit to take any action or permit the taking or
omission of any action within its control (including, without limitation, making or permitting any
use of the proceeds of the Notes) if taking, permitting or omitting to take such action would
cause any of the Notes to be an arbitrage bond or a private activity bond within the meaning of
the Code or would otherwise cause interest on the Notes to be included in the gross income of
the recipients thereof for federal income tax purposes. The Secretary or other officer of the
District charged with the responsibility of issuing the Notes shall provide an appropriate
certificate of the District certifying that the District can and covenanting that it will comply with
the provisions of the Code and Regulations.

(b) The District also covenants to use its best efforts to meet the requirements and
restrictions of any different or additional federal legislation which may be made applicable to the
Notes provided that in meeting such requirements the District will do so only to the extent
consistent with the proceedings authorizing the Notes and the laws of the State of Wisconsin and
to the extent that there is a reasonable period of time in which to comply.

Section 10. Execution of the Notes; Closing; Professional Services. The Notes shall be
issued in printed form, executed on behalf of the District by the manual or facsimile signatures of
the Chairperson and Secretary, authenticated, if required, by the Fiscal Agent (defined below),
sealed with its official or corporate seal, if any, or a facsimile thereof, and delivered to the
Purchaser upon payment to the District of the purchase price thereof, plus accrued interest to the
date of delivery (the "Closing"). The facsimile signature of either of the officers executing the
Notes may be imprinted on the Notes in lieu of the manual signature of the officer but, unless the
District has contracted with a fiscal agent to authenticate the Notes, at least one of the signatures
appearing on each Note shall be a manual signature. In the event that either of the officers
whose signatures appear on the Notes shall cease to be such officers before the Closing, such
signatures shall, nevertheless, be valid and sufficient for all purposes to the same extent as if they
had remained in office until the Closing. The aforesaid officers are hereby authorized and
directed to do all acts and execute and deliver the Notes and all such documents, certificates and
acknowledgements as may be necessary and convenient to effectuate the Closing. The District
hereby authorizes the officers and agents of the District to enter into, on its behalf, agreements
and contracts in conjunction with the Notes, including but not limited to agreements and
contracts for legal, trust, fiscal agency, disclosure and continuing disclosure, and rebate
calculation services. Any such contract heretofore entered into in conjunction with the issuance
of the Notes is hereby ratified and approved in all respects.

Section 11. Payment of the Notes; Fiscal Agent. The principal of and interest on the
Notes shall be paid by Associated Trust Company, National Association, which is hereby
appointed as the District's registrar and fiscal agent pursuant to the provisions of Section
67.10(2), Wisconsin Statutes (the "Fiscal Agent"). The District hereby authorizes the
Chairperson and Secretary or other appropriate officers of the District to enter into a Fiscal

99



Agency Agreement between the District and the Fiscal Agent. Such contract may provide,
among other things, for the performance by the Fiscal Agent of the functions listed in Wis. Stats.
Sec. 67.10(2)(a) to (j), where applicable, with respect to the Notes.

Section 12. Persons Treated as Owners; Transfer of Notes. The District shall cause
books for the registration and for the transfer of the Notes to be kept by the Fiscal Agent. The
person in whose name any Note shall be registered shall be deemed and regarded as the absolute
owner thereof for all purposes and payment of either principal or interest on any Note shall be
made only to the registered owner thereof. All such payments shall be valid and effectual to
satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Note to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.

Any Note may be transferred by the registered owner thereof by surrender of the Note at
the office of the Fiscal Agent, duly endorsed for the transfer or accompanied by an assignment
duly executed by the registered owner or his attorney duly authorized in writing. Upon such
transfer, the Chairperson and Secretary shall execute and deliver in the name of the transferee or
transferees a new Note or Notes of a like aggregate principal amount, series and maturity and the
Fiscal Agent shall record the name of each transferee in the registration book. No registration
shall be made to bearer. The Fiscal Agent shall cancel any Note surrendered for transfer.

The District shall cooperate in any such transfer, and the Chairperson and Secretary are
authorized to execute any new Note or Notes necessary to effect any such transfer.

Section 13. Record Date. The 15th day of the calendar month next preceding each
interest payment date shall be the record date for the Notes (the "Record Date"). Payment of
interest on the Notes on any interest payment date shall be made to the registered owners of the
Notes as they appear on the registration book of the District at the close of business on the
Record Date.

Section 14. Utilization of The Depository Trust Company Book-Entry-Only System. In
order to make the Notes eligible for the services provided by The Depository Trust Company,
New York, New York ("DTC"), the District agrees to the applicable provisions set forth in the
Blanket Issuer Letter of Representations, which the Secretary or other authorized representative
of the District is authorized and directed to execute and deliver to DTC on behalf of the District
to the extent an effective Blanket Issuer Letter of Representations is not presently on file in the
District office.

Section 15. Official Statement. The District Board hereby approves the Preliminary
Official Statement with respect to the Notes and deems the Preliminary Official Statement as
"final" as of its date for purposes of SEC Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by the Securities and
Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Rule"). All
actions taken by officers of the District in connection with the preparation of such Preliminary
Official Statement and any addenda to it or final Official Statement are hereby ratified and
approved. In connection with the Closing, the appropriate District official shall certify the
Preliminary Official Statement and any addenda or final Official Statement. The Secretary shall
cause copies of the Preliminary Official Statement and any addenda or final Official Statement to
be distributed to the Purchaser.

100



Section 16. Undertaking to Provide Continuing Disclosure. The District hereby
covenants and agrees, for the benefit of the owners of the Notes, to enter into a written
undertaking (the "Undertaking") if required by the Rule to provide continuing disclosure of
certain financial information and operating data and timely notices of the occurrence of certain
events in accordance with the Rule. The Undertaking shall be enforceable by the owners of the
Notes or by the Purchaser on behalf of such owners (provided that the rights of the owners and
the Purchaser to enforce the Undertaking shall be limited to a right to obtain specific
performance of the obligations thereunder and any failure by the District to comply with the
provisions of the Undertaking shall not be an event of default with respect to the Notes).

To the extent required under the Rule, the Chairperson and Secretary, or other officer of
the District charged with the responsibility for issuing the Notes, shall provide a Continuing
Disclosure Certificate for inclusion in the transcript of proceedings, setting forth the details and
terms of the District's Undertaking.

Section 17. Record Book. The Secretary shall provide and keep the transcript of
proceedings as a separate record book (the "Record Book") and shall record a full and correct
statement of every step or proceeding had or taken in the course of authorizing and issuing the
Notes in the Record Book.

Section 18. Bond Insurance. If the Purchaser determines to obtain municipal bond
insurance with respect to the Notes, the officers of the District are authorized to take all actions
necessary to obtain such municipal bond insurance. The Chairperson and Secretary are
authorized to agree to such additional provisions as the bond insurer may reasonably request and
which are acceptable to the Chairperson and Secretary including provisions regarding restrictions
on investment of Note proceeds, the payment procedure under the municipal bond insurance
policy, the rights of the bond insurer in the event of default and payment of the Notes by the
bond insurer and notices to be given to the bond insurer. In addition, any reference required by
the bond insurer to the municipal bond insurance policy shall be made in the form of Note
provided herein.

101



Section 19. Conflicting Resolutions; Severability; Effective Date. All prior resolutions,
rules or other actions of the District Board or any parts thereof in conflict with the provisions
hereof shall be, and the same are, hereby rescinded insofar as the same may so conflict. In the
event that any one or more provisions hereof shall for any reason be held to be illegal or invalid,
such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provisions hereof. The foregoing shall take
effect immediately upon adoption and approval in the manner provided by law.

Adopted, approved and recorded October 14, 2025.

Brian K. Baumgartner
Chairperson
ATTEST:

Ryan J. Clark
Secretary
(SEAL)

102



EXHIBIT A

Official Notice of Sale

To be provided by Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated and incorporated into the Resolution.

(See Attached)

103



EXHIBIT B

Bid Tabulation

To be provided by Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated and incorporated into the Resolution.

(See Attached)

104



EXHIBIT C

Winning Bid

To be provided by Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated and incorporated into the Resolution.

(See Attached)

105



EXHIBIT D-1

Pricing Summary

To be provided by Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated and incorporated into the Resolution.

(See Attached)

106



EXHIBIT D-2

Debt Service Schedule and Irrepealable Tax Levies

To be provided by Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated and incorporated into the Resolution.

(See Attached)

107



[EXHIBIT MRP

Mandatory Redemption Provision

The Notes due on April 1, , and (the "Term Bonds") are subject to
mandatory redemption prior to maturity by lot (as selected by the Depository) at a redemption
price equal to One Hundred Percent (100%) of the principal amount to be redeemed plus accrued
interest to the date of redemption, from debt service fund deposits which are required to be made
in amounts sufficient to redeem on April 1 of each year the respective amount of Term Bonds
specified below:

For the Term Bonds Maturing on April 1,

Redemption
Date Amount
o $
(maturity)
For the Term Bonds Maturing on April 1,
Redemption
Date Amount
_d $
(maturity)
For the Term Bonds Maturing on April 1,
Redemption
Date Amount
B $
(maturity)
For the Term Bonds Maturing on April 1,
Redemption
Date Amount

$

(maturity)]

108



EXHIBIT E

(Form of Note)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
REGISTERED STATE OF WISCONSIN DOLLARS
NO.R-  WAUKESHA COUNTY AREA TECHNICAL COLLEGE DISTRICT §$
GENERAL OBLIGATION PROMISSORY NOTE, SERIES 2025C

MATURITY DATE:  ORIGINAL DATE OF ISSUE:  INTEREST RATE: CUSIP:

April 1, November 4, 2025 %

DEPOSITORY OR ITS NOMINEE NAME: CEDE & CO.

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: THOUSAND DOLLARS
¢ )

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the Waukesha County Area Technical College District,
Waukesha, Jefferson, Dodge and Racine Counties, Wisconsin (the "District"), hereby
acknowledges itself to owe and promises to pay to the Depository or its Nominee Name (the
"Depository") identified above (or to registered assigns), on the maturity date identified above,
the principal amount identified above, and to pay interest thereon at the rate of interest per
annum identified above, all subject to the provisions set forth herein regarding redemption prior
to maturity. Interest shall be payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year
commencing on April 1, 2026 until the aforesaid principal amount is paid in full. Both the
principal of and interest on this Note are payable to the registered owner in lawful money of the
United States. Interest payable on any interest payment date shall be paid by wire transfer to the
Depository in whose name this Note is registered on the Bond Register maintained by Associated
Trust Company, National Association (the "Fiscal Agent") or any successor thereto at the close
of business on the 15th day of the calendar month next preceding each interest payment date (the
"Record Date"). This Note is payable as to principal upon presentation and surrender hereof at
the office of the Fiscal Agent.

For the prompt payment of this Note together with interest hereon as aforesaid and for the
levy of taxes sufficient for that purpose, the full faith, credit and resources of the District are
hereby irrevocably pledged.

This Note is one of an issue of Notes aggregating the principal amount of $4,650,000, all
of which are of like tenor, except as to denomination, interest rate and maturity date, issued by
the District pursuant to the provisions of Section 67.12(12), Wisconsin Statutes, for the public
purposes of financing building remodeling and improvement projects ($800,000); the acquisition
of movable equipment ($3,500,000); and site improvement projects ($350,000), as authorized by
resolutions adopted on September 9, 2025 and October 14, 2025. Said resolutions are recorded
in the official minutes of the District Board for said dates.

109



This Note is not subject to optional redemption.

[The Notes maturing in the years are subject to mandatory redemption by lot
as provided in the resolutions referred to above, at the redemption price of par plus accrued

interest to the date of redemption and without premium.]

In the event the Notes are redeemed prior to maturity, as long as the Notes are in
book-entry-only form, official notice of the redemption will be given by mailing a notice by
registered or certified mail, overnight express delivery, facsimile transmission, electronic
transmission or in any other manner required by the Depository, to the Depository not less than
thirty (30) days nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the redemption date. If less than all of the
Notes of a maturity are to be called for redemption, the Notes of such maturity to be redeemed
will be selected by lot. Such notice will include but not be limited to the following: the
designation and date of the Notes called for redemption, CUSIP number, and the date of
redemption. Any notice provided as described herein shall be conclusively presumed to have
been duly given, whether or not the registered owner receives the notice. The Notes shall cease
to bear interest on the specified redemption date provided that federal or other immediately
available funds sufficient for such redemption are on deposit at the office of the Depository at
that time. Upon such deposit of funds for redemption the Notes shall no longer be deemed to be
outstanding.

It is hereby certified and recited that all conditions, things and acts required by law to
exist or to be done prior to and in connection with the issuance of this Note have been done, have
existed and have been performed in due form and time; that the aggregate indebtedness of the
District, including this Note and others issued simultaneously herewith, does not exceed any
limitation imposed by law or the Constitution of the State of Wisconsin; and that a direct annual
irrepealable tax has been levied sufficient to pay this Note, together with the interest thereon,
when and as payable.

This Note is transferable only upon the books of the District kept for that purpose at the
office of the Fiscal Agent, only in the event that the Depository does not continue to act as
depository for the Notes, and the District appoints another depository, upon surrender of the Note
to the Fiscal Agent, by the registered owner in person or his duly authorized attorney, together
with a written instrument of transfer (which may be endorsed hereon) satisfactory to the Fiscal
Agent duly executed by the registered owner or his duly authorized attorney. Thereupon a new
fully registered Note in the same aggregate principal amount shall be issued to the new
depository in exchange therefor and upon the payment of a charge sufficient to reimburse the
District for any tax, fee or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such
registration. The Fiscal Agent shall not be obliged to make any transfer of the Notes after the
Record Date. The Fiscal Agent and District may treat and consider the Depository in whose
name this Note is registered as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment
of, or on account of, the principal or redemption price hereof and interest due hereon and for all
other purposes whatsoever. The Notes are issuable solely as negotiable, fully-registered Notes
without coupons in the denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.

110



This Note shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose until the Certificate of
Authentication hereon shall have been signed by the Fiscal Agent.

No delay or omission on the part of the owner hereof to exercise any right hereunder shall
impair such right or be considered as a waiver thereof or as a waiver of or acquiescence in any
default hereunder.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Waukesha County Area Technical College District,
Waukesha, Jefferson, Dodge and Racine Counties, Wisconsin, by its governing body, has caused
this Note to be executed for it and in its name by the manual or facsimile signatures of its duly
qualified Chairperson and Secretary; and to be sealed with its official or corporate seal, if any, all
as of the original date of issue specified above.

WAUKESHA COUNTY AREA TECHNICAL
COLLEGE DISTRICT, WISCONSIN

Brian K. Baumgartner
Chairperson

(SEAL)

By:

Ryan J. Clark
Secretary

111



Date of Authentication: ,

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION
This Note is one of the Notes of the issue authorized by the within-mentioned resolutions
of the Waukesha County Area Technical College District, Waukesha, Jefferson, Dodge and

Racine Counties, Wisconsin.

ASSOCIATED TRUST COMPANY,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By

Authorized Signatory

112



ASSIGNMENT

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned sells, assigns and transfers unto

(Name and Address of Assignee)

(Social Security or other Identifying Number of Assignee)

the within Note and all rights thereunder and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints
, Legal Representative, to transfer said Note on
the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated:

Signature Guaranteed:

(e.g. Bank, Trust Company (Depository or Nominee Name)
or Securities Firm)

NOTICE: This signature must correspond with the
name of the Depository or Nominee Name as it
appears upon the face of the within Note in every
particular, without alteration or enlargement or any
change whatever.

(Authorized Officer)

113



P a WAUKESHA

nj_ﬂ COUNTY TECHNICAL

Hands-on

el COLLEGE [ Highertd
MEMORANDUM

TO: WCTC District Board of Trustees

FROM: Kristine Golz, VP Finance & Administration/CFO

DATE: October 14, 2025

RE: Approval of Tax Levy for 2025/26

When we prepared the budget, we made the following assumptions:
v" Property values would increase 3.0%.
v' WCTC’s portion of Property Tax Relief Aid would stay the same as prior year at $47,796,729.
v Estimated WCTC’s portion of State Aids in Lieu of Personal Property Tax at $349,158.

v" Amount to be billed to municipalities would increase to $23,294,400 with an increase in total mill
rate from $0.25714 to $0.25724.

We have now received the equalized valuation information from the Wisconsin Department of Revenue. As
a result, the following information is available.

v Equalized valuations for property increased 8.34%.

v" WCTC’s portion of Property Tax Relief Aid remains at $47,796,729.

v" WCTC’s portion of State Aids in Lieu of Personal Property Tax increased to $357,325.
v" The mill rate decreased 4.4% from 2024/25.

v" The taxpayer will pay $3.65 less on a $325,000 home in 2025/26 compared to 2024/25

v' We will bill the municipalities $23,422,431.

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Actual Actual Actual
Operational mill rate $0.14177 $0.14454 $0.13882
Debt service mill rate $0.10869 $0.11260 $0.10708
Total mill rate $0.25046 $0.25714 $0.24590
Impact on owner of $325,000 home $81.40 $83.57 $79.92

114




RESOLUTION

WHEREAS, in June 2025, the Waukesha County Area Technical College District Board
adopted the 2025/26 budget, and

WHEREAS the adopted budget included a total tax levy of $23,294,400, and

WHEREAS WCTC will modify its budget to approve $357,325 in state aids in lieu of
personal property taxes and $23,422,431 in property tax levy, and

WHEREAS the Waukesha County Area Technical College District Board must approve the
actual property tax levy assessed to municipalities in October, and

WHEREAS this assessment to municipalities is based upon equalized valuation without tax
incremental financing districts (TID) and is to be reduced by property tax relief aid and
state aid in lieu of personal property tax as documented in Wisconsin State Statutes and
calculated by the Wisconsin Technical College System Office, and

WHEREAS the actual operational mill rate would be $0.13882 and the debt service mill
rate would be $0.10708 for a total mill rate to be assessed of $0.24590, and

WHEREAS the total property tax levy to be assessed to the municipalities within the
District will be $23,422,431.

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Waukesha County Area Technical College District

Board approves a total tax levy of $23,422,431 to be assessed to the municipalities within
the district based upon their portion of equalized valuation.

115



WAUKESHA Hands-on

COUNTY TECHNICAL

COLLEGE [ Highertd

MEMORANDUM
TO: WCTC District Board of Trustees
FROM: Kristine Golz, VP Finance & Administration
DATE: October 14, 2025
RE: Resolution to Modify the 2024/25 Budget

WCTC has a need to modify the 2024/25 budget due to:

Modify Grant revenue and Increase expenditures — During fiscal year 2025 WCTC
received/utilized additional unbudgeted grant funding, this budget amendment aligns federal
grant revenues and associated expenditures within the Special Revenue Aidable fund and the
Special Revenue Non-Aidable Fund.

Transfers between functions within a fund — The legal level of control for the budget is at
the functional level within a fund. The WCTC Board has given administration the authority
to transfer budgeted dollars within a fund during the year and to do a budget modification at
year end to align the budget between functions. This modification aligns the budget by
function within the General Fund, Capital Projects Fund and the Special Revenue Aidable
Fund as of June 30.

General Fund Transfer - As the Heating and Cooling Decentralization Project progresses,
the condition of the existing underground infrastructure has continued to deteriorate, with
recent breaks underscoring the need to advance the next phase of work. To ensure system
reliability and operational continuity, it is necessary to proceed with equipment procurement,
given extended manufacturer lead times. This budget amendment authorizes a transfer from
the general fund to the capital projects fund to support the timely implementation of this phase
and mitigate further infrastructure risks.

Staff is seeking your approval of these budget modifications and will be available to answer
questions.

Attachment

116



RESOLUTION

WHEREAS in June 2024, the Waukesha County Area Technical College District Board adopted the
2024/25 budget, and

WHEREAS WCTC has received additional grant revenues ($240,000), and
WHEREAS WCTC has a need to transfer funds between function within a fund, and

WHEREAS WCTC would like to transfer general funds available for additional needed capital
expenditures in 2025/26 ($5,500,000), and

WHEREAS these modifications will not impact the tax levy.

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Waukesha County Area Technical College District
Board approves the modifications summarized on the Class I Legal Notice below.

117



General Fund
Expenditures
Instructional
Student Services
General Institutional
Physical Plant
Transfer Out
Special Revenue - Aidable
Revenues
Federal
Expenditures
Instructional
Instructional Resources
Student Services
General Institutional
Capital Projects
Expenditures
Instructional

Physical Plant

Special Revenue - Non-Aidable

Revenues
Federal
Expenditures

Student Services

Class | Legal Notice

Waukesha County Technical College

2024/25 Budget Modifications

Current Revised
Budget Budget

S 48,267,364 S 45,767,364 S

9,553,362 9,053,362
16,642,242 14,642,242
6,289,472 5,789,472
- 5,500,000.00
858,800 1,028,800
2,750,000 2,699,200
- 4,375
1,056,160 1,191,510
225,000 306,075
4,305,260 5,180,260
20,922,215 20,047,215
4,908,670 4,978,670
7,054,800.00 7,124,800

Amount of

Change

(2,500,000)
(500,000)
(2,000,000)
(500,000)
5,500,000.00

170,000

(50,800)

4,375

135,350
81,075

875,000
(875,000)

70,000

70,000

118




WAUKESHA Hands-on

COUNTY TECHNICAL

COLLEGE [ Highertd

MEMORANDUM
TO: WCTC District Board of Trustees
FROM: Kristine Golz, VP Finance & Administration
DATE: October 14, 2025
RE: Resolution to Modify the 2025/26 Budget

WCTC has a need to modify the 2025/26 budget due to:

e Modify Tax Levy and Expenditures — Amend the General Fund ($128,031) to reflect the
final adopted levy.

e Modify Personal Property Tax Relief Aid — The adopted budget incorporated State Aids
in Lieu of Personal Property Tax of $349,158; however, our portion of these aids has
increased $8,167.

e Modify General Fund Expenditures — Overall equalized values increased more than
planned, providing WCTC with additional revenues. A portion of these revenues will be
allocated to provide for regular administrative staffing at the Waukesha campus including a
campus and community engagement manager and front desk staffing ($102,530). The
remaining additional revenues will be used to invest in strategic initiatives ($33,668).
Examples of strategic investments include funding for the integration of Al across campus
operations.

e Transfers between functions within a fund — The legal level of control for the budget is at
the functional level within a fund. The WCTC Board has given administration the authority
to transfer budgeted dollars within a fund during the year and to do a budget modification at
year end to align the budget between functions. This modification aligns the budget by
function within the General Fund ($55,113).

Staff is seeking your approval of these budget modifications and will be available to answer
questions.

Attachment

119



RESOLUTION

WHEREAS in June 2025, the Waukesha County Area Technical College District Board adopted the
2025/26 budget, and

WHEREAS the state has provided WCTC with the finalized equalized values and State Aid amounts
for fiscal year 2026, and

WHEREAS WCTC’s Personal Property Tax Relief Aid increased ($8,167), and
WHEREAS WCTC’s adopted operational levy increased ($128,031), and
WHEREAS WCTC has a need to transfer funds between function within a fund, and
WHEREAS these modifications align the budget with the adopted levy.

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Waukesha County Area Technical College District
Board of Trustees approves the modifications summarized on the Class I Legal Notice below.

Class | Legal Notice
Waukesha County Technical College
2024/25 Budget Modifications

Current Revised Amount of
Budget Budget Change
General Fund
Revenues
Local Governmental S 12,406,200 $ 12,534,231 $ 128,031
State Aids 52,756,535 52,764,702 $ 8,167
Expenditures
Student Services 9,633,607 9,615,397 (18,210)
General Institutional 16,855,816 17,010,224 154,408

120



WAUKESHA Hands-on

COUNTY TECHNICAL

COLLEGE [ Highertd

MEMORANDUM
TO: WCTC District Board of Trustees
FROM: Richard Haen, Director - District Facilities
DATE: October 14, 2025
RE: Bid Information — H Building, S220 Nursing VR Lab

This project renovates approximately 1,053 square feet of underutilized space in the H Building to
create a modern, welcoming learning environment. It includes removing a permanent wall and
upgrading power and data infrastructure to support ten virtual training stations and one instructor
station. Interior improvements such as new flooring, ceiling systems, and lighting will enhance both
functionality and aesthetics. A recently awarded grant will fund the purchase of equipment,
instructional materials, and staffing to support the delivery of a high-quality virtual training
experience that fosters student growth and development.

Key information regarding this project:
¢ Funding will come from FY26 Capital Borrowing.
e Construction is anticipated to begin mid-October, with completion by December 19, 2025.
e $250,000 was budgeted and approved by the WTCS Board at their September meeting.

WCTC received seven bids for the project:

e Allcon LLC 104,409
e Bear Construction 104,478
e Burkhart Construction Corporation 111,170
e C(Creative Constructors 128,900
e Dahlman Construction, Inc. 135,587
e J.H. Hassinger, Inc. 158,880
e Level Up Construction 92,370

Project cost breakdown for the project:

e Allcon LLC 104,409
e Contingency (15%) 15,600
e Professional Services (15%) 15,600

Total: 135,609

Action Requested: We request the WCTC District Board of Trustees to award the H Building, H220
Nursing VR Lab Renovation project to the lowest responsible bidder, Allcon LLC, with a total
construction cost of $135,609.

121



	IV.C.38.14 contract training.pdf
	Sheet1
	Sheet2

	ADPAEE3.tmp
	M E M O R A N D U M

	ADPFA43.tmp
	M E M O R A N D U M

	ADP1D49.tmp
	Sunderland University Exchange Program

	ADPE389.tmp
	Hessen Exchange Program

	ADP8EA0.tmp
	ATTEST:
	EXHIBIT A
	EXHIBIT B
	Bid Tabulation
	EXHIBIT C
	Winning Bid
	EXHIBIT D-1
	EXHIBIT D-2
	(See Attached)
	[EXHIBIT MRP
	For the Term Bonds Maturing on April 1,
	Redemption
	For the Term Bonds Maturing on April 1,
	Redemption
	For the Term Bonds Maturing on April 1,
	Redemption
	For the Term Bonds Maturing on April 1,
	Redemption

	ADP2E6C.tmp
	M E M O R A N D U M
	Impact on owner of $325,000 home

	ADP2217.tmp
	M E M O R A N D U M

	ADPB263.tmp
	M E M O R A N D U M

	ADP390A.tmp
	M E M O R A N D U M




